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JM AB (publ) has its registered office in Stockholm
Company reg.no.556045-2103

Welcome to JM’s Annual General Meeting

TIME AND PLACE
JM’s 2002 Annual General Meeting will be held at 5 p.m. on Thursday, 18
April 2002 at JM’s head office, Telegrafgatan 4, Solna.

NOTIFICATION, ETC.
Shareholders who wish to participate in the meeting must be entered in the
register of shareholders maintained by VPC AB by Monday, 8 April 2002, and
must have informed the Company of their intention to participate by 4 p.m. on
Monday, 15 April 2002, using one of the following channels:

E-mail: maylis.ahlstedt@jm.se
Fax: +46 8 782 8612
Telephone: +46 8 782 87 00
Mail: JM AB, SE-169 82 Stockholm

Shareholders whose shares are registered in the name of a nominee must, in
order to be entitled to participate in the Meeting, request that their shares be
temporarily registered in their own name well in advance of 8 April 2002.

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend be paid to shareholders of
SEK 14 per share. The proposed record date is Tuesday, 23 April 2002. If the
proposal is approved by the Meeting, dividends are expected to be distributed
by VPC on Friday, 26 April 2002.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
18 April 2002: Annual General Meeting
18 April 2002: Interim Report for the period January–March 2002
15 August 2002: Interim Report for the period January–June 2002
17 October 2002: Interim Report for the period January–September 2002
February 2003: Year-End Report for 2002

Reports are available in both Swedish and English and can be ordered from JM
AB, Corporate Communications, telephone +46 8 782 87 00, fax +46 8 782 86 10
or via www.jm.se

Cover: JM’s Uppsala Parkstad project includes the construction of multi-
family dwellings with big windows, rendered facades and spacious balconies.
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JM in brief
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EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE NET SALES AND PROFIT AFTER TAX

• Profit after financial items rose 35% to SEK 1,629m (1,209).

• Return on equity was 30% (24) and earnings per share increased 43% to SEK 36 (25).

• Profit in project development increased by 50% to SEK 957m (637) and the margin improved to 11.8% (10.3).

• Property sales of SEK 4,074m (2,213) generated capital gains of SEK 928m (535).

• Shares were repurchased for SEK 841m.

• The Board proposes that the dividend be raised from SEK 10 to SEK 14 per share.

• Major property sales
enable increased
investment in projects.

• Establishment in Norway.
• Property portfolio in

southern Sweden sold.
• Investments in major

housing projects.

• Operations focused to
project development.

• Establishment in Denmark.
• New financial targets and

change of name to JM AB.
• Convertibles made avail-

able to employees.

• Property portfolio in
Gothenburg liquidated.

• Growth-oriented
operating targets.

• Principal owner Skanska
sells its shareholding.

• Continued successful
project development.

• Continued major prop-
erty sales.

• Major share buy-back.
• Stock options to

employees.

1997 1998 1999 2000 200I

JM AB is a public limited company listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange. JM has around 2,600 employees in Sweden,Norway,Denmark and
Belgium and sales in 2001 amounted to approximately SEK 9 billion.The company is Sweden’s leading housing developer, and the core business
is project development of residential and commercial properties in central areas of growth markets. JM’s operations are characterised by a
focus on quality and the environment.
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THE GROUP’S PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF NET SALES

Project development

Commercial Fully developed
management properties

Residential

• Building rights portfolio – 27,000 building
rights.

• Target – production starts of at least 4,500
homes per year.

• Building rights portfolio – 200,000 sq.m.
• Production starts – adjusted to the business

climate.

• Target – properties with a book value of SEK
2 billion.

• Support for project development – can be
used for exchange deals.

Norway
Sweden

Denmark

Stockholm,
60%

Rest of Sweden,
23%

Belgium,
Denmark,Norway,

17%

Belgium
Phase one of Nåntuna Villastad in Uppsala comprises some 20 functionalist-
inspired detached freehold homes.



JM has enjoyed strong development in recent years and the
past year was no exception. A large part of this positive
profit trend stems from the strategy that we initiated
about three years ago. JM has been gradually changed
from a traditional construction and property company into
a pure-play project developer of homes and commercial
premises. We have managed to achieve a substantial earn-
ings improvement by focusing on cash flow and the income
statement instead of on net asset value and the balance
sheet.

Demand for JM’s housing remained stable in 2001.
Despite a weaker economic climate and greater uncer-
tainty in the business environment, prices could be kept at
unchanged favourable levels. We sold more homes in 2001
than ever before. We were also able to improve the margins
in our project development and this, combined with a high
sales rate for management properties, contributed to the
strong result.

Through consistent streamlining we further secured
and strengthened our position as a project developer dur-
ing the year. Success in project development requires the
consolidated balance sheet to be utilised as effectively as
possible, and from a stock market perspective effective use
of capital is particularly important. The dynamics of proj-
ect development demand a clear focus on cash flows. We
have therefore continued to reduce our property portfolio
and sold fully developed management properties for SEK 4
billion during the year. At year-end the book value of the
fully developed portfolio was SEK 3.7 billion. The goal is a
portfolio with a book value of approximately SEK 2 billion,
which can be used in exchange deals.

The property sales and the good result from project
development enabled JM to transfer capital to its share-
holders. During the year a total of SEK 1,173m was trans-
ferred to shareholders through buy-backs and dividends.
A dividend of SEK 14 per share is proposed for 2001.

The Board will also ask the Annual General Meeting for
a renewed mandate to repurchase shares.

CUSTOMER FOCUS – HAND-IN-HAND WITH EFFICIENCY

JM has a strong position and a strong brand which must be
constantly developed. We are the leaders in our niche in
Sweden, strongly placed in Norway and well on our way in
both Denmark and Belgium. But even so, in my opinion, we

have only just started. One of our goals is that every cus-
tomer and every project should be a good reference. For
this to happen our entire organisation must be permeated
by even more customer and market oriented activities.
Quality, environment and ethics are our watchwords and
we want this, our image, to be even stronger. JM’s own
sales team provides vital market feedback and we are
therefore opening a homes shop on Stureplan in central
Stockholm. The aim is to allow customers to influence the
design of their homes as much as possible as early as possi-
ble. 

JM works with various operational management proj-
ects designed to persuade the entire organisation to think
and act in terms of greater customer satisfaction.

We will continue to streamline our organisation and
adapt it still further to our role as project developer. Activ-
ities which are not part of the core business, or do not sup-
port it, will be phased out. At the same time, it is extremely
important that we have good control of both quality and
our costs. By keeping certain relevant operations within the
Group we can exercise control and retain competence and
knowledge. We apply the best practice principle as part of
our efforts to be efficient in everything we do.

CONTINUED GOOD DEMAND

JM concentrates its activities to cities and locations where
demographic growth and demand for high-standard homes
are greatest. Today these areas are Greater Stockholm,
Gothenburg, Malmö/Lund and Uppsala in Sweden, as well
as Oslo, Copenhagen and Brussels outside Sweden. Reloca-
tion and demand for attractive homes in these city centres
are substantial, while housing starts are low. This means
that demand for JM’s homes, with their high standard in
attractive locations, is high and will probably remain so in
the foreseeable future.

We also noted some price increases in our international
markets during the year. In our view, the greatest threat
which could result in a decline in price and demand in our
main markets would be a large interest rate hike. This does
not appear particularly likely, however, in view of the eco-
nomic downturn which has already occurred. Further-
more, the open, Nordic economies are now strongly inter-
woven with the international economy with its aims of low
inflation and interest rates.

Another successful year – continued favourable
conditions for JM’s project development”
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Commercial property projects now comprise a small part
of JM’s activities. Although housing is the base of our
operations, it is also important to be able to follow the real
estate market closely through our own commercial proj-
ects and to make sure we have a property portfolio which
can be used for exchange deals.

Demand for commercial projects varies far faster than
demand for housing, due to greater sensitivity to eco-
nomic fluctuations. For this reason the commercial proj-
ects are concentred to attractive office locations in the
Stockholm area.

PROSPECTS FOR 2002

A continued increased customer orientation, control of
costs and volume growth, as well as a sustained focus on
quality, environment and ethics, will characterise JM in
the foreseeable future.

Volume growth will primarily be generated organically
but may also be achieved through selective acquisitions. In
the first place we will continue to develop the attractive
markets in Scandinavia and Brussels. We are already
among the three leading housing developers in Oslo while
we are building up our position in Copenhagen. The mar-
ket and demand pattern in Copenhagen is similar to that in
Stockholm but still relatively unexploited. When we can
identify the same attractive conditions in other European
cities, we will be receptive to business opportunities.

Other key issues will continue to be how we accept eth-
ical and social responsibility in our business activities.

When we develop housing, we work on the basis of cre-
ating complete solutions for our customers. This means
that customers must be satisfied not only with their homes
but also with their surroundings. This holistic approach is
well reflected in our major project in Liljeholmen in Stock-
holm where JM is building a totally new district with more
than 2,500 residential units close to the water. Here JM is
responsible for the local environment and infrastructure.
We are convinced that this type of complete solution for
our customers will continue to grow in significance.

JM has always had and will continue to have high ambi-
tions. But we will not meet our targets without a learning
organisation and motivated employees, something we give
priority to in various ways. Many employees also own
shares, convertibles and stock options in JM.

With all that said, and with expectations that the current
year will continue to see strong demand for homes in our
prioritised locations, we expect that 2002 will be another
strong year for JM.

Stockholm, March 2002

Carl Eric Stålberg  
President and CEO

CEO’S COMMENTS – 5



SHARE CAPITAL

JM shares have been listed on the A list of the Stockholm
Stock Exchange (Stockholmsbörsen) since 1982. The share
capital amounts to SEK 121.2m represented by 30.3 million
shares each with a par value of SEK 4 and equal voting
rights. JM’s 2001 Annual General Meeting decided to
amend the Articles of Association with respect to share
classes. Accordingly, one class of share remains in issue and
all shares carry the same voting rights. The Annual General
Meeting also decided on the issue of debentures with
detachable warrants to be acquired by the employees. Full
exercise of the warrants and the outstanding convertible
debentures would increase the number of shares by a maxi-
mum of 771,125, which corresponds to a SEK 3.1m
increase in the share capital. A round lot is 100 shares.

SHARE PRICE TREND

The company’s market capitalisation at year-end 2001
amounted to SEK 6.5 billion. The share price rose 4% dur-
ing the year. In the same period the SAX All Share Index fell
17%. The lowest price paid was SEK 182 on 21 September.
The highest price paid, SEK 263, was quoted on 2 March.

TRADING

In 2001 JM shares were traded to a total value of SEK
4,241m. Average daily trading was approximately SEK 17m
(17). The turnover rate, i.e. the liquidity of the shares on
Stockholmsbörsen, was 51% during the year compared
with an average for the entire stock exchange of 134%.

INDEX

Starting in January 2001, Stockholmsbörsen introduced a
new sector classification based on the Global Industry
Classification Standard (GICS). JM belongs to the sub-
group Real Estate Management and Development (GICS
40401020) and is listed under the ticker JM.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

The number of shareholders at year-end was 3,922, an
increase of 10%. The ten largest shareholders account for
57.8% of the share capital and foreign shareholders for
9.9%. Swedish ownership is divided among institutions
53% (51), mutual funds 43% (47) and private individuals
4% (2).

DIVIDEND POLICY 

Over time, the dividend should reflect the earnings trend
in the total operating activities. The average dividend over
a business cycle should correspond to 50% of consolidated
profit after tax. Capital gains from property sales are a
natural part of JM’s project development operations and
therefore included in the calculation of dividends. 

SHARE BUY-BACK PROGRAMME

JM prioritises active management of the consolidated bal-
ance sheet. To the extent the visible equity ratio and inter-
est coverage are assessed as exceeding the optimal capital
structure on a continuing basis, capital will be transferred
to shareholders in a form that is appropriate at the time. A
decision was made at JM’s Annual General Meeting held
in April 2001 on repurchase of the company’s shares.
Under this decision JM could acquire its own shares in a
maximum of 10% of the total number of shares in the com-
pany. In October 2001 it was decided to eliminate the
repurchased shares, which corresponded to 10%, through
cancellation. Subsequently a further 300,000 shares were
repurchased. In total, 3,624,100 shares were repurchased
in 2001 at an average price of SEK 232. This corresponds
to 10.9% of the shares at the beginning of 2001.

CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL 1982–2001

New Repurchased Par Share
issue, shares, No. of value/ capital,

Year SEKm Split SEKm shares share SEKm

1982 42.2 3,358,000 SEK 20 67.2

1985 18.0 4,258,000 SEK 20 85.2

1989 5:1 21,290,000 SEK 4 85.2

1995 45.4 32,653,000 SEK 4 130.6

1998 2.4 * 33,241,000 SEK 4 133.0

2001 1.5 * –13.3 30,289,363 SEK 4 121.2

* Conversion of debenture loan.
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“The city’s character is at street level”

JM is co-operating with ÅWL Arkitekter and others in the design
of Stockholm’s new inner city district, Liljeholmskajen. JM is
building everything here from the water and sewage network to
homes.

“JM asked us to make a sketch of the area. Shaping a whole
district is naturally a challenge and this is the biggest single assign-
ment in the firm’s history,” says Olof Lotström,architect at ÅWL
Arkitekter.

“It can be difficult to make new areas come alive. Liljeholms-
kajen is one of the few places where we feel this can be done! I
usually say that the city’s character is at street level. In Liljeholms-
kajen our aim is that residential buildings will be alive at street
level through public facilities such as restaurants and food shops.
Such premises are planned along thoroughfares where we
expect a lot of people to be coming and going.”

The project’s design has been based on market surveys and a
number of interviews.

“JM has studied what people really appreciate. A lot of
responses concerned information technology and the service
people expect in the buildings. One result is that delivery boxes
will be placed in the residential building for goods supplied by
local traders or ordered over the Internet,” says Olof Lotström.

SHARE DATA

SEK unless otherwise stated 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Share price at 31 Dec 217.50 209 164 125 118

Highest price during the year 263 238 174 163 127

Lowest price during the year 182 143 111 105 108

Dividend yield at 31 Dec (%) 6.4 4.8 4.1 2.6 2.8

Market capitalisation at 31 Dec (SEKm) 6,523 6,947 5,452 4,155 3,853

Source: SIX

Number of shares at 31 Dec 29,989,363 * 33,241,000 33,241,000 33,241,000 32,653,000

Earnings after tax 36.30 25.40 13.30 7.25 10.95

Dividend 14.00 ** 10.00 6.75 3.25 3.25

Dividend as a % of profit after tax 37 39 50 45 30

P/E ratio at 31 Dec 6 8 12 17 11

* Excluding 300,000 repurchased shares. Source: JM
** As proposed by the Board.
*** Of which, extra dividend SEK 1.
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AT 31 DECEMBER 2001

No. of % of all Total no. % of
Size of share- share- of shares share
holding holders holders owned capital

1–500 3,121 79.6 365,166 1.2

501–1,000 269 6.9 219,168 0.7

1,001–5,000 280 7.1 704,598 2.3

5,001–20,000 116 2.9 1,252,714 4.1

20,001–100,000 71 1.8 3,547,439 11.7

100,001– 65 1.7 24,163,960 * 80.0

Total 3,922 100.0 30,253,045 100.0

At year-end 36,318 shares following notification of conversion had not yet been
registered.These shares are not included in the table.

* Of which JM holds 300,000 shares.

SHAREHOLDERS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2002

No. of % of shares 
Shareholder shares and votes

SEB – mutual funds and foundations

Gamla Livförsäkrings AB SEB Trygg Liv 6,140,110 20.2

Robur mutual funds 1,848,345 6.1

AMF Pension 1,810,000 5.9

Nordea mutual funds 1,535,800 5.1

Stefan Persson Placering AB 1,212,000 4.0

Livförsäkrings AB Skandia 1,173,300 3.8

Handelsbanken mutual funds 1,128,525 3.7

Second National Pension Fund 1,067,650 3.5

AFA Försäkringar 988,000 3.3

Alecta Pensionsförsäkring, ömsesidigt 959,748 3.2

Third National Pension Fund 750,000 2.5

Hagströmer & Qviberg mutual funds 557,800 1.8

Fourth National Pension Fund 550,000 1.8

Foreign shareholders 3,024,215 10.0

Other shareholders* 7,563,439 25.1

Total 30,308,932 100.0

The number of shareholders on 28 February 2002: 3,942.

* Of which JM holds 300,000 shares.
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STOCKBROKERS WHO CONTINUOUSLY MONITOR JM

ABG Sundal Collier – Martin Söder

Alfred Berg Fondkommission – Lars-Åke Bokenberger

CAI Cheuvreux Nordic – Tomas Ramsälv

D. Carnegie – Christian Brunlid

Deutsche Bank – David Halldén

Enskilda Securities – Erik Nyman and Björn Norén

Handelsbanken Securities – Hans Derninger

JP Nordiska – Jonas Sundin

Julius Baer Nordic – Richard Alte

Merrill Lynch – Berndt Stahli

Nordea Securities – Jonas Andersson

Swedbank Markets – Tobias Kaj
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Some 20 spacious tenant-owned terraced houses are under construction in Rinkeby in north-west Stockholm.They have rendered and wood facades and small
gardens at both front and back.



BUSINESS CONCEPT

To create attractive living and working environments that
satisfy individual needs both today and in the future.

The business concept means that JM is a project devel-
oper of residential properties and to a selective extent of
commercial premises. JM gives priority to high quality and
a holistic approach in its design of living and working envi-
ronments. The aim is to create environments that will
remain attractive over time.

VISION

To be a leading project developer of high-quality housing in
Northern Europe.

JM’s operations today are conducted in locations with
good growth opportunities. These are metropolitan areas
and university and college towns mainly in Sweden, Nor-
way and Denmark. The intention is to grow further and
give priority to strengthening the Group’s position in
markets where the company is already established.

OBJECTIVE FOR SHAREHOLDER RETURN

The goal is to give shareholders a higher total return, divi-
dends plus JM share price appreciation, than other compa-
nies with similar operations and risk profiles.

STRATEGY

In order, within the framework of the business concept, to
achieve the vision and meet its shareholder return objec-
tive, JM has the following strategy:

• The focus must be clearly on high-quality and eco-com-
pliant homes and workplaces which have customer bene-
fit in mind.

• Operations will only be conducted in locations with
good growth potential, currently metropolitan areas and
university and college towns mainly in Sweden, Norway
and Denmark.

• A clear focus on cash flows through effective utilisation
of the balance sheet. This will be achieved by maintain-
ing a high rate of start-ups, implementation and sales of
property projects.

• A limited portfolio of fully developed properties in the
Stockholm area will be kept to support project develop-
ment by functioning as collateral in exchange deals in

JM’s ongoing acquisition of new development proper-
ties. 

• Limited but effective construction and contracting
operations will be maintained, primarily to take care of
JM’s own projects in order to provide quality assurance
and contribute to effective cost control.

• Continued volume growth will be generated both organ-
ically and through acquisitions. A basic principle is that
growth should be achieved subject to good profitability
and a market-leading position.

PROFITABILITY TARGET

Return on visible equity after tax, as an average over a five-
year period or business cycle, to exceed 15%.

An average profitability measure is used since the projects
are comparatively long and sales of commercial projects are
unevenly spaced over time.

GROWTH TARGET

In order to ensure growth in JM’s project development, the
number of annual production starts should increase to 4,500
by 2003.

The project development margin should exceed 12%. 

In view of the investment cycles of its operations, JM only
sets targets for a few years ahead. Naturally, the aim to
grow after 2003 as well remains unchanged.

DIVIDEND TARGET

The average dividend over a business cycle should corre-
spond to 50% of consolidated profit after tax.

ASSETS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The target is for fully developed properties to decrease to a
level of SEK 2 billion in book value.

30% visible equity ratio over a business cycle.

To the extent the visible equity ratio and interest coverage
are assessed as exceeding the optimal capital structure on a
lasting basis, capital will be transferred to shareholders in a
form that is appropriate at the time.

JM’s ambition, over time, is to achieve an optimal composi-
tion of assets and capital structure which is appropriate

Growth-oriented strategy
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for the company’s project development activities. The
declining proportion of fully developed management prop-
erties will make the balance sheet more project-oriented in
character.

Since project development demands effective capital
allocation in a partly cyclical market, a dynamic approach
to financial strength and interest coverage is required. The
assessment is that the present equity ratio target provides
appropriate financial stability over a business cycle.

In pace with higher balance sheet turnover, the adjusted
equity ratio will also fall to the level of the visible equity
ratio, increasing JM’s financial leverage based on market
values.

Some surplus value will always been maintained, however,
as a consequence of the ongoing generation of value added.

REQUIRED RATE OF RETURN

In order to generate the highest possible shareholder value,
JM must have good knowledge of which investments are
profitable and achieve the Group’s required rate of return.
Every investment in a project must therefore generate a
return which covers its cost of capital. The investment’s
cash flow is calculated and discounted on the basis of a
required rate of return. If the net present value of these
cash flows is positive, the investment creates value.

The required rate of return is set on the basis of a bal-
anced consideration of JM’s costs for shareholders’ equity
and borrowed capital as follows:

cost of capital, shareholders ’ equity

• Risk-free return – average return on a five-year govern-
ment bond is approximately 5%.

• Risk premium – for the risk the investor takes when invest-
ing in JM shares, the risk premium is estimated at 5%.

• The required rate of return on equity (risk-free return
plus risk premium) – 10%.

cost of capital, borrowed capital

• Risk-free return – see above 5%.
• Risk premium which is paid on loan financing – 1%.
• Tax deduction – since interest expenses reduce the

profit on which tax is paid, the actual cost is lower, with
corporation tax at 28% the interest expense after tax is
reduced by 28% to 4.3%.

capital structure

• Debt/equity ratio – JM’s target is an equity/assets ratio
of 30% over a business cycle. In the individual projects,
the debt/equity ratio is assumed, on average, to be 1.0.

The Group’s weighted cost of capital (WACC) and thereby
its basic required rate of return is 7.2%. This means that all
investments must generate a cash flow after payment of all
operating expenses and tax but before interest expenses of
at least 7.2% of the basic investment in order to be profitable.

In cases where projects are competing for resources, the
project with the highest anticipated return is given priority.

FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL TARGETS

% unless otherwise stated Target 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Return on equity* 15 19 14 13 12 12

Dividend, as a % of profit after tax 50 37 * * 39 50 45 30

Equity/assets ratio 30 30 31 28 27 30

Project development margin 12.0 11.8 10.3 6.5 4.7 3.0

Number of production starts 4,500 2,900 3,000 2,300 2,100 1,700

Fully developed management properties, SEKm 2,000 3,666 4,286 5,628 6,832 6,602

* This calculation is based on a rolling 5-year average.
** As proposed by the Board.

BUSINESS CONCEPT, GOALS AND STRATEGY – 11



Project development of homes and commercial premises
involves a continuous process of acquiring, developing,
selling and once again acquiring new properties. Projects
often stretch over several years and involve a number of
phases in which value can be added. There is a strong pro-
fessional culture at JM which, combined with a long tradi-
tion and knowledge of project development, is the basic
prerequisite for a successful project development company.

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT PHASES

JM’s competence in developing housing and commercial premises covers
every phase of projects that often take several years to complete.

JM acquires land early in the planning phase before future
use and buildings are decided. Through active participation
in the planning process, JM contributes to building rights
being established, new detail plans adopted and building
permits obtained. A site can be developed with housing,
offices and services, while other parts are kept as green areas.

VALUE CREATION IN PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Value creation at JM is linked to a high rate of production
starts, completion and sale of real estate projects. The
projects are often capital-intensive and long term, 3–5
years is not unusual. Really large-scale housing projects

can take considerably longer. Effective cash flow manage-
ment is therefore pivotal.

Focusing internal responsibility, control structures and
organisational interfaces on effective cash flow manage-
ment creates conditions for maximised value growth in
the Group.

The sale of management properties has a strong impact
on cash flow. It is therefore important to continuously
assess the alternative return generated by a possible prop-
erty sale and reinvestment in new projects. In efficient
cash flow management, return, calculated in present
value terms, focuses on the decision to sell so waiting for

Valuation creation at JM

12 – JM’S CORE BUSINESS
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Project
conception
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Project plan

Financing

Management

Occupancy

Construction

Sale/lease

JM has built 113 residential units in Sollentuna, within walking distance from
Edsviken and Edsbergs Castle.



Management properties Development properties

Development
properties –
residential

Development 
properties –
commercialFully developed

properties

Target 
SEK 2 billion 
in book value

Project development 
commercial properties 

200,000 sq.m.

Project development
residential properties
27,000 building rights

Properties for
further development

Properties 
under construction

PROPERTY TERMS IN PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

a higher price is not necessarily correct. Furthermore,
JM’s strategic focus on project development means that
the market risk in fully developed properties must be lim-
ited.

While a project is under way a number of decisions are
made which have a substantial impact on cash flow. The
arrows show phases in project development, and impor-
tant elements in value creation are shown on pages 14–15.

VALUE CHAIN

PROPERTY DEFINITIONS

JM’s balance sheet contains both development and manage-
ment properties. Development properties mainly relate to
housing development and the management portfolio is
mainly linked to the development of commercial proper-
ties and categorised based on different phases in project
development. Fully developed management properties are
sold or exchanged for new development properties.

DEFINITIONS

JM works with two property concepts: development properties and management
properties.

Type of property Categories

Management properties Fully developed properties (for sale)
Properties under construction (production has started)
Properties for further development (planned projects)

Development properties Development land with related residential building rights
Development land with related commercial building
rights
Existing properties for residential projects or further 
development into management properties

A schedule of JM’s management properties and a selection of development prop-
erties are provided on pages 91–97.

Value

Time

Acquisition
decision

Building decision

Price decision
Sales decision

Concept 
and planning

Construction

Management
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HOW LAND VALUES ARISE

Land and building rights can be said to be the options of
the real estate market. When market rents are low and not
providing a return on construction investments, building
rights have a low value, and when market rents are high,
building rights have a high value. Land value is in principle
the residual value between the value of the completed
building and its production cost.

Small variations in market rents can lead to major fluc-
tuations in land value. This can be illustrated by a hypo-
thetical office project in a Stockholm suburb:

SENSITIVITY CALCULATION, LAND VALUE, SEK

Market rent 2,100/sq.m. 2,200/sq.m.

Operation and maintenance –250/sq.m. –250/sq.m.

Operating net 1,850/sq.m. 1,950/sq.m.

Direct yield requirement 7% 7%

Value of finished building 26,429/sq.m. 27,857/sq.m.

Production costs –20,000/sq.m. –20,000/sq.m.

Development risk* –3,500/sq.m. –3,800/sq.m.

Residual land value 2,929/sq.m. 4,057/sq.m.

* Development risk is risk associated with market development, planning issues,
environmental considerations and final production costs (c. 50% of estimated sur-
plus value of project).

The example shows that a SEK 100/sq.m. increase in mar-
ket rent raises the land value by approximately SEK
1,100/sq.m. or about 40%.

The graph on the right shows that market rents for com-
mercial space or the sales price for tenant-owned apart-
ments must exceed a certain critical level for new con-
struction to be viable. In the Stockholm area, office rents
rose sharply until the end of 2000, as did prices for tenant-
owned apartments, and in many areas this led to a strong
rise in land values.

The fact that land prices can fluctuate substantially over
time is illustrated by the actual value trend in Stockholm
over the past 15 years. Building rights for office space in
attractive inner suburbs have fluctuated from approximately
SEK 1,000/sq.m. in 1985, followed by a fast rise to SEK
10,000–15,000/sq.m. in 1989 which then fell to SEK 1,000–
2,000/sq.m. in 1993, only to rise sharply again to today’s SEK
4,000-8,000/sq.m. The price fluctuations for residential
property have been less than for office space due to the sta-
ble demand for housing in Stockholm. Land values have var-
ied from an upturn in the 1980s to falling prices in

1991–1993, followed by a surge to today’s prices of SEK
2,000–9,000/sq.m. depending on location and attractiveness.

CRITICAL RENTAL RATE

VALUE DEVELOPMENT DURING THE PLANNING PROCESS

The factors affecting development of land value, apart
from overall macroeconomic aspects – primarily inflation
and interest rates – are mainly:
• General development in the region
• The planning process

The general development of the region is mainly dictated
by the economic climate and regional growth, while the
results of the planning process are highly dependent on
how active the property owner is. Project development
companies such as JM can actively influence future land
use and value through co-operation with the municipality
concerned. 

During the planning process, the land value rises in
stages as the project takes form and elements of uncer-
tainty are eliminated. The value impact factors to be han-
dled are use, scope, timetable and allocation of costs. The
full land value is attained when the detail plan is approved
and a building permit has been obtained. Detail planning
can be roughly divided into the stages described below.

In the programme stage, ideas, starting-points and goals
are worked out between JM, the municipality and other
authorities. In the consultation stage, the public, residents
and special interest groups are invited to give their views.

Key components in value creation

Value of
finished building

Rental rates
Critical rental rate

Land value zero

Level of
production costs

Residual value/land value
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The plan is then exhibited for review before it is finally
approved by the municipal council. The allocation of costs
between the municipality and developer is handled parallel
to the detail planning process in a development agreement.

Value appreciation during the planning process can be
substantial when raw land is transformed into finished
building rights.

JM also acquires existing properties which can be fur-
ther developed into new tenant-owned apartments or
modern offices. In such cases value appreciation is created
by the planned conversion or extension to change usage,
increase utilisation, improve accessibility and enhance
attractiveness. The property can then be rented out at
higher rents and subsequently sold. 

LAND VALUE DURING PLANNING PROCESS

Land value

Detail planning

General

planning

Planning phase

Building permitDetail planGeneral planRaw land
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New home – new life! 

When you want to start something new a home on the site of
the Bo01 housing fair is the best place to do it. At any rate, that’s
the opinion of Berit Holmgren who together with Christer
Johansson owns a tenant-owned apartment in the former exhibi-
tion area.This is where these two are starting a life together.

Both left earlier relationships and liked the symbolism of mov-
ing to an area with unique buildings where no one had lived before.

“We scanned all Malmö’s housing alternatives before we
decided on this apartment. First, we fell for a apartment from
around 1900.But when we saw JM’s apartments at the housing fair
we suddenly knew that this was completely right. Here we were
able to be involved and design everything from the start,” says Berit.

Apart from modern IT solutions including broadband, Havs-
lunden,as the block is called, is distinguished by its environmental
profile. Berit mentions the waste grinder for composting, waste
sorting and the restrictions on cars in the area. But what made
the greatest impression was JM’s choice of materials.

“Our home is different from the others in the area because it
contains so much natural material. JM has used solid wood and in
general sturdy materials. I walk through the area every day, but
this is the best place!”

Berit grew up by the sea and says that for her it’s vital to live by the
water. “The sea is freedom,” she says and then talks about the bathing
area by the sea where they read the newspaper or take an evening dip
after work – and about those cosy times they have together:

“Sometimes we have a glass of wine down on the front and
just enjoy ourselves! We don’t regret moving here for a single
second,” she says.

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001



THE HOUSING MARKET 

The market was characterised by increased demand in sev-
eral regions. As well as high demand for housing in the three
metropolitan counties of Stockholm, Skåne and Västra Göta-
land, there was also a housing shortage in some municipali-
ties outside these areas. The excess demand is mainly found
in the most densely populated regions and approximately
half of the Swedish population lives in the one-fifth of the
country’s municipalities where demand for housing is high. A
few municipalities report that vacancies have risen. Despite
this some 100 municipalities are considering demolition of
housing. Stockholm, Uppsala, Malmö/Lund and Gothenburg
are growth regions where both employment and the popula-
tion are expected to increase. These regions should need a
large annual addition of newly produced homes to meet
demand. Existing forecasts indicate that planned new hous-
ing production in these growth regions is too low.

The consequence of the substantial excess demand in
the growth regions is continued price increases for tenant-
owned apartments and single-family homes. In the longer
term, the housing shortage could restrict economic
growth in these regions and in the country as a whole.

greater stockholm

Housing starts in the Stockholm area remain very low in rela-
tion to demand. The population is still increasing although at
a slightly lower rate. In recent years demographic growth has
mainly been due to major relocation to the city. According to
Statistics Sweden, the population of the County of Stock-
holm increased by 16,000 people in 2001. This included an

excess of births over deaths of 7,000. Housing construction
in Stockholm County is increasing, and about 4,000 residen-
tial units in multi-family dwellings were started in 2001.
According to the municipalities, the number of housing
starts will increase in 2002. The rental units under construc-
tion are almost exclusively special housing such as student
accommodation and housing for elderly or disabled tenants.

The supply of tenant-owned apartments rose in 2001
mainly due to continued sales of rental properties by the
public housing companies. The formation of tenant-owner
co-operatives will become increasingly common in Stock-
holm’s suburbs. Production starts of tenant-owned apart-
ments in Stockholm account for approximately 10% of total
turnover in the tenant-owner market (conversions and trans-
fers) in one year. The intense demand for housing, combined
with limited new production, is creating conditions for a
good price development for new attractive tenant-owned
apartments in the “right” locations.

price trend – second-hand market

Price increases for tenant-owned apartments in Sweden
ceased and prices fell in the first half of 2001, but rose again
in the autumn. At the end of the year prices were at the
same level as at year-end 2000. A similar trend was noted in
the metropolitan regions but there prices failed to reach the
year-end 2000 level. The average price fall in the metropoli-
tan regions, according to the Association of Swedish Real
Estate Agents (Mäklarsamfundet), is between 6 and 11%.

In Greater Stockholm, prices fell by a total of 6% in 2001.
Prices for blocks of rental flats in Greater Stockholm

continued to rise throughout the year. This was mainly due
to greater willingness to form tenant-owner co-operatives
in outer city areas as well.

Towards the end of the year JM could note an increased
sales rate and a continued high demand for new production.

JM’S RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

The building rights portfolio contains approximately
20,500 residential units which are reported in JM’s bal-
ance sheet. Building rights for about 6,500 homes are also
available through conditional acquisitions, co-operation
agreements or postponed payments where payment has
not yet been made.

The development properties are located in Sweden, Nor-

Well positioned residential building rights portfolio  
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way, Denmark and Belgium. The majority are in Greater
Stockholm where JM owns and has access to land for
approximately 12,600 residential units.

The number of building rights at different phases is con-
stantly changing. 2001 saw an increase in the number of res-
idential building rights at the detail planning phase. The dia-
grams below show how the building rights (excluding condi-
tional acquisitions) are distributed in different regions and
planning phases and show development over the past three
years in Greater Stockholm and the rest of Sweden. Raw 

JM’S TOTAL AVAILABLE BUILDING RIGHTS PORTFOLIO

Region Number of building rights

Greater Stockholm 12,600

Gothenburg 3,000

Malmö/Lund 2,800

Uppsala 1,900

Rest of Sweden 1,500

Oslo/Bergen 4,100

Copenhagen 900

Brussels 200

Total approximately 27,000

land, which is unzoned, is not included since the number of
building rights for these properties is not yet defined.

The detail planning phase covers the time from when
work starts on the detail plan until a building permit appli-
cation is submitted. The number of residential units at the
building permit phase has fallen because production
started on many projects during the year. The high number
of residential units in the detail planning phase means that
JM is well placed to maintain a high level of housing starts
over the next few years.

The map on page 18 shows some of JM’s ongoing housing
projects in the Stockholm region. The projects include
almost 7,000 new residential units, which is more than
half of JM’s building rights portfolio in Greater Stockholm.

Before JM can start production in a new housing area, a
new detail plan must be drawn up, and this normally takes
at least two years. Once the plan has been adopted it can
take more time before production can start. For this rea-
son good long-term planning is essential and it is impor-
tant both to work actively with existing development prop-
erties and invest in new ones.
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

General Detail Adopted Building Sales 
Number of residential units Raw land plan planning detail plan permit 2001

Stockholm 39 hectares 1,900 5,300 1,900 1,200 774

Rest of Sweden 25 hectares 600 3,200 1,300 1,300 860

Outside Sweden 2 hectares 100 1,200 1,400 1,100 621

Total 66 hectares 2,600 9,700 4,600 3,600 2,255

NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT DIFFERENT PLANNING
PHASES, GREATER STOCKHOLM

NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT DIFFERENT PLANNING
PHASES, REST OF SWEDEN
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MAJOR ONGOING RESIDENTIAL PROJECTS IN GREATER STOCKHOLM

Stockholm Project * Municipality Number of residential units Development period

50 Långbro Stockholm 700    2000–2007

51 Essinge Udde Stockholm 800    2001–2006

52 Bolinders Strand Järfälla 600    2001–2007

53 Liljeholmskajen Stockholm 2,500    2001–2007

54 Hägernäs Täby 600    2001–2007

55 Hammarby Sjö/Sickla Stockholm 400    2000–2003

56 Silverdal Sollentuna 200    2001–2006

57 Danviksstrand Nacka 124    2000–2004

58 Norra Frösunda Solna 700    2001–2006

Total (approximate) 6,600

* More information about each project is provided on page 96.
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Work on development of housing in Hammarby Sjöstad south of Stockholm continues. JM will develop a total of almost 400 residential units in the area.



Surveys have shown that locations close to water with
good communications are in strong demand when choosing
a new home. JM’s building rights portfolio attempts to
meet this demand. The diagram below shows the commut-
ing time to the city centre (travelling time in minutes)
from JM’s planned housing in Greater Stockholm.

The average commuting time in Greater Stockholm is
30–35 minutes. 75% of JM’s building rights are located
within 30 minutes commuting distance to central Stock-
holm by public transport.

SALES

JM is increasing the tempo of its project development and
the target is to reach 4,500 housing starts by 2003. The
number of housing starts has remained at the same level
over the past two years, while the number of homes sold
rose to 2,255 (1,800) in 2001.

Given the long lead times in project development, it is
natural that during an expansion phase the number of
acquired building rights exceeds the number of housing
starts. Equally, the number of housing starts exceeds the
number of sold units. Moreover, housing starts and sales
volumes can fluctuate over time due to plan processes, the
time projects start and the size of individual projects.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

The trend towards increasingly individualised homes favours
newly developed housing. JM is constantly developing new

concepts to better meet individual requirements and create
healthy future living conditions. Some solutions from hous-
ing projects are also used in JM’s commercial projects.

Project development also involves developing and adapt-
ing every project to suit an envisaged, specific customer
group. This requires a thorough knowledge of customers
which is mainly obtained at meetings between customers
and JM’s own sales team. Customers are given considerable
scope to adapt their new home to their individual needs. 

MARKET SHARE IN GREATER STOCKHOLM

JM accounted for almost half of the total number of newly
built tenant-owned apartments sold in Greater Stockholm
in 2001. The diagram below provides a breakdown of sold
tenant-owned apartments among the major market players.

JM’S SHARE OF SOLD RESIDENTIAL UNITS, 2001
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JM’S PLANNED HOUSING IN GREATER STOCKHOLM – TRAVELLING TIME TO CITY CENTRE*
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At year-end 2001, the independent valuation institute NewSec
performed a valuation of all JM’s residential development
properties.The appraisals are made based on an assumed sales
price for the properties at actual cash values, whereby future
development gains are not taken into account.The valuations
were based on the location, attractiveness, scope and type of
building planned, the stage in the planning process and the
time remaining until production starts.

The assessed market value of JM’s residential develop-
ment properties amounts to SEK 5,737m (5,178).The cor-
responding book value is SEK 3,832m (3,002).The approxi-
mately 6,500 residential units available through conditional
acquisitions were not included in the appraisal.

Market value breakdown is as follows:

SEKm Market value Book value

Greater Stockholm 3,980 2,612

Rest of Sweden 1,061 765

Outside Sweden 696 455

Total 5,737 3,832

Some of the development properties have old existing build-
ings that generate income and are planned to be renovated
or demolished in the future.The valuation of these buildings
is based on current rental revenue and future use taking
costs for essential conversion and extension into account.
The market value of these buildings amounts to SEK 511m
(1,187) and is included in the above summary.

NewSec has assessed the properties’ locations and attrac-
tiveness in four classes, A–D. An A location represents a

prime site in the housing market concerned and includes
good communications, proximity to commercial services as
well as locations close to water. Class B is a good to normal
location in the respective housing market. Class C indicates
a housing location slightly further from communications and
commercial services, while D locations are in peripheral
areas in the housing market. The phases of the planning
process have also been classified by NewSec into four
stages: raw land, general plan, detail plan and building permit.
The diagrams below show a breakdown of the value of JM’s
development properties into different locations and plan-
ning phases. Detail plan covers the period from the start of
detail planning work until application for a building permit.
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MARKET VALUATION – RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

MARKET VALUE, RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS 
GREATER STOCKHOLM

MARKET VALUE, RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS 
OUTSIDE SWEDEN

MARKET VALUE, RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS 
REST OF SWEDEN



THE MARKET FOR COMMERCIAL PREMISES

The previously overheated office market in Greater Stock-
holm has now become more normal, with continued
demand for new premises but with greater price sensitiv-
ity. In Greater Stockholm, top rents fell by about 15% dur-
ing the year while top rents in Gothenburg and Malmö
remain at the same level as at the end of 2000. Market rents
have stagnated compared with 2000. For tenants, who nor-
mally have 3–5 year leases, however, this means rental
increases when leases signed in 1996–1999 are renegoti-
ated. Property owners in Stockholm will therefore gener-
ally show rent increases of approximately 10% on average
despite lower top and market rents.

OFFICE RENTS, CENTRAL STOCKHOLM 

A number of factors explain the cooling off in the office
rental market. Growth has slowed, mainly due to the
decline in the IT and telecom sector, which resulted in
reduced demand for office space. Several companies and
institutions are also looking outside the city limits for
cheaper more effective premises.

In the next few years the greatest demand will probably
be for space-efficient and flexible office premises which
can be adapted to meet the changing needs of their tenants.

The vacancy rate for offices fell sharply between 1994 and
the end of the second half of 2000. In 2001 the vacancy rate
gradually rose, as did the proportion of empty premises
under conversion, conversion vacancies. At year-end 2001
the vacancy rate for offices in central Stockholm was approx-
imately 4% and the conversion vacancy rate was about 9%.

The economic downturn combined with extensive new pro-
duction of office space in 2002 will lead to higher vacancies.
Production of office premises which will be completed in
2002 was started before the end of the first half of 2001,
after which no new office projects were started.

MARKET RENTAL SPREAD, STOCKHOLM 1997–2001

According to a study performed by NewSec, the vacancy rate
will rise in 2002 and then level out and stabilise at 8–10% in
2003. Growth is expected to accelerate in 2003, leading to
higher employment, demand for office space and therefore
falling vacancies.

Production of new office space over the next few years is
heavily concentrated to Kista and Solna. In southern districts,
new production is concentrated to Marievik/Årstadal, Nacka
and the Globe district.

Unlike the situation at the end of the 1980s, most projects
started in recent years have a high occupancy rate from the
start of production. The risk of increasing vacancies is lower
for new production with its greater space efficiency and flex-
ibility than for older office buildings, which are less flexible
and require remodelling to meet requirements for new ten-
ants. The market value is negatively affected by both vacan-
cies and estimated necessary costs of renovation.

Surveys show a strong correlation between GDP growth in
the country and the total return on city properties.

Based on forecasts of weak GDP growth and increased 

Commercial project development – sensitive to
economic fluctuations
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CORRELATION BETWEEN REAL TOTAL RETURN ON PROPERTIES
IN CENTRAL STOCKHOLM AND GDP GROWTH

vacancies, the total return on city properties is expected
to be weak in 2002 and to subsequently recover in 2003.

JM’S MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

JM’s portfolio of management properties is divided into
fully developed properties, properties under construction
and properties for further development. The last-named
consist of existing buildings where JM plans demolition,
conversion or extension to change usage, improve accessibil-
ity or in some other way enhance the value of the property.

The table below provides a breakdown of space in JM’s
management properties by category and region.

Management properties for further development and
under construction show fluctuating rental revenues and
operating nets depending on the different phases of proj-
ect development. In order to provide an accurate picture
of the entire property portfolio, these properties are sepa-

CHANGE IN PORTFOLIO OF FULLY DEVELOPED MANAGEMENT  
PROPERTIES, THE JM GROUP

Fully developed Rentable space Book value
management properties sq.m. SEKm

At 31 December 2000 454,700 4,286

Project development, reclassifications, etc. 119,579 2,191

Acquisitions 20,378 279

Property sales 2001 –368,709 –3,090

Fully developed management 
properties at 31 December 2001 225,948 3,666

VALUE GROWTH, MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

rated from fully developed properties which provide stable
rental flows.

fully developed management properties

As a result of sales, JM’s portfolio has been concentrated
to Stockholm’s inner city and northern suburbs. Of the
total market value, 96% is found in Greater Stockholm.

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

Acquisition Properties for Properties Fully developed Sales
Rentable space, sq.m. 2001 further development under construction properties 2001

Greater Stockholm 0 45,683 29,750 199,593 161,231

Rest of Sweden 0 7,008 24,000 13,670 69,818

Outside Sweden 0 0 5,100 4,905 2,804

Housing Greater Stockholm 12,975 850 7,055 6,246 64,145

Housing rest of Sweden 7,403 0 6,600 0 70,711

Housing outside Sweden 0 0 0 1,534 0

Total 20,378 53,541 72,505 225,948 368,709

Further information on each property is provided in the list of properties on pages 91–97.

Rental revenues

Time

Properties for
further development

Properties under
construction

Fully developed
properties

Construction 
phase

Rental phase

Management phase

Detail planning/
project planning phase
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The portfolio mainly comprises modern and flexible office
space as well as some hotels. Total rental revenues in 2001
amounted to SEK 357m.

JM’s property portfolio was rejuvenated considerably in
2001 by sales and new production. Approximately 65% of
the portfolio comprises premises which were either newly
built or totally renovated during the past ten years.

The vacancy rate rose to 7% due to sales of fully rented
properties and a more sluggish rental market. The lease
structure for JM’s properties is shown in the diagram
below.

Most leases for offices in Sweden have a term of 3–5
years. The industry norm is a minimum period of 3 years,
so that index clauses can legally be applied, and 5 years is
often the feasible time span a tenant can forecast. Large
companies often prefer longer leases for large, strategic
office space. Small companies often have shorter planning

horizons. Operations with customised premises, such as
hotels, have longer leases, usually 10 years.

From the property owner’s point of view, long leases
with secure rental payments mean that a large part of the
property value is guaranteed. This increases opportunities
for good financing and reduces fluctuations in value due
to changes in the business climate. Long leases, on the
other hand, lock the rent apart from pure indexing. Prop-
erty investors in Sweden therefore tend to prefer short
leases in times of economic prosperity and long leases
when an economic downturn is expected.

Most of JM’s existing leases run for 3–5 years and more
than 38% of rental revenues come from contracts which
run until 2005 or longer.

The leases have a normal spread with regard to size.
Approximately 35% of rental revenues come from leases
with an annual rent of more than SEK 10m.

Residential, 4%

Retail, 3%

Garage, 16%

Hotel, 13%

Office, 58%

Other, 6%
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On Vasagatan in central Stockholm, close to both communications and the city centre, JM has remodelled just over 3,000 sq.m. of commercial premises into a Nordic
Center for IBM e-business Innovation.
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Total space: 56,700 sq.m.

Location: Vasagatan

Communications: Underground/Commuter trains

Arlanda Express rail link

Stockholm Central Station

Tenants: Nordic Hotels

National Land Survey GIS Centre

IBM Svenska AB

Stiftelsen Industrifonden

Rental rates: SEK 3,500-5,000/sq.m.

Share of rent:**

J

T

Sveavägen

V
asagatan

D
rottninggatan

Kungsgatan

Torsgatan

Norra
Bantorget

Klarabergsgatan

Klara Strand

Kungsholmen

Three important commercial sub-markets for JM in Stockholm are the city centre, Frösunda and Mörby. These represent
82% of the total market value of JM’s fully developed properties

FRÖSUNDA*

Frösundavägen

Kolonnvägen

Brunnsviken

Frösundavik

E4

E4
J

Total space: 41,200 sq.m.

Location: High profile site E4 motorway

Communications: Commuter trains

Bus, Car

Tenants JM AB

Sigma AB

Lafarge Tekkin

Billerud

Arrowhead

Rental rates: SEK 2,100-2,700/sq.m.

Share of rent:**

MÖRBY

Mörbyleden

Mörbyleden

Gamla Kyrkvägen

Klin
gs

ta
vä

ge
n

Mörby
Centrum

T

E18

Total space: 55,200 sq.m.

Location: High profile site E18 motorway

Communications: Underground

Bus, Car

Tenants: ISD Datasystem AB

Nordbanken

Sign On i Stockholm

Cornerstone Sweden

Acando

Rental rates: SEK 1,500-2,700/sq.m.

Share of rent:**

24%

CITY CENTRE

13%

45%

* These office properties were sold at the beginning of 2002, see page 58. ** Share of JM’s rental revenues for fully developed properties.
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properties under construction – projects on which

production has started

Ongoing project development is mostly concentrated to
Stockholm.

Two projects under construction are Barnängen and
Skogskarlen. Barnängen on Södermalm is being remodelled
and developed into new office space. Skogskarlen is being
developed into new office space of 12,000 sq.m. located by
the E18 motorway in Bergshamra. JM is also building two
properties for assisted living in Jakobsberg and Uppsala
which are scheduled for completion in 2002.

JM’s share of total new production in future years is
low, which results from the strategy to await developments
in a market with falling demand. The largest market share
is in the inner city.

In addition, JM and Wihlborgs are building Lund’s first
shopping centre – 24,000 sq.m. Wihlborgs has signed an
agreement to acquire the entire property and will take pos-
session when the building is completed in September 2002.

An office property with approximately 5,100 sq.m. of
space is under construction in central Brussels.

properties for further development – planned projects

The largest projects in this category are Adam & Eva/Beri-
darebanan in the centre of Stockholm and Sicklaön in Nacka.
Development work is under way for more properties. Adam
& Eva may be developed with additional office space and res-
idential units. In Sicklaön the feasibility of converting an old
office building into residential units is being examined.

JM’S COMMERCIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

One of the major building rights, approximately 45,000
sq.m., is in Frösunda where JM is continuing to develop
new office space. The commercial building rights portfolio
totals approximately 200,000 sq.m. 

SALE OF FULLY DEVELOPED 

MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

The property market is cyclical and each business cycle
can last up to ten years. It is therefore important for a
property developer to achieve the right timing both for
acquisition and development and sale of fully developed
properties. The requirement for an optimal total return
often means that a sale is right from a company perspective
even after prices have started to fall.

SALES IN THE BUSINESS CYCLE

Value

Time
Wait Buy Sell

MAJOR SALES IN 2001

Contract Date Purchase Space, Rental revenue Capital 
date Property/location Purchaser vacated price, SEKm sq.m. Full year, SEKm gain, SEKm

6 March Lidingö Centre AP Fastigheter 2 May 465 24,047 37.5 57

Commercial and industrial
8 March properties, Central Sweden Kungsleden 8 March 773 104,088 80.9 243

1 June Äpplet 1–5, Lidingö Brf. Äpplet 14 June 87 5,806 6.2 21

1 June Lagern 12 and 13, Stockholm Vasakronan 1 July 360 8,685 22.0 187

7 June Knarrarnäs 7, Stockholm Pandox 7 June 120 5,517 13.4 94

7 June Commercial properties, north Greater Stockholm Kungsleden 7 June 725 80,931 81.4 129

4 July Kräftan 5, Stockholm Brf. Kräftan 15 August 145 7,403 8.8 62

12 November Properties for senior living, Stockholm etc. Kungsleden 7 December 1,119 109,987 114.9 120

Other properties 280 22,245 17.0 15

Total 4,074 368,709 382.1 928
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Variations in rents and prices (volatility) differ widely for
different property categories and sub-markets. Office space
in the centre of metropolitan regions shows rapid upturns
as well as falls. The long-term trend in these growth mar-
kets is upwards which allows fast and often strong recov-
ery after a fall caused by an economic downturn and/or
excess supply. Small towns have relatively small variations
in rents in different economic situations and therefore
small fluctuations in value. In markets with weak develop-
ment, the long-term trend is negative which means longer
recovery phases and does not always result in recovered
value levels.

MARKET POSITION

In 2001, JM sold a total of 73 properties for a total sales
price of over SEK 4 billion. These sales generated a total
capital gain of SEK 928m.

Completed sales mean that JM’s management portfolio

now has a stronger market position since properties with
slightly lower attractiveness and less favourable locations
have been sold. The value focus (V) for JM’s portfolio of
fully developed management properties in Greater Stock-
holm has shifted to a stronger market position in each sub-
market following these sales. JM has successfully and at
the right time in the market sold a large part of its fully
developed management properties.

In 2001 property companies and institutions continued
to concentrate their property portfolios to metropolitan
regions. The majority focus on commercial properties.
Purchasers in the market included Vasakronan, Wihlborgs,
Kungsleden and institutional players. Municipal housing
companies are net sellers. Interest in the Swedish market
has increased among international investors and pur-
chasers include German, Dutch and American funds and
companies. This trend is expected to continue over the
next few years.

JM’S PROPERTY SALES
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The independent valuation institute NewSec made an
assessment of the market value of all JM’s management
properties at year-end 2001.The valuations were performed
as regular cash flow analyses where the market value is cal-
culated as the sum of the present value of annual net pay-
ment flows during the calculation period and the present
value of the market value (residual value) in the event of a
sale at the end of the calculation period.The valuations were
performed for each individual property based on present
lease circumstances and an assessment of market rents,
operating and maintenance costs and the special circum-
stances of each asset. Based on the market situation in the
sub-market concerned, long-term vacancy and direct yield
requirements for a residual value calculation were assessed.
All valuations were performed in accordance with the
Swedish property index rules.

The basis for the valuations are surveys conducted in
autumn 2001 and individual assessment of each property’s
market position which shows the attractiveness of the
premises from a tenant’s point of view.

In assessments of the market value of properties which
are under construction or are intended for further devel-
opment, the market value was based on market revenues
and costs in a completed state, minus the assessed remain-
ing building costs and with deductions for uncertainty, risk
and reasonable project gains.

The following value factors were used in the assessment
of market value:

Market rent Estimated Direct yield re-
offices, long-term quirement for

Sub-market SEK/sq.m. vacancy, % residual value, %

Central Stockholm 2,800–4,500 2–3 6.8–7.6

North Greater Stockholm 1,500–2,700 2–5 7.0–8.0

Rest of Sweden 1,000–1,600 3–7 7.3–9.0

The large spreads of assessed market rent are due to vari-
ations as regards the standard, location and attractiveness of
the premises.

Overall, JM’s management properties were appraised at a
market value of SEK 6,371m at year-end 2001. The book
value was SEK 4,717m.

Market value is broken down as follows:

SEKm Market value Book value

Fully developed properties 5,152 3,666

Properties under construction 446 405

Properties for further development 773 646

Total 6,371 4,717

The market value of JM’s commercial development proper-
ties amounted to SEK 236m (376) at year-end. The book
value was SEK 216m.

JM has developed nearly 41,000 sq.m. of commercial space in Frösunda, Solna.
The properties were sold at the beginning of 2002.

MARKET VALUATION – MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES
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MACROECONOMIC FACTORS

JM’s operations are dependent on the general economic cli-
mate which affects demand for new housing and commer-
cial premises, as well as vacancy and rental rates. A high
proportion of project development and the property portfo-
lio are concentrated in Stockholm where the general eco-
nomic conditions are assessed as good (see Market, page 22).

The mix between project development of housing and
commercial premises is determined based on the prevail-
ing business climate. During a downturn some caution is
exercised with regard to commercial projects, while hous-
ing forms a base which is less sensitive to economic fluctu-
ations. In a continued anticipated period of low inflation,
JM is strategically well positioned.

general interest rate situation

The general interest rate situation is both a risk and an
opportunity for JM since it affects, among other things,
the following:
• Interest expenses for the Group’s net borrowing (see

page 41).
• The required rate of return at property valuations (see

page 29).
• The sales price of both residential and commercial prop-

erties.
• Demand, particularly for housing.

The general assessment is that interest rates will remain low.

consumer spending power

Price development for housing is greatly affected by con-
sumer spending power. JM’s housing is in a segment where
a large group of households have sufficient regular income
to finance their purchases. The consumer spending power
trend combined with a continued strong influx of people to
metropolitan areas throughout the Nordic region, is ex-
pected to provide a continued stable price trend for hous-
ing, taking temporary economic uncertainty into account.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES

JM’s residential development projects mainly pertain to
production of units which are sold to tenant-owner co-
operatives formed by JM. The lead times from project con-
ception to final sale are long. The eventual price that JM

receives for the completed tenant-owned apartments
mainly depends on local demand for housing, their loca-
tion and attractiveness, and prevailing interest rates.
• Local demand, location and attractiveness – JM gives

priority to attractive sites, preferably close to water, in a
few locations with good growth potential which means
increased demand is forecast. In 2001 almost 50% of
residential project development was in Stockholm
where the market is overheated.

• Interest rate situation – The greatest real threat which
could lead to a decline in price and demand is a major
interest rate hike in Sweden. However, this does not
appear to be particularly likely. The Swedish economy is
strongly interwoven with the international, which is char-
acterised by ambitions for low inflation and interest rates.

A number of risks can be identified in the project develop-
ment process. Due to its years of experience, JM has shown
that it can manage these risks in a value enhancing manner.
• Planning risk – what and how much can be built, when

can production start.
• Interest rate risk – in projects and sales (see above).
• Market risk – location, cost, design and demand.
• Implementation risk – the ability to carry out a project

at the forecast cost.
• Political risk – zoning, infrastructure, laws and regulations.

As a result of political decisions, a ceiling for rental levels
has been set for apartments in Sweden. This makes it more
difficult to obtain a reasonable pay-back from the produc-
tion of rental units and has contributed to a reduction in
the number of new apartments under construction.

project development portfolio

In recent years the Group has substantially increased its
volume of development properties for future project
development. This provides both greater potential and a
theoretical increase in risk. Major projects can run for
6–9 years, but are broken up into sub-projects where deci-
sions on building starts are taken on an ongoing basis. This
allows the exact project planning rate to be continuously
adjusted to the assessed market situation.

Before building starts the sales risk is assessed, with a
specific number of homes being reserved before produc-
tion starts.

Continued good opportunities for limited risk
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COMMERCIAL PREMISES

In Sweden there are no rental regulations for commercial
premises and the rental trend and value of commercial
properties fluctuate with the business climate. Otherwise
the same risks apply to project development as those men-
tioned under Residential. During the year 94% of project
development of commercial premises was concentrated to
the Stockholm region, where the prevailing economic cli-
mate is an important factor when assessing opportunities
and risks (see Market, page 22).

Apart from dependence on the general business climate,
a critical factor for success is the ability to focus on proj-
ect development of properties in the right place and in the
right district. In a weaker climate great caution is exer-
cised and there are considerable demands for a well
defined rental situation.

Leases on the company’s management properties run for
an average of four years. The rented portfolio is evenly dis-
tributed, which means that approximately 25% of the
portfolio is renegotiated every year. This delays the effects
of rises and falls in market rents. JM has a relatively even
distribution of sectors in which its tenants operate, and is
therefore not exposed to fluctuations in any particular
industry.

competitive scenario

JM’s main competitors in project development are Skanska,
NCC and Peab. These companies are increasingly adopting
the model that JM has been using with success for many
years, particularly in residential development. However,
this way of working is difficult to copy completely and is
based on a large number of factors that interact efficiently
within JM – corporate culture, agility, expertise in acquisi-
tions, decision-making, project co-ordination, quality pro-
file and sales. Ongoing efforts are made to uphold strong
competitiveness. Continual improvement is a natural pur-
suit throughout the company.

COST STRUCTURE

Effective cost control in project development is naturally
essential. JM’s main volume is attributable to residential
project development in Sweden. In 2001, the cost base for
this totalled approximately SEK 3,900m, broken down as
shown in the above diagram.

COST STRUCTURE 2001

Direct salaries/wages and direct materials account for
13% and 16% respectively of JM’s project costs. The gen-
eral trend for salaries/wages and material costs in the
industry has a greater impact on JM since these are the
main cost components in subcontracting.

Since JM has limited production resources, the com-
pany is highly dependent on cost development among sub-
contractors. In order to minimise exposure with regard to
strategic competence and dependence on certain types of
subcontractor, a few years ago JM set up JM Stombyggnad
AB and JM Inredning AB, and acquired Lindqvist Rör AB
in 2001. JM Entreprenad and JM Anläggning are also
increasingly involved in JM’s own project development. 

In general, resources are contracted well ahead of time,
which gives JM a controlled cost situation.

The number of projects, their volume, development
phase and utilisation of subcontractors varies from year to
year. This and many other factors affect the total cost base
as well as the breakdown between cost groups.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS BY COST CATEGORY,
RESIDENTIAL PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Category Change Effect

Salaries/wages +/–10% +/– SEK 151m

Materials +/–10% +/– SEK 164m

Land +/–10% +/– SEK 146m

Builder’s costs +/–10% +/– SEK 140m

Project planning +/–10% +/– SEK 132m

Overheads +/–10% +/– SEK 126m

Subcontracting +/–10% +/– SEK 133m

Salaries/wages, 13%

Materials, 16%

Land, 12%

Builder's costs, 10%

Project planning, 8%

Overheads, 7%

Subcontracting, 34%

Land refers to the acquisition cost for land. Builder’s costs refer to costs not
directly related to contracting, such as municipal connection fees and registration
of title. Project planning mainly relates to costs for technical consultants.
Overheads refer to incidental expenses for setting up the building site and rents
for leased fixed assets, such as plant and equipment.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR VARIOUS MANAGEMENT COSTS

Category Change Effect

Maintenance costs +/–10% +/– SEK 1.2m

Operating and management costs +/–10% +/– SEK 4.1m

Ground rent +/–10% +/– SEK 0.4m

PROPERTY TAX

Property tax on residential rental properties is 0.5%, and
1.0% on single-family homes. The tax on commercial and

industrial properties is 1.0% and 0.5% respectively. The
coefficient of taxed base values from general assessment in
2000 increased for commercial space in the Stockholm
region to 1.19 (1.04) and for some large municipalities to
1.10 (1.04) for 2001. The coefficient for housing in the
Stockholm region increased to 1.24 and for certain large
municipalities to 1.18 where no recalculation was made in
2000. No recalculations of tax assessment values were per-

Live like no one else. In Linköping, JM has converted the Westmanska Maternity Hospital into unique homes in a leafy, peaceful and attractive park.



OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS – 33

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001

One way to reflect the dynamics in the building rights portfo-
lio is to perform a sensitivity analysis where all anticipated
cash flows from the portfolio are calculated at present value.
Below are a number of simplified assumptions designed to
reveal the present value of JM’s building rights portfolio, at a
number of assumed sales prices: 27,000 residential building
rights are evenly distributed over a 7-year production period.
The initial investment is excluded since the calculation is
intended to show the value of the portfolio. However, invest-
ments not yet made of about SEK 1,000m for conditional
acquisitions or deferred payments are included in the analysis
as a future constant outgoing cash flow during the period.

JM’s normal residential unit is assumed to be 85 sq.m., the
assumed tax rate is 28% and the discount rate is 7.2%.The

calculation does not take possible inflation into account and
is not a forecast.

The table shows the assumed income and project
expenses per sq.m. of apartment space excluding VAT. If a
specific income/project expense per sq.m. is assumed to
apply to the entire building rights portfolio and outgoing cash
flow for conditional acquisitions is taken into account,a value
is created, expressed as present value.The analysis shows a
strong leverage effect in value creation depending on the
company’s ability to manage both income and expenses
effectively, and not least the general trend for house prices
during the period.A price or cost change of SEK 1,000 per
sq.m. corresponds to about SEK 1,300m or approximately
SEK 40 per share according to the basis for this calculation.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS , PRESENT VALUE IN SEKM FOR JM’S
RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

Income/sq.m., SEK 17,000 18,000 19,000 20,000 21, 000

Expenses/sq.m., SEK

12,000 6,400 7,700 9,000 10,200 11,500

13,000 5,200 6,400 7,700 9,000 10,200

14,000 3,900 5,200 6,400 7,700 9,000

15,000 2,600 3,900 5,200 6,400 7,700

16,000 1,300 2,600 3,900 5,200 6,400  

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS , PRESENT VALUE IN SEK PER
SHARE FOR JM’S RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

Income/sq.m., SEK 17,000 18,000 19,000 20,000 21,000

Expenses/sq.m., SEK

12,000    213    257    300    340    383  

13,000    173    213    257    300    340  

14,000    130    173    213    257    300  

15,000    87    130    173    213    257  

16,000    43    87    130    173    213  

formed for industrial properties. The average coefficient
in 2001 for the JM Group was 1.18 for commercial prem-
ises and 1.27 for housing.

Property tax decreased to SEK 45m (58). This decrease
was due to the sale of properties during the year. The sharp
rise in coefficients, however, limited the decrease in prop-
erty tax.

Tax rates for 2002 are expected to remain unchanged for
all types of property. The coefficients for housing in the
Stockholm region will be 1.42, except for Stockholm’s inner
city where the coefficient will be 1.58 (1.24). In the
Gothenburg region and the large regional towns 1.36 (1.18).
The coefficient for commercial premises in the Stockholm
region will be 1.33 except in Stockholm’s inner city 1.50
(1.19) and 1.31 (1.10) for the Gothenburg region and large

regional towns. Property tax will therefore increase consid-
erably for remaining properties in 2002. The average coeffi-
cient in 2002 for the JM Group is estimated at 1.38 for
commercial premises and 1.44 for housing.

In commercial leases, JM is compensated for most of the
property tax, although the tax limits the scope for rent
adjustments when leases are renegotiated.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Group’s currency exposure related to the investment in
the Norwegian company Byggholt has been eliminated. The
SEK 128m investment is hedged in the consolidated balance
sheet with matching borrowing in Norwegian kroner. The
loan is amortised in pace with goodwill amortisation.
Otherwise, the Group’s balance sheet exposure is limited.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS – BUILDING RIGHTS PORTFOLIO
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PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Acquisition of development properties – The largest acquisi-
tions of land for development during the year were made in
Solna for 700 residential units and in Hägernäs for just over
600 units. In addition, a land transfer agreement was signed
with the City of Stockholm for almost 400 residential units.
Land for approximately 160 residential units was acquired
on Gärdet and for about 110 units in Saltsjöbaden.

Projects – Detail plans for Essinge Udde with 800 resi-
dential units and Bolinder Strand in Järfälla with 600 units
came into force. The second phase of 137 residential units
on Essinge Udde and the first stage of 24 on Bolinder
Strand have therefore started. These projects are expected
to be fully completed in 2006.

JM’s largest project so far started during the year, Lilje-
holmskajen. In co-operation with the municipality a new
district is being developed with a total of 2,500 residential
units. The first stage with 125 residential units has
started. This project will run until 2007 with an estimated
production of approximately 350 units per year.

In Silverdal, Sollentuna, production started on 17 single-
family homes, in the first stage of a total of 200 in a newly
planned garden city. In Älvsjö, conversion of Solberga nurs-
ing home into 159 residential units started. A third phase
with 154 residential units was started in Hammarby Sjö-
stad. A densification project is under way in Östbergahöj-
den, where the third and fourth phases with a total of 95
homes have now started. In central Kungsholmen the Vall-
gossen project, with 126 residential units is under way.

In addition to the above, two projects with senior living
units, one in Blackeberg and one in Fruängen, were com-
pleted during the year.

Business Unit Stockholm Residential

FACTS

The Stockholm Residential business unit acquires develop-
ment properties in attractive locations for the purpose of
planning, designing, building and selling housing. Operations
are conducted in the Greater Stockholm area.

37

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2001 2000

Net sales 3,471 2,421

Gross profit 472 337

Gains on the sale of properties 72 41

Operating profit 544 378

KEY FIGURES

2001 2000

Margin, % 13.6 13.9

Return on operating capital, % 18.9 22.6

Number of employees 807 589

Number of acquired building rights 1,400 2,000

Number of housing starts 1,100 1,400

Number of building rights at end of period 12,600 12,500

Book value of development properties, SEKm 2,612 2,020

Book value of management properties, SEKm 227 143

Number of sold residential units 774 655

SHARE OF GROUP’S 
NET SALES, %

SHARE OF GROUP’S
OPERATING PROFIT, %

27

JM is developing a total of 800 lakeside apartments on Lilla Essingen in Stockholm.
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PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Acquisition and sales – The Karet block on Liljeholmen was
acquired. The Prismat property in Huddinge was sold.
Apart from this, no properties were sold during the year.

Projects – JM completed 10,000 sq.m. of office space in
Frösunda, Solna. All office space is leased to tenants which
include Agresso, Billerud and Vattenfall.

The combined office and hotel project at Vasaplan in
Stockholm was also completed during the year. In addition
to a 542-room hotel, the project also includes 12,000 sq.m.
of office space where IBM is among the tenants.

Construction of 12,000 sq.m. of new office space is under
way by the E18 in Bergshamra. The Barnängen block on Stock-
holm’s Södermalm is being converted and developed into
about 12,000 sq.m. of office space. Negotiations are under
way with several prospective tenants for both these projects.

During the year Solna Municipality adopted the detail
plan for the northern part of Frösunda. This area is
expected to include, apart from 700 residential units,
approximately 45,000 sq.m. of office space.

Development work is under way in several attractively
located projects in Greater Stockholm, where building
starts will be possible as soon as demand is secured. 

EXTERNAL ASSIGNMENTS

Major external assignments in 2001 included the construc-
tion of the new Stockholm Institute of Education in Kungs-
holmen and Karolinska Institutet Syd in Flemingsberg as well
as remodelling of Terminal 5 at Arlanda Airport and the
Jericho block in central Stockholm.

Business Unit Stockholm Commercial

FACTS

The business unit develops commercial property projects in
the Greater Stockholm area. Production is primarily carried
out using the business unit’s own resources. JM’s housing pro-
duction is partly carried out with the business unit’s resources.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2001 2000

Net sales 1,973 1,626

Gross profit 213 114

Gains on the sale of properties 16 2

Operating profit 229 146

* Including gains of SEK 30m from the sale of operations.

KEY FIGURES

2001 2000

Margin, % 10.8 7.0

Return on operating capital, % 9.9 7.7

Number of employees 748 704

Book value of development properties, SEKm 216 148

Book value of management properties, SEKm 2,295 2,097

SHARE OF GROUP’S 
NET SALES, %

SHARE OF GROUP’S
OPERATING PROFIT, %
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In the Barnhuset block in central Stockholm the roof space has been converted
into 300 sq.m. of office space.

*



PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Acquisition of development properties – During the year land
was acquired in Gothenburg for approximately 600 residen-
tial units. These are located in the central areas of the city
and on Norra Älvstranden. In addition, a co-operation
agreement was concluded for development of a further 600-
plus units, also on Norra Älvstranden. An area for approxi-
mately 150 residential units was acquired close to the cen-
tre of Linköping. Two areas for a combined total of just over
140 residential units were acquired in central Uppsala.

Projects – Planning for 700 residential units in Lomma in
the Malmö/Lund region started during the year. Detail
planning work is under way  for a large housing estate in
the Kranen area of Malmö. In central Lund, the second
phase of 62 out of a total of 143 residential units is under
way. JM also started development of a shopping centre in
Lund with approximately 20,000 sq.m. of retail space. A
sales agreement has been concluded with Wihlborgs. Inau-
guration is scheduled for autumn 2002. In Halmstad, pro-
duction started on the first phase with 49 out of a total of
about 120 residential units.

Production started on phase 1 with 37 out of a total of
about 180 residential units in Rickomberga, an area close
to the centre of Uppsala. In Linköping production started
on 94 out of a total of approximately 170 homes. In
Västerås, another phase of 43 residential units is being
built along the shore of Lake Mälaren.

Eighty-four homes are being built in central Gothen-
burg and at Norra Älvstranden work started on the third
block with a total of 114 residential units.

Business Unit Sweden

FACTS

The business unit develops projects in preferred areas of
growth areas in Sweden, outside the Greater Stockholm
area. Project development consists primarily of residential
properties and, to a limited extent, commercial properties.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2001 2000

Net sales 1,943 1,803

Gross profit 149 124

Gains on the sale of properties 93 14

Write-down of properties –15 –

Operating profit 227 138

KEY FIGURES

2001 2000

Margin, % 7.7 6.9

Return on operating capital, % 22.4 20.4

Number of employees 546 576

Number of acquired building rights 1,700 2,200

Number of housing starts 1,000 1,000

Number of building rights at end of period 9,200 9,000

Book value of development properties, SEKm 765 622

Book value of management properties, SEKm 218 252

Number of sold residential units 860 677
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Red-brick buildings in classical merchant style are being constructed at Norra
Älvstranden in Gothenburg.
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SALES AND ACQUISITIONS

At the end of the year JM sold a portfolio of assisted living
properties in Greater Stockholm, Uppsala, Norrköping,
Gothenburg, Mölndal and Västerås for a total of SEK
1,119m with a capital gain of SEK 120m. Major deals earlier
in the year included the sale of two portfolios to Kungsleden
(SEK 773m and SEK 725m respectively). Two exchange deals
were also completed, one with AP Fastigheter, where JM sold
Lidingö Centrumfastigheter (SEK 465m) and acquired com-
mercial properties on Lidingö (SEK 139m) for development
into tenant-owned apartments, and one with Vasakronan
where JM sold the Lagern 12 and 13 properties (SEK 360m)
and acquired 13,000 sq.m. of tenant-owned apartments on
Östermalm (SEK 130m). During the year two properties
were also sold to tenant-owner co-operatives on Lidingö and
Kungsholmen (SEK 87m and SEK 145m respectively).

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

JM works continuously on further development and new con-
cepts for the homes and offices of the future in order to make
life simpler, safer and more convenient for its customers.

The proportion of old people is rising every year and will
soon comprise 25% of the Swedish population. One conse-
quence of this is a rising interest in senior and assisted liv-
ing units. In order to meet this demand, JM is focusing on
development of different forms of senior living.

Another area which is under active development at JM is
how different forms of technology can be integrated into
living and working environments.

Business Unit Business Development/Real Estate

FACTS

The business unit manages JM’s properties and is responsi-
ble for buying and selling the Group’s management proper-
ties.The business unit also has overall responsibility for the
Group’s business development.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2001 2000

Net sales 340 550

Gross profit 195 304

Gains on the sale of properties 746 458

Write-down of properties –24 –

Operating profit 917 762

KEY FIGURES

2001 2000

Margin, % 57.4 55.3

Return on operating capital, % 27.8 16.0

Number of employees 92 102

Book value of management properties, SEKm 1,844 3,896

Investments in management properties, SEKm 38 292

Number of sold commercial properties 56 47

SHARE OF GROUP’S 
NET SALES, %

SHARE OF GROUP’S
OPERATING PROFIT, %
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Senior living units with a fantastic view are under development in Blackeberg, west
of Stockholm.



NORWAY

Operations in Norway mainly comprise housing project
development which is conducted by Byggholt and its sub-
sidiaries Prosjektfinans and Seniorbo. Byggholt and Senior-
bo operate in the Oslo area, while Prosjektfinans in based
in Tønsberg and Skien, south of Oslo, and in Bergen. Net
sales have increased strongly since JM acquired Byggholt in
1998 and now amount to SEK 981m (683).

Market – Demand for housing remained strong in the
first half of 2001, fell towards year-end and recovered at
the beginning of 2002. Housing prices increased by
approximately 4% during the year.

Project development – During the year JM had 550 (463)
housing starts. In the same period, 463 (438) units were sold.

Two major projects are under way in Sandvika, south-
west of Oslo and in Lørenskog, east of Oslo. Production
has started on both projects and they are scheduled for
completion in 2005/2006.

The available portfolio of building rights comprised 4,100
(3,900) residential units at year-end. In Grefsen, Oslo, Bygg-
holt is co-operating with ROM eiendomsutvikling (formerly
NSB) in planning for 800 residential units. In Bærum, Bygg-
holt is co-operating with Øvrevoll race course to find a new
development. This would allow the construction of up to
1,000 residential units in the present race course area.

DENMARK

JM has been conducting project development in Denmark
since 1999. Operations are mainly conducted in the
Copenhagen region but also in Frederiksberg, Hillerød,
Roskilde and Køge. Net sales for the Danish operations
amount to SEK 353m (55).

Market – Demand for housing remains good. Some
decline could be noted at the end of 2001 but activities
increased again at the beginning of 2002.

Project development – Out of ongoing production 95
(29) residential units were sold during the year. Construc-
tion of 137 (62) residential units started during the year.

In addition to projects in progress, the building rights
portfolio comprises about 900 residential units, more than
half of which are in the Copenhagen area.

Business Unit International

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2001 2000

Net sales 1,485 761

Gross profit 110 52

Gains on the sale of properties 1 20

Operating profit 111 72

KEY FIGURES

2001 2000

Margin, % 7.4 6.8

Return on operating capital, % 14.5 11.8

Number of employees 300 225

Number of housing starts 762 600

Number of building rights at the end of the period 5,200 5,200

Book value of development properties, SEKm 455 315

Book value of management properties, SEKm 133 57

Number of sold residential units 621 467
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FACTS

The business unit develops and sells attractive housing
properties in Norway, Denmark and Belgium. In Belgium, the
unit’s activities have been complemented with development
of centrally located commercial property projects.

17
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BELGIUM

Operations in Belgium are concentrated to the Brussels
region and now include project development of both hous-
ing and commercial premises. Sales amount to SEK 144m
(22).

Market – Demand for modern offices and high-quality
homes continues to rise. This is related to the role of Brus-
sels as the administrative centre of the EU.

Project development – The first phase in the Fontaines de
Woluwe project with 71 residential units was completed
and 63 of these units were sold. The second phase with 75
residential units has started. The building rights portfolio
comprises some 200 residential units in Brussels. A 5,100
sq.m. office building on Avenue des Arts in the Leopold
district is under development. The property is expected to
be sold in 2002.

JM’S BUSINESS UNITS – 39
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In Belgium JM has just started the second phase of the Fontaines de Woluwe housing project in central Brussels.



JM’s finance unit is responsible for the Group’s short- and
long-term financing, liquidity planning, cash management
and financial risk management. The division of responsi-
bility, organisation and control of the Group’s overall
financing activities are regulated by a finance policy estab-
lished by the Board of Directors.

FINANCE POLICY

The finance policy specifies the objectives for finance
operations, overall responsibility and specific rules and
limits. The objectives for the finance operations are to:
• Support operating activities in residential and commer-

cial project development.
• Optimise use of capital and cash flow management.
• Control and manage the financial risks to which JM is

exposed.

The Group’s financial risks primarily consist of interest
rate risk, financing risk, liquidity risk and, to a limited
extent, currency risk. The choice of maturities and fixed
interest spread is governed by several factors, such as capi-
tal tied up in ongoing projects, business risk, anticipated
dates for sale of properties, the terms of leases in manage-
ment properties and the Group’s financial position in gen-
eral. These factors are summarised in the Board’s estab-
lished guidelines for fixed interest spread and maturity
structure with scope for deviations within certain limits
based on the current market situation. There are also rules
for handling interest rate risk in building loans during the
construction period and final financing of tenant-owner
co-operatives.

Cash in hand is kept at a low level and any surplus liq-
uidity may only be invested in banks specified by JM and
in Swedish fixed-income securities without currency risk.
Payment preparedness is maintained through overdraft
facilities and committed credit lines.

Currency risk is eliminated as far as possible for trans-
action and balance sheet exposure.

Derivative instruments may only be used in order to
minimise risks.

FINANCE STRATEGY

JM’s basic finance strategy is to clearly link cash flows from
projects in progress and management properties to the com-

pany’s management of borrowing and interest rate risks.
This strategy provides the best control of financial risks.

In order to maintain flexible administration and cost-
effective debt management, JM AB renegotiated existing
credit agreements during the year in order to better meet
a project development company’s need of flexible financ-
ing. According to the new agreements, borrowing is based
on JM’s good credit ratings so mortgage deeds are no
longer provided. This has reduced the Group’s pledged
assets by SEK 3.2 billion to SEK 0.7 billion.

CAPITAL AND LOAN STRUCTURE

At year-end 2001 the equity ratio was on target at 30%
(31) The debt/equity ratio at year-end was 1.4 times (1.4)
and the interest coverage ratio was 5.5 times (4.6). The
loan-to-value ratio in the property portfolio, i.e. interest-
bearing liabilities in relation to the estimated market val-
ues of management properties plus the book values of
development properties, amounted to 53% (41).

JM strives for more efficient use of capital with a
higher asset turnover. Efficiency is achieved with in-
creased net sales combined with reduced total assets due
to the sale of properties.

The JM Group’s interest-bearing liabilities at 31
December amounted to SEK 5,930m (5,610), of which
SEK 409m (374) comprised PRI pension liabilities. The
average interest on the debt during the year was 5.7%
(5.8). The average interest rate on the interest-bearing
loans, excluding PRI, was 5.6% (5.9) at year-end. Most of

Strong financial base
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the loans redeemed during the year had short fixed inter-
est terms and therefore carried low interest. At the same
time, the average fixed interest term has increased from
1.6 to 1.8 years. In 2002, SEK 3,092m (56%) of JM’s loan
stock will be restructured. A 1 percentage point change in
interest rates corresponds to changed interest expenses
of approximately SEK 15m on the portion of the loan
stock restructured in 2002.

In 2001 JM sold properties for approximately SEK 4 bil-
lion. The sales proceeds were used for repurchase of
shares, SEK 841m, and for redemption of loans in con-
junction with the sales. At the same time, new loans were
raised to finance production of commercial management
properties and acquisitions of development properties.
The net change in interest-bearing liabilities amounted to
SEK 320m (–404).

Net financial items deteriorated by SEK 26m in 2001.
Capitalisation of interest expenses related to commercial
project development amounted to SEK 11m (41). A
slightly lower average interest rate and average loans con-
tributed to a lower charge on net financial items. In 2000
financial income included a sale of OM shares for SEK
10m. No similar sale took place in 2001.

Interest on mortgage bonds rose by approximately 0.60
percentage points in 2001. Short-term interest rates fell
approximately 0.20 percentage points during the year.

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS, THE JM GROUP

SEKm 2001 2000 1999

Interest income 26 30 14

Interest expenses –361 –339 –370

Net financial items –335 –309 –356
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INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AND AVERAGE INTEREST RATES AT 31 DECEMBER 2001

Loan amount, Average interest, Share of Committed credit Committed
Year for interest conversion* SEKm % total loans, % lines, SEKm credit lines, %

2002 3,092 5.4 56 790 14

2003 832 5.9 15 1,800 32

2004 518 6.3 10 1,000 18

2005 173 5.9 3

2006 and later 906 5.6 16 2,000 36

Total 5,521 5.6 100

PRI 2002 409 6.3

Total incl. PRI 5,930      5.6 5,590 100

Average fixed interest term (years) 1.8

* Fixed interest terms include derivatives.
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During the year JM continued its efforts to strengthen the
company’s brand. The purpose of building the brand and of
the long-term profiling campaigns JM conducts every year
is to maintain and enhance interest in JM’s housing and
commercial space. The brand should convey the values JM
represents – stability, reliability, common sense, humanity,
quality and environmental awareness. The slogan “Room
for enjoyment” sums this up and symbolises the optimal
benefits JM seeks to offer its customers.

CAMPAIGNS AND ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

In 2001, JM’s media exposure costs amounted to approxi-
mately SEK 15m, an increase of 50% compared with the
previous year. The construction and property industry’s
total media investments amounted to almost SEK 413m.
JM intends to increase its investment in brand-building in
future years. 

A new component in JM’s campaign work was television

commercials. Two films on the “Room for enjoyment”
theme were shown on TV3 and TV4 in the spring. Surveys
have shown a marked increased awareness of the JM brand
after these TV commercials. The greatest increase was
among people in the 35–59 age group.

JM has a web-based customer database. At the end of the
year the database included almost 10,000 people from
Greater Stockholm and Uppsala. These people receive reg-
ular information about housing and commercial space proj-
ects in progress and planned, among other things through
the customer magazine Entré. The intention is to extend
the customer database to cover the whole of Sweden.

JM’s website was developed during the year in terms of
both design and function and the intention is to continu-
ously adapt it to meet customer requirements.

JM also participated at the Bo01 housing fair in Malmö.
Four residential units with different themes were on dis-
play, and JM showed the only senior living unit at the fair.

Brand-building continues

JM’s commercials were recorded in March 2001 in the “Smart” house in Värmdö outside Stockholm.
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JM’s brand campaign was on the same lines as in previous years, but with new motifs which reflect JM’s operations – housing and commercial space. The text reads:
Out today, in tomorrow.Talk to us about flexible premises.

THE JM BRAND – 43

www.jm.se

Ute idag, inne imorgon.

Prata med oss om flexibla lokaler.



Långbro – built to provide peace 

Today, Ove Mattsson, a doctor at Stockholm’s Söder hospital’s
department of internal medicine,and Torun Mattson,a midwife at the
Karolinska hospital, live in central Stockholm with their two small
children.The apartment is starting to feel cramped and the couple are
becoming increasingly concerned about the surroundings in which
their children are growing up.So the family is moving soon to Långbro
Park where JM is renovating the old psychiatric hospital site.

Ove and Torun sent in an application via the Internet and were
then invited to a viewing.

“What we really fell for was its location in the park, the fantastic
windows and the ceiling height.The old stone walls make you feel the
history in the building.We have both worked in psychiatry and per-
haps this gives us a special feeling for the building.The entire architec-
ture and surrounding park make us aware that these were homes for
people in need of inward peace. It’s rather funny really that stressed
professionals like us are moving there today!”,say Torun and Ove.

“The fact is that when things are hectic at work, everything
around you has to function. If you don’t get space at work,you must
get it at home,” says Torun.

Involvement with environmental issues in the building sec-
tor is no longer pioneering work. Most large and medium-
sized companies have integrated environment work in their
operations. However, only a few have a complete environ-
mental management system in accordance with ISO 14001
which forms a natural, integrated part of their activities.
JM is one of few companies that has achieved this.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2001 the Ecocycle Council for the Building Sector (BYKR)
drafted a proposal for an environmental programme to get the
entire sector to achieve co-ordinated and credible environ-
mental work voluntarily. JM plays an active role in these activ-
ities. The programme contains environmental objectives to be
reached within five years and is based on an environmental
review of the Swedish construction industry performed
under the auspices of BYKR. In parallel with BYKR’s work the
government has conducted a discussion project with parts of
the building sector designed to achieve long-term environ-
mental commitments. The project is called “Bygga Bo” and
includes a limited number of companies and municipalities.

From an international perspective the major environmen-
tal issue is to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases which
has been shown to have significant political and economic
impact. This issue is highly significant for the building
industry since approximately 40% of Sweden’s total energy
consumption and a large portion of transportation within
the country are related to this sector. JM and the rest of
the industry are now giving priority to reducing the envi-
ronmental impact linked to energy consumption.

PROFITABLE IN THE SHORT AND LONG TERM

One of JM’s success factors has been the ongoing focus on
quality and environmental issues. Its handling of both short
and long-term environmental problems makes the company a
credible and sensible choice for customers who expect that
their supplier of quality homes also accepts responsibility
for the environment. Experience of concrete environmental
work has also contributed to the company’s ability to acquire
and build on land in attractive locations. Often land, particu-
larly old industrial sites, needs to be decontaminated. This is
a field in which JM has considerable competence.

The environment in the 21st century
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Since 2000 JM has had a groupwide quality and environ-
mental policy as well as quality and environmental objec-
tives. These have been decided by group management. A
Quality and Environmental department has overall
responsibility for co-ordinating environmental work.

This work, like all other activities, is managed with the
aid of JM’s process-oriented operational control system. 

Every area of JM’s operations has a quality and environ-
ment council which formulates targets. Practical work
within each operation is co-ordinated by a quality and envi-
ronmental manager, who is also responsible for the opera-
tional control system. Each geographic region has a quality
and environmental co-ordinator who functions as an internal
auditor and adviser and provides support. The Stockholm
Residential business unit also has an environmental manager
who works with eco-compliance in the projects.

RESIDENTIAL PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

In 2001, both ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 were incorporated
into the operational control system for Residential Project
Development. Furthermore, a quality and environmental
programme was adopted. The targets in this programme
were followed up during the year and are reported on the
next pages.

Internal audits have been performed regularly in all proj-
ects. In 2002 the intention is to bring in an external certi-
fication agency for further review of the operational con-
trol system.

COMMERCIAL PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

In 2001 the operational control system for Commercial Pro-
ject Development was adapted to the organisational changes.
The system is currently also being adapted to ISO 9001 and
ISO 14001 as was done in Residential Project Development.
A quality and environmental programme was also adopted
during the year and the targets will be followed up in 2002.

Policy and objectives

THE GROUP’S QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

JM shall promote long-term quality and environmental man-
agement in all its operations.The company shall focus on cus-
tomer needs and strive for sustainable development of society.

To accomplish this, we shall:
• Preserve and contribute environmental and aesthetic

values to the urban and natural landscapes.
• Produce buildings with a healthy living and working envi-

ronment.
• Work in a structured and systematic manner that leads

to continual improvements in environmental and quality
performance.

• Prevent the production and dispersal of pollutants and
promote resource conservation and closed cycles.

• Actively contribute to development of knowledge and
raise employee awareness of quality and environmental
issues.

• Apply environmental standards that are more rigorous
than existing legal requirements.

QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVES

• We shall focus on quality, the environment and ethics so
that every customer and project is a good reference.

• Our projects shall be structured, implemented and man-
aged so as to minimise energy consumption and its
impact on the environment.

• We shall reduce the volume and hazardousness of waste.
• We shall use materials and methods that reduce envi-

ronmental impact and contribute to a healthy indoor and
working environment.

At the Bo01 housing fair in Malmö, JM built homes with solar panels and
remote-controlled temperature adjustment.



Environmental issues are included as a natural part of JM’s
activities, from land acquisition to completed building and
on to management and demolition. Opportunities to
affect the environment of the future are greatest, however,
at the planning stage of a project. In this phase the environ-
mental impact a building or structure will have during its
total life cycle is determined. Land development is out-
lined. Design and future energy consumption are decided.
Building materials and technical solutions are chosen, and
suppliers, contractors and consultants are procured. The
decisions made during this period can have repercussions
for a long time, sometimes for up to 50 years.

In order to identify the environmental impact of differ-
ent operations a number of environmental reviews have
been completed in recent years. These provide the basis for
improved control of projects towards reduced environmen-
tal impact. The key issues from an environmental viewpoint
– the significant environmental aspects – have been identi-
fied as energy consumption during the building’s period in
use, the use of certain building materials, handling of
building waste, the use of transports and machinery and
handling contaminated land.

New environmental solutions to these aspects are tested
and evaluated in JM’s various leading-edge projects. Solu-
tions which gain a positive evaluation then become general
environmental requirements. 

TARGETS AND ACTION PROGRAMME

Environmental management is based on JM’s quality and
environmental policy and the environmental objectives.
Based on these each area of operation has drawn up its
own quality and environmental programme which includes
timetabled and quantifiable environmental targets as well
as practical environmental activities. These programmes
are now adopted and prioritised in all operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL TRAINING

Employee commitment is vital for successful integration
of environmental activities. JM therefore gives all its
employees in-depth environmental training. This training
programme focuses on environmental issues specific to
the industry and on the methods JM has developed for its
environmental work. All employees within JM’s core busi-
nesses have completed this training.

CHOICE OF MATERIALS

For several years, JM has been conducting an internal eval-
uation of building materials in order to avoid products
with a significant negative environmental impact. JM was
first in the industry to develop this type of control of
building materials. Materials which are not approved and
are regarded as hazardous to health or the environment
may not be used in the company. These assessments exam-

JM’s environmental impact
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ine everything from levels of substances hazardous to
health and the environment and impact on the indoor cli-
mate, to how the material can be recycled when discarded.
Transport and working environment risks are also included
in the assessment. This routine provides a good control
and valuable documentation of materials used in JM’s
buildings. This information is then given to the tenants
and owners in a special binder for each building.

CONTRACTUAL REQUIREMENTS

JM has a major indirect environmental impact via external
partners participating in projects. Stricter environmental
demands will be made on suppliers, contractors and con-
sultants. These requirements include routines for product
selection, waste management, work preparation, inspec-
tions, nonconformance and documentation. These measures
are important for improving environmental performance
and minimising environmental impact in the projects. Spe-

cial assessments are also made of partners to framework
agreements, such as the environmental impact from trans-
portation. Suppliers that fail to meet these requirements
must take further action before an agreement can be signed.

ECO-COMPLIANT HOMES WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY

JM has placed high demands on eco-compliance of housing
for several years. These requirements, which are sum-
marised in the document “Eco-compliant Housing” have
been reviewed over the years on the basis of the significant
environmental aspects and this has led, among other
things, to a greater focus on energy issues. Out of a total of
29 mandatory environmental measures, ten relate to
choice of energy and energy efficiency, for example:
• No direct electric heating
• Only low-energy fittings for general lighting
• Low-energy extractor fans
• Low-flow taps and low-flushing toilets
• Low-energy refrigerators, freezers, washing machines

and dishwashers.

ECO-COMPLIANT PRODUCTION

During the production phase the use of machinery, trans-
portation and waste management are key environmental
issues. JM’s operational control system has requirements
and advice on how production can be made eco-compliant.
In some large projects in Stockholm successful environ-
mental adjustments have been made in addition to those
normally applied, for example at Liljeholmskajen and
Essinge Udde. Use of transport, resource consumption and
costs have been reduced by reusing concrete from demol-
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ished buildings on site as qualified road-building material.
Through a special land environment group and after sev-

eral years’ experience in developing old industrial sites, JM
has unique competence and experience of environmentally
correct handling of contaminated land and buildings. In
order to facilitate management of normal building waste
JM has developed a nomenclature for building waste in co-
operation with a waste management contractor. New rou-
tines have been developed for planning and follow-up of
on-site sorting as well as sorting guides – with minimum
requirements for sorting level – which can be used on the
site. Special training programmes on new legal require-
ments and conditions have also been arranged.

FOLLOW-UP

Internal audits are conducted to follow-up quality and
environmental work in JM’s operations. Each region within
JM has its own internal auditors who are involved in plan-
ning and implementation of follow-up. The internal audi-

tors have different backgrounds in the company which
makes them key providers of knowledge.

Work on audits is intended to provide training in and
check adherence to the requirements in the operational
control systems. The results of the audits provide good
material on which to ensure continual improvements in
operations and therefore improve environmental perform-
ance in the company as a whole. The results are collated
and presented at the quality and environmental councils
where decisions on any remedial action are made.

In the collection of key environmental indicators at each
project, a method JM has been using for several years to fol-
low-up environmental activities, the emphasis in 2001 was
on energy. Each project reports its estimated energy
requirement per sq.m. The energy target for JM’s housing is
“Our newly produced housing’s total energy requirements
shall be reduced each year and by 2005 be less than 110
kWh/sq.m. (usable floor area, UFA) for a normal home”.

The key environmental indicators also follow up waste
management and make comparisons with set requirements
and targets. The target for 2001 was to reduce landfilled
waste by 20% by 2005. This target will be increased in
2002 to halving landfilled waste by 2005.
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HEATING CONSUMPTION, OFFICES

Number

Products in the environmental database 1,600

Environmentally assessed framework agreement partners 59

Audits completed within
Residential Project Development, 2001 110 

FACTS
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In the Liljeholmskajen project in south Stockholm concrete from demolished buildings is used as road-building material.This allows transport, resource consump-
tion and costs to be reduced.



The focus on project development is making different
demands on employee competence than those of a pure-
play construction or property company. There are clear
links between educational levels and ability to find cre-
ative solutions, productivity and growth in value. The aim
is therefore to further raise the level of competence in the
company, partly through further education of existing
employees and partly by recruiting university graduates.

PERSONNEL STRUCTURE

As a result of the focus on project development the pro-
portion of salaried employees has risen. Of JM’s salaried
employees, 20% have a university education and one-third
are women. In addition to aiming to raise the level of edu-
cation there is also an ambition to increase the proportion
of women employees.

COMPETENCE DEVELOPMENT

The new direction also requires a new way of working. The
focus is on the customer. So that employees will under-
stand the project development process and the financial
implications on operations, just over 200 employees went
on a business studies course.

Another important undertaking was a site manager
training programme for about 200 people. The intention is
to develop broader leadership.

FOCUS ON PREVENTIVE HEALTH CARE

JM attaches great importance to preventive health care and
works actively with preventive efforts to avoid industrial
injuries. In addition to regular company health care most

employees have access to treatment from a physiotherapist
or naprapath as well as training in stress management.

The preventive health care concept, which was first
implemented among 325 wage-earners, has been success-
fully introduced to other parts of the Group. This concept
includes warming up exercises in working hours, paid
physical training outside working hours and treatment
from a naprapath on site. The employees who participated
in this programme also took part in a medical study where
they were compared with workers at sites without a pre-
ventive health care programme. The study showed both a
reduction in industrial injuries and that JM’s employees
were in far better physical shape.

JM’s ultimate aim is to achieve zero cases of both strain-
related injury and accidents.

BENEFITS

By providing some compensation for loss of income during
parental leave, JM makes it easier for its employees to take
parental leave. The intention is to increase equal opportu-
nity and encourage employees to make the most of the
important experience of being a parent.

JM launched a new pension plan in 2001, JM 10 Plus,
with improved pension and insurance terms. Hopefully
this will help to strengthen JM’s image as the industry’s
most attractive employer. JM 10 Plus is intended for
employees with a pensionable annual salary of more than
ten base amounts (SEK 369,000) but better terms will also
be offered to other employees.

JM will also offer its employees a competence insur-
ance. This means that the employee puts part of his or her

Competence development among JM employees
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Facts replace philosophies

Greger Sandström, who is an industrial doctoral student at JM,
started his employment in May 2000 when he attended the trainee
programme.Something he now finds really useful in his work.

“At the trainee programme I attended a number of courses and
was able to rotate between different regions and working duties,
which meant that I made a lot of contacts within the company.”

Greger is now one of three young people with a research
position at JM.He is studying for a doctorate in “The home of to-
morrow”.This research is being conducted under the auspices of
the School of Architecture at the Royal Institute of Technology
(KTH),which contributes with both examiners and supervisors.

As a recent graduate and innovative thinker, Greger is under-
taking the major task of collecting facts about and evaluating
what technical functions consumers want in their homes.These
functions will eventually exist, as standard or an optional extra in
JM’s homes.This work is part of the company’s efforts to put the
customer first throughout its operations.Greger says:

“IT thinking is starting to come down to a more sensible level
where you really find out which applications offer the greatest
customer benefit and what is perceived to be an advantage in
day-to-day life. I am now conducting in-depth interviews about
their expectations with people who have not yet moved into
their homes. Once they have moved in we will conduct even
more extensive in-depth interviews and surveys.Then we will
discover, among other things, what functions they would wish to
see added in the future.”

As well as providing attractive living conditions, in this way JM
can contribute with homes that are one step ahead of increas-
ingly stringent legal requirements, in energy saving for example.
Something that benefits both the individual consumer and the
community at large.

monthly salary into an insurance while the company con-
tributes an equal amount. After saving for some time,
employees can take paid leave to study, for example.

CONTACTS WITH UNIVERSITIES

JM co-operates actively with several institutes of technology in
order to strengthen the Group’s recruitment base. JM’s own
employees give lectures at various engineering courses and
maintain a continuous dialogue with the universities on the con-
tent of various programmes. JM also participates in job fairs as
well as offering opportunities for thesis work and field studies.

REWARD SYSTEMS AND OPTIONS PROGRAMME

JM has had a commission and bonus system for employees
with profit responsibility for many years. Starting at year-
end 2001 the annual amount paid may not exceed eight
months’ salary.

In order to encourage long-term and personal involve-
ment in JM all employees in Sweden were invited to sub-
scribe to stock options in the company. 16% accepted the
offer. Each option carries entitlement to subscribe for one
share in the period 3 May 2004 until 30 June 2004 for SEK
271.50.
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JM’s Board of Directors consists of seven members, with-
out deputies, who are elected by the Annual General
Meeting, and two members with two deputies who are
appointed by the employee organisations. The President is
a regular member of the Board. Other company staff
attend meetings of the Board to deliver presentations.

According to the Board’s procedures an annual statu-
tory meeting is held and five regular meetings. At two of
these meetings, the company’s auditors present a report.

The work of the Board concentrates on strategic issues,
such as operating focus, finance and financial position,
control and efficiency. The Board’s meetings alternate
between the locations where operations are conducted and
are normally followed by a field trip to an ongoing project.

The Chairman of the Board leads the work of the Board
and follows the development of the company’s operations.
Within the framework of the Board’s decisions, the President
manages operations and keeps the Chairman of the Board
continuously informed about significant business events.

The President leads the work of Executive Management
and makes decisions after consultations with its members.
Executive Management comprises all heads of business

units and heads of Group staffs. Executive Management
meets when convened, although at least once a month.

Nominations of Board members prior to election at an
Annual General Meeting are made through a Nomination
Committee comprising representatives for the major
shareholders. The Nomination Committee for the 2002
Annual General Meeting comprises: AMF Pension (Tor
Marthin), Nordea’s mutual funds (Thomas Ehlin), Robur
(Marianne Nilsson) and SEB Fonder (Björn Lind). Proposed
nominations to the Board are specified in the notice of the
Annual General Meeting.

Remuneration to Board members is decided by the
Annual General Meeting based on proposals from the
Nomination Committee.

The Board decides, based on a proposal by the Chair-
man, salary and bonus for the company’s President.
Salaries and bonus for other people in Executive Manage-
ment are decided by the Chairman of the Board based on a
proposal by the President.

The ongoing convertibles and stock options programmes
were decided by the Annual General Meeting in 1999 and
2001 respectively.

The work of the Board
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In Östberga, south of Stockholm,
JM is building houses with rendered
facades and oak fittings. High
windows and generous reception
rooms are other characteristics.
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The Board of Directors and the President of JM AB (publ)
hereby submit the Annual Report and consolidated finan-
cial statements for 2001.

GROUP

SUMMARY

The JM Group showed very positive development in 2001.
Net sales, profit and margins developed as anticipated in
JM’s still favourable housing market. Demand and prices
for JM’s housing remained at a flatter but still satisfactory
level in all prioritised markets. A strong increase in net
sales and profit was noted in international operations in
the past year. 

Sales of fully developed properties proceeded as
planned and additional sales of SEK 835m were completed
in 2002. Leases in JM’s portfolio are being renegotiated at
continued higher levels compared with the preceding
rental period.

NET SALES AND EARNINGS

Net sales for the year amounted to SEK 8,642m compared
with SEK 6,849m in 2000.

The Group’s profit after financial items amounted to
SEK 1,629m compared with SEK 1,209m in the previous
year. Gains from the sale of fully developed management
properties are included with SEK 928m (535).

Net financial items weakened by SEK 26m and
amounted to SEK –335m (–309).

Profit after tax amounted to SEK 1,144m (845). Earn-
ings were charged with tax of SEK 485m (364).

Earnings after tax amounted to SEK 36.30 (25.40) per
share. Return on equity amounted to 30% (24). In the past
five calendar years, return has averaged 19%. The Group’s
return target over a business cycle is 15%.

THE GROUP’S OBJECTIVES

The objectives for its operations adopted by JM in autumn
2000 remain unchanged as follows:
• To achieve an annual production start of 4,500 residen-

tial units by 2003.
• The project development margin will exceed 12%.
• The portfolio of fully developed management properties

will be reduced to a book value of SEK 2.0 billion.
• A high rate of turnover will be maintained in the portfo-

lio of fully developed management properties.

ORGANISATION

In 2001, adjustment of the organisation continued in order
to meet JM’s strategic focus and financial targets.

Project development is conducted within JM Residen-
tial, JM Commercial and JM International. Most of the
Group’s management properties are placed in JM Com-
mercial. Production resources in Stockholm, which are
primarily used for JM’s own project development, are
placed in JM Production.

Starting in 2002, financial reporting will be based on the
adjusted organisation. Residential project development
will continue to be reported separately for Stockholm and
the rest of Sweden.

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT OPERATIONS

Project development of residential and commercial properties
is JM’s core business. Undeveloped and developed land is
acquired and transformed through construction, conversion
or extension into attractive living and working environments.

The satisfactory trend for project development contin-
ued with profit growth of 50% to SEK 957m (637). The
margin in these operations amounted to 11.8% (10.3) in
2001. This margin can fluctuate over the quarters. The
target is a margin of over 12%.

The portfolio of building rights corresponds to 27,000
residential units which is the same level as at year-end
2000. Approximately 6,500 of these building rights are
available through conditional acquisition where an esti-
mated future payment of about SEK 1,000m has not yet
been made. The number of housing starts during the year
was 2,900 (3,000). Demand for JM’s housing is good and
the number of reservations remains high. The number of
contracts exchanged during the year rose to 2,255 (1,800).
Both housing starts and sales volume can vary over time
depending on the dates for project starts and the size of
individual projects. 

The somewhat uncertain business climate in Sweden has
led JM to raise its requirements for the proportion of
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reservations before building starts. The number of sold
and started residential units is expected to increase signif-
icantly in 2002, mainly in the second half of the year. 

Commercial project development continues to be con-
ducted with considerable caution. 

ORDER BOOKINGS AND BACKLOG

The order backlog at year-end 2001 was SEK 7,546m
(6,603). Order bookings during the period amounted to
SEK 8,811m (8,774). Most of the order backlog relates to
residential units.

INVESTMENTS IN DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

During the year land was acquired for 600 residential units
in Hägernäs, Täby, for SEK 335m. The plan proposal con-
tains attractive homes close to water with some office space.

Other major acquisitions during the year included a
large area of land for just over 150 residential units in
Linköping, several areas in central Gothenburg for approx-
imately 600 residential units, office properties on Lidingö
for development into tenant-owned apartments (SEK
139m) and 13,000 sq.m. of residential building rights in
Östermalm, Stockholm (SEK 130m).

At the end of 2001, SEK 125m was paid for JM’s share of
the Kranen area, Malmö.

Total acquisitions of development properties in 2001
amounted to SEK 1,823m (1,469). Net investments in
development properties amounted to SEK 1,155m (632).
The portfolio subsequently amounts to SEK 4,048m
(3,105). These holdings are a prerequisite for JM’s residen-
tial project development.

INVESTMENTS IN COMMERCIAL PROJECTS

In the third quarter JM completed another 10,000 sq.m. of
office space in Frösunda, Solna. All office space is leased at
rates of SEK 2,600–2,800 per sq.m. to tenants which
include Billerud, Agresso and Vattenfall. As stated in “Sig-
nificant events after the end of the period”, this office
property was sold in January 2002.

A new 12,000 sq.m. office property overlooking Brunns-
viken is being built along the Bergshamra link road. In addi-
tion, a 12,000 sq.m. remodelling project is under way in the
Barnängen block of Södermalm. Negotiations are under
way with several prospective tenants for these offices.

No new project starts have taken place in the last six months.

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

Investments in machinery and equipment amounted to
SEK 33m (38).

MARKET

stockholm res ident ial

Housing demand in Stockholm remained high despite a
weaker business climate with greater uncertainty in the
economy. Stockholm’s population increased by about
16,000 people in 2001 while new housing production was
relatively low. This has led to prices remaining at a high
level. There are no indications of a major change between
supply and demand in the next few years.

stockholm commercial

The market for commercial properties in Sweden was char-
acterised by a downturn in 2001. Rent increases levelled
out in major metropolitan areas and regional centres. In
Stockholm, top rents in new leases fell by approximately
15% while rents in renegotiated leases rose by an average of
10–12%. This subdued rental market was mainly due to the
slowdown in economic growth.

sweden

Following some hesitance in the housing market in the
autumn, demand is now good once again. Prices have sta-
bilised and depend more on the attractiveness of the indi-
vidual project than the general state of the market.

norway  

Norway is JM’s largest and most expansive international mar-
ket where the main business is residential project develop-
ment. Housing demand was strong in the first half of the year.
After a slightly hesitant market in the autumn, demand rose
again towards year-end. Housing prices rose slightly in 2001.

denmark  

JM has been conducting project development in Denmark
since 1999. Operations include residential development in
Copenhagen and neighbouring municipalities. Sales of
units in JM’s residential projects continue to go well and
demand is favourable.
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belg ium  

The Group’s project development in Brussels focuses on
both residential units and commercial premises. Demand
for modern offices and high-standard homes continues to
rise in the Brussels region related to the city’s role as the
administrative centre of the EU.

BUILDING RIGHTS PORTFOLIO

At year-end 2001 JM held a total of approximately 27,000
(27,000) building rights for residential units divided
among the business units as follows:

Number of building rights 2001

Stockholm Residential 12,600

Sweden 9,200

International 5,200

Total 27,000

In addition, the Stockholm Commercial business unit
holds building rights for development of future commer-
cial space corresponding to approximately 200,000 sq.m.
in preferred locations in Greater Stockholm. Some of the
commercial building rights may be converted into building
rights for residential units.

MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

JM’s portfolio of fully developed management properties is
being reduced according to plan. The remaining portfolio
will be subject to a high rate of turnover. 

In 2001 the operating surplus in property management
was SEK 458m (483). This level could be maintained
despite ongoing sales due to higher rents in renegotiated
leases and new rental revenues from properties completed
and let during the year. Properties were sold for a total of
SEK 4,074m (2,213) during the year with a capital gain of
SEK 928m (535).

Investments in existing management properties totalled
SEK 848m (979), of which SEK 202m pertains to proper-
ties sold during the year. In addition, management proper-
ties were acquired for SEK 279m (59), of which SEK 272m
was included in the sale of assisted-living properties to
Kungsleden.

JM’s portfolio of management properties was further
concentrated through sales of properties outside the
Stockholm area. Today, the portfolio is concentrated to
Stockholm’s inner city, Solna and Danderyd and comprises
352,000 sq.m. (586,000).

Vacancies in JM’s portfolio of fully developed manage-
ment properties correspond to 7% (2) of annual rents and
6% (2) of space. The higher vacancies are mainly explained
by the sale of properties with very low vacancies but also
by longer lead times from termination to reletting.

SALES OF MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

In total, JM sold properties for approximately SEK 4 billion
in 2001 with a realised capital gain of SEK 928m. In the
fourth quarter a group of assisted living properties was
sold to Kungsleden for SEK 1,119m with a capital gain of
SEK 120m. Major deals earlier in the year included the sale
of two groups of properties to Kungsleden (SEK 1,498m)
and the sale of Lidingö Centrumfastigheter (SEK 465m)
and the properties Lagern 12 and 13 in the area around
Vasagatan (SEK 360m). 

MARKET VALUES OF JM’S MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES

In a valuation performed in co-operation with external
consultants, the market value of JM’s portfolio of manage-
ment properties at year-end 2001 was estimated at SEK
6,371m (9,619). The corresponding book value amounted
to SEK 4,717m (6,445). The surplus value thus amounts to
SEK 1.7 billion (3.2). A breakdown of values for each cate-
gory is as follows:

SEKm Book value Market value

Fully developed properties 3,666 5,152

Properties under development 405 446

Properties for further development 646 773

Total 4,717 6,371

FINANCE OPERATIONS

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS

Net financial items showed a deficit of SEK 335m (–309), a
decline of SEK 26m compared with the previous year. Cap-
italised interest expenses pertaining to commercial project
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development amounted to SEK 11m (41). A somewhat
lower average interest rate and average loans made a posi-
tive contribution to net financial items. In the previous
year a SEK 10m capital gain was included in net financial
items from the sale of shares in OM Gruppen. There was no
similar item in 2001.

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

At year-end 2001 JM’s interest-bearing net debt amounted
to SEK 5,220m (5,117).

The total interest-bearing loans at the end of 2001
amounted to SEK 5,930m (5,610), of which the PRI liabil-
ity accounted for SEK 409m (374). The average interest-
bearing debt was marginally lower in 2001 than in the pre-
vious year.

At 31 December 2001, the average rate of interest on
the total interest-bearing loan stock was 5.6% (5.8). The
average fixed interest period for the Group’s interest-bear-
ing debt excluding the PRI liability was 1.8 years (1.6).

The debt/equity ratio at year-end 2001 was 1.4 (1.4).

CASH FLOW

Cash flow from operating activities, which includes
acquisition and sale of properties, amounted to SEK
1,111m (652). Cash flow for the year amounted to SEK
206m (56). This improvement was mainly due to SEK
188m increase in cash flow from project development
operations and SEK 925m in increased sales of fully devel-
oped properties. 

LIQUIDITY

The Group’s disposable liquid assets amounted to SEK
1,754m (2,182) at 31 December 2001. Aside from liquid
assets of SEK 652m (446) this included unutilised bank
overdraft facilities and credit lines for a total of SEK
1,102m (1,736).

OTHER

TAX

The total tax expense amounted to SEK 485m (364), of
which current tax accounted for SEK 413m (326) and
deferred tax for SEK 72m (38).

Property tax, which is treated as an operating expense, was
charged against earnings in the amount of SEK 45m (58).

KEY RATIOS

Return before tax on capital employed amounted to 20.8%
(16.7).

Return on equity after tax amounted to SEK 30.1%
(24.4).

The interest coverage ratio, including property sales,
amounted to 5.5 times (4.6) and 2.9 times (3.0) excluding
property sales.

The visible equity ratio amounted to 30% (31).

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2001
amounted to SEK 3,823m (3,770), divided between
restricted equity of SEK 1,822m (1,761) and unrestricted
equity of SEK 2,001m (2,009).

PERSONNEL

The number of employees in the Group totalled 2,567
(2,265) at year-end 2001. The number of salaried employ-
ees was 1,182 (1,042) and the number of wage-earners was
1,385 (1,223).

The average number of employees during the year was
2,502 (2,163), of whom 253 (217) were employed outside
Sweden. Of total employees, 2,182 (1,910) were men and
320 (253) were women.

Wages, salaries and social security expenses were paid
in the amount of SEK 1,152m (928), of which social secu-
rity expenses accounted for SEK 362m (290).

THE WORK OF THE BOARD IN 2001

In the period until the 2001 Annual General Meeting, JM’s
Board of Directors comprised six members, elected by the
Annual General Meeting held on 27 April 2000, and two
employee representatives with two deputies. At the
Annual General Meeting held on 24 April 2001 it was
decided that the Board should comprise seven regular
Board members as well as two employee representatives
with two deputies appointed by the trade unions. Since
after a short period one member of the Board resigned
from his position at his own request, the Board comprised
six regular members until the Extraordinary General
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Meeting on 17 October 2001 when a new Board member
was elected. The President is a regular Board member.

During the year, the Board held one statutory meeting,
five regular meetings and three extra meetings.

PARENT COMPANY

OPERATIONS

The Parent Company’s core business is project develop-
ment of residential and commercial properties.

NET SALES AND EARNINGS

The Parent Company’s net sales amounted to SEK 6,850m
(5,774). 

The Parent Company’s profit before appropriations and
tax amounted to SEK 1,107m (1,075) for the period.

INVESTMENTS

The Parent Company’s investments in management proper-
ties amounted to SEK 602m (557).

PERSONNEL

The average number of employees was 2,064 (1,780), of
whom 1,792 (1,564) were men and 272 (216) women.
Wages, salaries and social security expenses totalled SEK
959m (780). A specification of the number of employees
and wages and salaries is provided in the notes to the finan-
cial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Over time, the dividend should reflect the total profit
trend in operations. The average dividend over a business
cycle should correspond to 50% of consolidated profit
after tax. Gains on the sale of properties are seen as a nat-
ural part of JM’s project development and are included in
the calculation of dividends. Over the past five years the
average dividend has been approximately 40%.

SHARE BUY-BACK PROGRAMME

The Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2001 gave the
Board a mandate to buy back a maximum of 10% of the
company’s shares. In the period May–September, a total of
3,324,100 shares were repurchased for a total of SEK

775m at an average price of SEK 233. The repurchased
shares correspond to 10% of the total number of shares
outstanding. At an extraordinary general meeting on 17
October 2001 it was decided to eliminate the 3,324,100
shares repurchased by the company through cancellation,
thus allowing additional buy-backs under the mandate
from the Annual General Meeting in April 2001. This
mandate entitles the Board to repurchase shares so that
the company at any given time holds a maximum of 10% of
the shares in the company. An additional 300,000 shares
were repurchased at the end of December in accordance
with the mandate at a price of SEK 220 per share. In 2001,
JM thus transferred a total of SEK 1,173m to shareholders
in the form of dividends and buy-back of shares.

In order to be able to obtain a suitable capital structure
at any given time, the Board has decided to propose that
the Annual General Meeting on 18 April 2002 gives the
Board a renewed mandate to repurchase up to 10% of the
company’s shares.

STOCK OPTIONS AND EMPLOYEE CONVERTIBLES

At the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2001 it was
decided to offer present and future employees in the JM
Group in Sweden a subscription programme of 600,000
stock options. Present employees subscribed for 374,900
stock options during the year.

The number of shares increased during the year by
372,463 through conversion of employee convertibles. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE PERIOD

At the end of January 2002, the newly developed office
property Hilton 4 in Frösunda, Solna, was sold to the Ger-
man fund manager Internationales Immobilien-Institut for
SEK 280m with a capital gain of SEK 58m.

In mid-February 2002, the newly developed office prop-
erty Hilton 1 in Frösunda, Solna, was sold to the German
fund manager Deutsche Grundbesitz Investment GmbH
(DGI) for SEK 55m with a capital gain of SEK 112m.

In January 2002 a decision was made to phase out JM’s
operations in Karlstad since these are not meeting JM’s
margin requirements and in the foreseeable future JM
does not expect the market for residential project develop-
ment to change.

58 – BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001



INCOME STATEMENT – 59

Income statement

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

SEKm Note 2001 2000 2001 2000

Net sales 1,2,3 8,642 6,849 6,850 5,774

Costs for production and management 2 –7,022 –5,519 –5,607 –4,679

Gross profit 1,620 1,330 1,243 1,095

Selling and administrative expenses 2 –545 –455 –462 –394

Gains on the sale of operations – 30 – 30

Gains on the sale of properties 2,4 928 535 475 579

Write-downs of properties 2 –39 – –39 – 

Items affecting comparability – 78 – 73

Operating profit 2 1,964 1,518 1,217 1,383

Result from financial items

Result from group companies 5 – – 220 –28

Result from other financial fixed assets 6 5 13 39 50

Result from financial current assets 7 21 17 61 42

Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items 8 –361 –339 –430 –372

Profit after financial items 1,629 1,209 1,107 1,075

Appropriations in the Parent Company 9 –107 –134

Tax on profit for the year 10 –485 –364 –285 –257

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,144 845 715 684

Earnings per share before dilution (SEK) 22 36.30 25.40

Earnings per share after dilution (SEK) 22 36.10 25.10

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001

CONSOLIDATED NET SALES BY BUSINESS UNIT CONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROFIT BY BUSINESS UNIT

Stockholm Residential, 37% (34)

Stockholm Commercial, 21% (23)

Sweden, 21% (25)

Business Development/Real Estate, 4% (7)

International, 17% (11)

Stockholm Residential, 27% (25)

Stockholm Commercial, 11% (10)

Sweden, 11% (9)

Business Development/Real Estate, 45% (51)

International, 6% (5)
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Balance sheet

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

SEKm Note 31 Dec 2001 31 Dec 2000 31 Dec 2001 31 Dec 2000

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill 11 81 82 – –

Tangible fixed assets

Operating properties 12 – 74 – 18

Machinery and equipment 13 49 49 33 35

49 123 33 53

Financial fixed assets 14

Participations in group companies – – 1,830 2,070

Receivables from group companies – – 679 806

Participations in associated companies 10 9 10 9

Receivables from associated companies – – 125 –

Other securities held as fixed assets 6 2 5 2

Other long-term receivables 64 38 35 18

Deferred tax assets 25 – – 14 31

80 49 2,698 2,936

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 210 254 2,731 2,989

Current assets

Buildings and land 15 4,717 6,445 2,579 3,683

Development properties 16 4,048 3,105 2,726 2,012

Participations in tenant-owner 
co-operatives and similar 17 92 51 83 36

Current receivables

Accounts receivable, trade 857 566 724 451

Receivables from group companies – – 883 834

Recognised income less progress billings 18 966 917 755 837

Other current receivables 19 1,331 276 1,222 182

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 20 15 37 3 19

3,169 1,796 3,587 2,323

Liquid assets 652 446 528 327

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 12,678 11,843 9,503 8,381

TOTAL ASSETS 21 12,888 12,097 12,234 11,370
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY

SEKm Note 31 Dec 2001 31 Dec 2000 31 Dec 2001 31 Dec 2000

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 121 133 121 133

Restricted reserves/statutory reserve 1,701 1,628 743 687

Restricted shareholders’ equity 1,822 1,761 864 820

Unrestricted reserves/profit carried forward 857 1,164 527 1,002

Net profit for the year 1,144 845 715 684

Unrestricted equity 2,001 2,009 1,242 1,686

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 22 3,823 3,770 2,106 2,506

Untaxed reserves in the Parent Company 23 937 830

Provisions

Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 24 411 375 409 375

Provisions for taxes 25 472 425 12 34

Other provisions 26 132 136 66 80

1,015 936 487 489

Liabilities 27, 33

Liabilities to credit institutions 28, 29 5,450 5,093 4,985 4,428

Accounts payable, trade 575 421 409 332

Liabilities to group companies – – 1,518 1,105

Income tax liability 358 371 198 317

Progress billings in excess of recognised income 30 1,073 673 1,095 673

Other liabilities 31 128 403 111 368

Accrued expenses and deferred income 32 466 430 388 322

8,050 7,391 8,704 7,545

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12,888 12,097 12,234 11,370

PLEDGED ASSETS

Pledges and equivalent collateral to secure 
own liabilities and provisions 33 722 3,971 360 2,724

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33 3,309 2,367 4,460 2,304

BALANCE SHEET – 61

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS

Fixed assets, 2% (2)

Management properties, 37% (53)

Development properties, 31% (26)

Liquid assets, 5% (4)

Other current assets, 25% (15)

CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Shareholders' equity, 30% (31)

Provisions, 8% (8)

Interest-bearing liabilities, 43% (43)

Non-interest bearing liabilities, 19% (18)
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Cash flow statement

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

SEKm Note 2001 2000 2001 2000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit before financial items 
(excl. SPP surplus) 1,964 1,440 1,217 1,310

Depreciation and write-downs 79 108 59 89

Other items with no effect on cash flow 36 –880 –573 –469 –659

1,163 975 807 740

Interest received 24 20 98 85

Dividends received 0 22 527 –11

Interest paid and other financial expenses –348 –327 –395 –353

Paid tax –435* –31 –388 0

404 659 649 461

Investments in development properties, etc. 37 –2,056 –1,535 –1,431 –646

Transfer (sale) of development properties, etc. 38 779 951 365 652

Increase/decrease in accounts receivable, trade –331 172 –335 177

Increase/decrease in other current receivables, etc. 387 –380 374 –60

Increase/decrease in accounts payable, trade 155 –45 77 –42

Increase/decrease in other current operating liabilities –14 –146 462 –132

Cash flow before investments and sales of 
management properties –676 –324 161 410

Investments in management properties, etc. 39 –1,116 –1,002 –602 –557

Sales of management properties, etc. 40 2,903** 1,978 1,375 1,794

Cash flow from operating activities 1,111 652 934 1,647

INVESTING ACTIVITIES, OTHER

Investments in intangible fixed assets –5 – – – 

Investments in tangible fixed assets 
(machinery and equipment) –31 –39 –19 –33

Sale of fixed assets (machinery and equipment) 6 77 1 62

Investments in subsidiaries – – –527 –946

Sale of subsidiaries – – 461 1

Liquid assets taken over in connection with mergers – – – 106

Change in associated companies, other shares
and participations –6 2 –4 0

Cash flow from investing activities, other –36 40 –88 –810

* Of which, SEK 314m pertains to tax on profit for the previous year.

** Additional proceeds from completed property sales of approximately SEK 900m will be received in the second quarter of 2002.
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY

SEKm 2001 2000 2001 2000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase of shares and remuneration 
for options, net –833 – –829 – 

Loans raised 2,418 1,328 2,300 1,210

Amortisation of loans –2,098 –1,752 –1,759 –1,654

Change in financial fixed assets –24 12 –14 35

Group contributions paid – – –11 –1

Dividends paid –332 –224 –332 –224

Cash flow from financing activities –869 –636 –645 –634

Total cash flow for the year 206 56 201 203

Liquid assets, 1 January 446 390 327 124

Liquid assets, 31 December 652 446 528 327

INTEREST-BEARING NET DEBT

Interest-bearing liabilities 5,930 5,610 7,000 5,998

Liquid assets –652 –446 –528 –327

Interest-bearing receivables –58 –47 –708 –1,653

Interest-bearing net debt, 31 December 5,220 5,117 5,764 4,018

Cash flow statement, continued

Cash flow from operating activities improved to SEK
1,111m (652). Operating activities before interest and tax
contributed SEK 1,163m (975). This is an improvement of
SEK 188m after reversal of items with no effect on liquid
assets, of which gains on the sale of properties of SEK
928m account for a significant portion.

The year’s increased sales of management properties
improved cash flow by SEK 925m compared with the pre-
vious year. JM has a receivable from property sales of SEK
1,133m which will be paid in 2002. The reduced holdings
of management properties also led to a lower contribution
to cash flow from rental revenue of approximately SEK
25m. JM has invested in development and management
properties for approximately SEK 3,172m (2,500) includ-
ing SEK 335m for the acquisition of Täby Hägernäs.

The year’s paid tax increased by SEK 404m compared
with the previous year. Tax on profit for the year increased
the Group’s tax liability and approximately SEK 238m was
paid at the beginning of 2002.

The increased sales in JM have led to an increase in both
accounts receivable and accounts payable with a negative
net effect of approximately SEK 170m. Current receiv-
ables and liabilities had a total positive impact on cash
flow of SEK 197m.

Part of the improved cash flow from operating activities
was used for dividends to shareholders, SEK 332m, repur-
chase of shares with SEK 841m. Of the newly raised loans,
SEK 1,260m comprises short-term loans, of which SEK
860m was amortised during the year.

During the year cash flow for each quarter fluctuated
substantially (see table on page 81). During the quarters
JM sold large property portfolios with postponed pay-
ment. The net effect, the sales proceeds minus receivable,
for each quarter affected cash flow by approximately SEK
200m, SEK 1,260m, SEK 520m and SEK 867m. Cash flow
was affected by repurchases in the second to fourth quar-
ters by SEK 598m, SEK 177m and SEK 66m respectively
and by a dividend of SEK 332m in the second quarter.
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Accounting principles
The accounting principles applied conform with the recommendations of
the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council. Adaptations have
mainly been made in accordance with the Swedish Construction Federa-
tion’s industry comments.The accounting and valuation principles for the
Group are unchanged compared with the previous year with the excep-
tion of application of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Coun-
cil’s recommendation no.10 as set out below.

Changes
Application of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’s new
recommendation no.10 Contractors and similar assignments means that
the settlement balance which arises as the difference between recog-
nised project revenue and the invoiced amount in each individual project
is reported gross in the balance sheet. Previously the settlement balance
was only reported net. Comparative figures have been changed in a cor-
responding manner.Gross accounting means that total assets increase in
the accounts and the equity ratio falls.For the full year 2000 the reported
equity ratio thus decreased from the earlier 33% to 31%.

Since deferred tax has already previously been reported in the consol-
idated financial statements, the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council’s new recommendation no. 9 Income Taxes does not affect the
Group’s earnings and position. In the Parent Company the new recom-
mendation led to a change in accounting principle and comparative fig-
ures have been adjusted.The effect on the Parent Company’s earnings
and financial position is specified in Note 22.

Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council recommendation 96:1.The
consolidated financial statements include those companies in which the Par-
ent Company owns more than 50% of the voting rights directly or indirectly
or otherwise has a controlling interest.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared according to the
acquisition accounting method, whereby consolidated shareholders’
equity only includes the portion of subsidiaries’ equity that arose after the
acquisition.

If the consolidated acquisition value of the shares exceeds the market
value of subsidiaries’ net assets stated in the acquisition analysis, the dif-
ference is reported as consolidated goodwill.

Companies acquired during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements in an amount proportionate to the period after the
acquisition. Profit from companies sold during the year is included in the
consolidated income statement until the date of sale.

Foreign subsidiaries are regarding as operating as independent units
and their accounts have therefore been translated according to the cur-
rent method,whereby all assets,provisions and other liabilities are trans-
lated at the closing day rate and all items in the income statement are
translated at the average rate during the year.Translation differences thus
arising are transferred directly to shareholders’ equity. In the event that
hedging has been effected to balance and hedge against exchange rate dif-
ferences on a net investment in an independent subsidiary, the exchange
rate difference arising from translation of the hedging instrument is
transferred directly to shareholders’ equity.

In the event of different valuations of assets and liabilities at Group and
company level a tax effect arises which is reported as a deferred tax asset or
a deferred tax liability.See also the section on reporting income taxes.

Intra-group profits are eliminated in full. Intra-group invoicing that is included
in the acquisition value of management properties is included in net sales.

Joint ventures
Companies and other types of joint ventures that are formed in order to
carry out specific contracting assignments in collaboration with other com-
panies are included in the accounts according to the proportional method.

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are valued at the closing day
rate. In the event that hedging has been effected, the forward rate is used.

Financial instruments
Interest rate swaps are used to change the underlying financial liabilities’
interest rate structure in order to minimise risk and are reported as a
hedge of the same.

Percentage of completion method
The percentage of completion method is based on the view that an
assignment is carried out in pace with completion of the respective proj-
ect. Revenue and profit in the project are reported period by period, in
pace with recognition, providing a direct link between financial reporting
and the operations conducted during the period.

Revaluations (changes in forecasts) of anticipated project revenues
lead to adjustment of previously recognised revenue in the project con-
cerned.This adjustment is included in the net profit for the period.

Anticipated losses are charged to the profit for the period in full.
The “first krona principle” is applied,whereby income reporting is car-

ried out according to the percentage of completion method already at
the preliminary stage and continues according to the same principle until
the project is completed.

The percentage of completion method is also applied in the Parent
Company with effect from 2000, instead of as previously only in the con-
solidated financial statements.

Most of JM’s operations pertains to projects conducted by JM for sub-
sequent sale.These operations consist of projects on JM’s own land for
production of housing to be sold as apartments to tenant-owner cooper-
atives or tracts of single-family homes for sale directly to consumers.

However, reporting of revenue from JM’s own projects for future sale
must meet the following two basic criteria with regard to reliability:
• Declarations or preliminary agreements must exist to such an extent

that the building contractor, based on reliable experience, can assume
that the full provision of the end product (the future residential units)
is guaranteed.

• The building contractor’s decisions regarding the technical and finan-
cial framework, timetable and operating organisation for implementa-
tion of the project shall meet the specifications made when the client-
principal relationship was formalised through the transfer of land and
signing of a contracting agreement.

In residential project development the development property is normally
owned by JM at the start of the project.

When production starts the property is transferred by book value to
the project and included with the project’s other production costs.The
cost charged for the property therefore affects the recognised project
revenue at that time. Interest expenses are included among production
costs from the start of production.

Accounting and valuation principles
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Revenue recognition,sale of properties
Income from the sale of properties is normally recognised as revenue
when the purchase contract is signed.This assumes that the seller does
not have to carry out any essential action according to the purchase con-
tract and that the risk of cancellation is not considered to exist. Report-
ing of every property sale is examined individually. In exchange deals with
properties of a similar type and value,no revenue or profit is reported.

Management properties
With effect from year-end 2000, JM’s management properties have been
reclassified from fixed assets to current assets as a result of the Group’s
strategic decision to focus purely on project development of properties.
Such properties are not intended for long-term management. As a result of
this reclassification,management properties are not depreciated as of 2001.
Depreciation of management properties for 2000 amounted to SEK 59m.

In line with JM’s focus on project development, the Group’s manage-
ment properties are classified based on project status as follows:
• Fully developed properties
• Properties under construction
• Properties for further development

Fully developed properties refer to properties fully developed by JM and
properties to be sold without further development. During the period
until sale, the properties are managed by JM and operating profit is
reported as profit from property management.

Properties under construction are properties undergoing new construc-
tion, extension or renovation into fully developed properties. Operating
profit from rental activities during the renovation or extension period is
reported as profit from property management.

Properties for further development are properties that are currently
rented and where plans for further development are in progress.Operat-
ing profit here is also reported as profit from property management.

Production costs for JM’s fully developed properties include both
direct costs and a reasonable share of indirect costs.

Interest expenses pertaining to production to be held for property man-
agement purposes are expensed in the Parent Company.In the consolidated
financial statements, a corresponding amount is added to the acquisition
value of management properties.

Development properties
Properties, undeveloped or developed, that are intended for production
of tenant-owned apartments/owned apartments or single-family homes
and land for management properties are reported as development prop-
erties.The properties are normally sold immediately after production.
Operating profit from development properties is reported as profit from
project development operations.

Goodwill
Goodwill on the acquisition of Byggholt AS (1998) and AS Prosjektfinans
(1999) in Norway is being amortised over 10 years.The amortisation
period is motivated by the strategic and long-term nature of the acquisi-
tion and the reputation of these companies in the Norwegian market.

Machinery and equipment
The following depreciation rates are applied:
Construction machinery 10%
Computers and other equipment 20–33%
Vehicles 20%

Leasing
The Group has leasing agreements pertaining to office equipment and
company cars.These are reported as operating leases.The leasing agree-
ments are of a limited scope.

Mergers
Mergers of wholly owned subsidiaries are reported according to the con-
solidated value method,whereby all assets and liabilities are taken over at
values based on the acquisition analysis carried out in connection with the
original acquisition of the subsidiary in question.The merger difference is
taken directly to shareholders’ equity. Mergers are reported in accor-
dance with general advice from the Swedish Accounting Standards Board.

Group contributions
Group contributions paid and received in the Parent Company are
reported according to the pronouncement made by the Swedish Financial
Accounting Standards Council’s emerging issues task force, whereby
Group contributions paid and received to minimise the Group’s tax are
reported as a decrease/increase in unrestricted equity.

Tax
The Tax item in the income statement includes current and deferred
income tax for Swedish and foreign group units.The companies in the
Group are liable for tax according to existing legislation in each country.
The state income tax rate in Sweden was 28% during the year and is cal-
culated on nominal book profit with an addition for non-deductible items
and a deduction for non-taxable income and other deductions, primarily
tax-free dividends from subsidiaries.The balance sheet method is applies
to accounting for income taxes. According to this method deferred tax
liabilities and assets are reported for all temporary differences between
book and fiscal values respectively for assets and liabilities and for other
fiscal deductions or deficits.Deferred tax liabilities and tax assets are cal-
culated on the basis of the anticipated tax rate when the temporary dif-
ference is cancelled.The effects of changes in applicable tax rates are
taken to income in the period the change becomes law. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation reserve to the extent the company can-
not stipulate that it is probable that the underlying tax assets can be
realised within the foreseeable future. Calculation of deferred tax liabili-
tites for 2001 was made using a nominal tax rate.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect
method in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council’s recommendation RR7,Accounting for cash flows.The analysis
has been adapted to JM’s operations.

Since buying and selling of management and development properties are
part of JM’s ongoing activities, these are reported under the corresponding
sections of the cash flow statement.The item “transfer of development
properties” mainly refers to utilisation of properties for production and is
matched by a cash flow in the form of invoicing. Investments in and sales of
properties are reported gross without adjustment for any assumption or
redemption of loans. Buying and selling of fixed assets not pertaining to
properties are reported under “Investing activities,other”.Liquid assets are
classified as cash and bank balances and short-term financial investments
that are traded on the open market at known amounts and are associated
with only a marginal risk for value fluctuations. Liquid assets also include
short-term investments with a term of less than 3 months from the acqui-
sition date. The year’s paid tax is reported in full under operating activities.
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66 – NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 continued

2001 2000

Net sales by geographic market

Sweden 7,157 6,088

Norway 981 683

Belgium 144 22

Portugal 7 1

Denmark 353 55

Total 8,642 6,849

Notes to the financial statements
Amounts in SEKm unless otherwise stated.

NET SALES BY TYPE OF REVENUE,
BUSINESS UNIT AND GEOGRAPHIC MARKET

2001 2000

Group

Net sales by type of revenue

Recognised income 7,867 5,990

Rental revenue, development properties 133 189

Rental revenue, management properties 640 660

Interest subsidies 2 10

Total 8,642 6,849

Net sales by business unit

BU Stockholm Residential 3,471 2,421

BU Stockholm Commercial 1,973 1,626

BU Sweden 1,943 1,803

BU Business Development/Real Estate 340 550

BU International 1,485 761

Elimination –570 –312

Total 8,642 6,849

NET SALES AND OPERATING PROFIT BY BUSINESS UNIT

Business
Stockholm Stockholm Development/ Elimination/ Group

Group 2001 Residential Commercial Sweden Real Estate International Other total

Net sales 3,471 1,973 1,943 340 1,485 –570 8,642

Costs for production and management –2,837 –1,649 –1,692 –101 –1,313 570 –7,022

Selling and administrative expenses –162 –111 –102 –44 –62 –64 * –545

Gross profit 472 213 149 195 110 –64 1,075

Gains on the sale of properties 72 16 93 746 1 – 928

Write-down of properties – – –15 –24 – – –39

Operating profit 544 229 227 917 111 –64 1,964

Group 2000

Net sales 2,421 1,626 1,803 550 761 –312 6,849

Costs for production and management –1,958 –1,410 –1,595 –200 –668 312 –5,519

Selling and administrative expenses –126 –102 –84 –46 –41 –56 * –455

Gross profit 337 114 124 304 52 –56 875

Gains on the sale of operations – 30 – – – – 30

Gains on the sale of properties 41 2 14 458 20 – 535

Surplus funds from SPP – – – – – 78 78

Operating profit 378 146 138 762 72 22 1,518

* Refers to groupwide costs.

2note
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NET SALES AND PROFIT FROM PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Net sales from project development by business unit

Business
Stockholm Stockholm Development/ Elimination/ Group

Group 2001 Residential Commercial Sweden Real Estate International Other total

Net sales 3,471 1,973 1,943 340 1,485 –570 8,642

Less rental revenue from management properties – –176 – –340 – – –516

Net sales from project development 3,471 1,797 1,943 – 1,485 –570 8,126

Profit from project development by business unit

Group 2001

Gross profit 472 213 149 195 110 – 1,139

Less operating nets from management properties – –138 – –195 – – –333

Plus property sales 72 – * 93 – 1 – 166

Plus write-down of properties – – –15 – – – –15

Profit from project development 544 75 227 – 111 – 957

Net sales from project development by business unit

Group 2000

Net sales 2,421 1,626 1,803 550 761 –312 6,849

Less rental revenue from management properties – –104 – –550 – – –654

Net sales from project development 2,421 1,522 1,803 – 761 –312 6,195

Profit from project development by business unit

Group 2000

Gross profit 337 114 124 – 52 – 627

Less operating nets from management properties – –65 – – – – –65

Plus property sales 41 – * 14 – 20 – 75

Profit from project development 378 49 138 – 72 – 637

* The year’s capital gains on the sale of properties in Stockholm Commercial are not attributable to property development and are therefore not included in profit from
project development.

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001
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GAINS ON THE SALE OF PROPERTIES

Group Parent Company

Sales revenue 2001 2000 2001 2000

Management properties 3,960 2,010 2,296 1,864

Development properties 114 203 21 33

Total 4,074 2,213 2,317 1,897

Book values

Management properties 3,090 1,532 1,825 1,301

Development properties 56 146 17 17

Total 3,146 1,678 1,842 1,318

Gains

Management properties 870 478 471 563

Development properties 58 57 4 16

Total 928 535 475 579

4note
RESULT FROM GROUP COMPANIES

Parent Company

2001 2000

Dividends 526 11

Capital gain on sale 5 –12

Write-down –311 –27

Total 220 –28

RESULT FROM OTHER FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

Group Parent Company

Sales revenue 2001 2000 2001 2000

Dividend 0 1 1 1

Capital gain on the sale of securities 2 9 1 9

Interest income, group companies – – 35 39

Interest income, others 3 3 2 1

Total 5 13 39 50

5note
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TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Profit before tax

Sweden 1,541 1,147 1,000 941

Outside Sweden 88 62 – –

Total 1,629 1,209 1,000 941

Current tax

Sweden 390 298 268 274

Outside Sweden 23 28 – –

Total 413 326 268 274

Deferred tax

Sweden 64 42 17 –17

Outside Sweden 8 –4 – –

Total 72 38 17 –17

Total tax

Sweden 454 340 285 257

Outside Sweden 31 24 – –

Total 485 364 285 257

Difference between reported tax and nominal tax rate 28%

Profit before tax × 28% 456 339 280 263

Adjustment of tax 
from previous years –6 –1 –3 –

Difference foreign tax 1 2 – –

Non-taxable income –9 –7 –3 –7

Non-deductible expenses 15 6 11 1

Revaluation of deferred
tax from previous years 28 25 – –

Total 485 364 285 257

GOODWILL

Group

2001

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 113

New acquisitions 5

Translation difference 8

Sales –1

Closing balance, 31 December 125

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January 31

Depreciation for the year 14

Sales –1

Closing balance, 31 December 44

Planned residual value, 31 December 81

The reported goodwill pertains primarily to goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Byggholt AS and AS Prosjektfinans in Norway.

Xxxxx
Belopp i mkr där ej annat anges.

RESULT FROM OTHER FINANCIAL CURRENT ASSETS

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Interest income, others 21 17 10 10

Interest income, group companies – – 51 32

Total 21 17 61 42

INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR PROFIT/LOSS ITEMS

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Interest expenses,
group companies – – 90 41

Interest portion of 
pension costs for the year 14 15 14 15

Interest expenses, other 347 324 316 316

Exchange rate differences 
on liabilities 0 0 10 –

Total 361 339 430 372

APPROPRIATIONS IN THE PARENT COMPANY

Parent Company

2001 2000

Depreciation in excess/below plan:

Management properties 68 76

Machinery – 10

Equipment 14 –34

Inventory reserve – 78

Tax allocation reserve –267 –330

Reversal of tax allocation reserve 78 66

Total –107 –134

8note

9note
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MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 134 99

New acquisitions 31 19

Company acquisitions 2 –

Sales and disposals –20 –6

Closing balance, 31 December 147 112

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January 85 64

Depreciation for the year 25 20

Sales and disposals –12 –5

Closing balance, 31 December 98 79

Planned residual value, 31 December 49 33

13note

FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

Participa- Other
tions in securities Other

associated held as long-term
Group 2001 companies fixed assets receivables Total

Opening acquisition values 9 2 38 49

New acquisitions 5 – 29 34

Sales – – –3 –3

Reclassifications –4 4 – –

Book value, 31 December 10 6 64 80

Participa- Participa- Other
tions in Receivables tions in Receivables securities Other Deferred

group from group associated from group held as long-term tax
Parent Company 2001 companies companies companies companies fixed assets receivables assets Total

Opening acquisition values 2,070 806 9 – 2 18 31 2,936

New acquisitions 527 – 4 – – – – 531

Additional receivables – – – 125 – 17 – 142

Settled receivables – –127 – – – – –17 –144

Sales –456 – – – – – – –456

Write-downs –311 – – – – – – –311

Reclassifications – – –3 – 3 – – –

Book value, 31 December 1,830 679 10 125 5 35 14 2,698

14note
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OPERATING PROPERTIES

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 79 19

Reclassifications –82 –19

Translation difference 3 –

Closing balance, 31 December – –

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January 5 1

Reclassifications –5 –1

Closing balance, 31 December – –

Planned residual value, 31 December – –
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Note 14 continued

Shares and participations in wholly owned group companies, SEK 000s

Company No. of shares and Total Book
Parent Company reg.no. Domicile participations par value Currency value

AB Brukscentralen 556048-6788 Stockholm 1,000 100 900

AB Garantihus 556073-0524 Stockholm 5,000 5,000 1,000

AB Hem på Landet 556003-4505 Stockholm 61,390 6,131 52,393

JM Cityfastigheter AB 556355-8179 Stockholm 17,000,000 170,000 369,501

Byggnadsfirman Gottfrid Lindgren AB 556062-8249 Uppsala 420 420 4,577

Månstrålen Holding AB 556496-6546 Stockholm 1,000 100 50

Lunds Byggmästergille AB 556058-9888 Lund 180 180 327

Mörbysvärdet AB 556471-2601 Danderyd 1,000 100 18,083

Förvaltningsbolaget Sicklaön HB 916619-0992 Stockholm 10,000 101,095

Brf. Östra Leran 716456-8706 Borlänge 47 0 0

Imedaka AB 556161-6599 Uppsala 5,000 500 6,525

HB Mörby Fastighetsförvaltning * 916505-6798 Stockholm 2,000 23,480

JM Värmdöstrand Holding AB 556275-4696 Stockholm 3,300,120 100 292,442

AB Stockholms Badmintonhall 556037-3655 Stockholm 2,520 126 11,540

AB Borätt 556257-9275 Stockholm 500 500 1,978

AB Citybyggen 556031-2596 Stockholm 15,000 1,500 1,800

AB Projektgaranti 556077-1841 Stockholm 1,000 100 104

JM Stombyggnad AB 556173-0564 Stockholm 1,000 100 113

JM Seniorfastigheter AB 556029-5726 Stockholm 1,000 100 5,110

GL Bodservice AB 556161-8025 Stockholm 250,000 25,000 56,524

JM Byggservice AB 556257-9325 Stockholm 100 100 100

Seniorgården AB 556359-9082 Stockholm 1,000 100 100

Svensk Skadeservice i Sthlm AB 556038-7747 Stockholm 100 100 2,887

Fastighetsbolaget Bohusmark KB 916443-1125 Gothenburg 1 120 120

JM Inredning i Stockholm AB 556202-8653 Stockholm 1,000 100 50

Fastighets AB Bollstastrand 556411-8806 Stockholm 102 102 7,671

Sekå AB 556298-5605 Gothenburg 1,000 100 6,350

JM Bruket i Kallhäll AB 556464-7997 Stockholm 50,000 5,000 26,500

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings KB 969653-9122 Järfälla 20,500

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings AB 556561-0184 Järfälla 500 50 50

AB Saltsjö Dufnäs Villatomter 556007-4691 Stockholm 5,000 500 475

Mr Chip Hotel AB 556243-7151 Stockholm 100 100 103

Mr Chip Hotel AB & Co KB 916604-9321 Stockholm 1,000 1,000 1,000

Fastighetsbolaget Göta Ark HB 916600-1082 Stockholm 1,200 60,000 104,395

O. Timblad Målerifirma AB 556072-9492 Stockholm 5,000 500 4,939

HB Kojan Fastighetsförvaltning 916634-1334 Stockholm 294,944

W & S Fastigheter i Lomma HB 916470-0057 Lomma 41,978

Tre Masar Produktion AB 556472-0323 Stockholm 1,000 500,000 11,404

AB Naryda 556046-9081 Stockholm 1,000 100,000 13,000

Stora Mossen Fastigheter i Bromma HB 969673-7999 Stockholm 58

KB Godhemsberget 916852-6979 Stockholm 20,852

JM Construction SA Belgium Brussels 10,000,000 10,000 BEF 55,242

Byggholt AS Oslo 101 52 NOK 127,687

JM Danmark AS Copenhagen DKK 142,139

Book value, 31 December 1,830,086

* The holding amounts to 56% of the share capital.The remaining 44% is owned by the wholly owned subsidiary Mörbysvärdet AB.
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Note 14 continued

Specification of the Group’s other holdings of shares and participations in wholly owned group companies, SEK 000s.

Company No. of shares and Total Book
reg.no. Domicile participations par value Currency value

Riksgästeri AB 556046-2409 Uppsala 1,000 100 56

Brf. Östra Leran 716456-8706 Borlänge 1 0

Norrlands Handelshus AB 556264-2198 Stockholm 9,000 9,000 19,735

JM Cityfastigheter i Helsingborg AB 556044-6766 Helsingborg 1,000 1,000 250,358

HB Mörby Fastighetsförvaltning 916505-6798 Stockholm 880 483

Outstanding Hotels-Hotel & Restaurang AB 556265-4607 Stockholm 600 100 72

GL Bodtjänster AB 556154-1581 Stockholm 1,000 100 3,400

Fastighets AB Strandpromenaden 556164-5523 Stockholm 25,000 2,500 9,236

KB Pelarbacken Mindre 23 916635-8920 Stockholm 1 260,100 260,101

GL Boduthyrning AB 556044-4936 Stockholm 4,800 480 681

AB Solna Målerifirma 556444-8248 Stockholm 10,000 100 1,300

Sekå Fastighets AB 556079-1328 Gothenburg 2,500 250 1,668

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings AB 556561-0184 Järfälla 500 50 50

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings KB 969653-9122 Järfälla 1 5 5

JM Värmdöstrand AB 556001-6213 Stockholm 4,400 5,000 250,000

E Lindqvist Rör AB 556060-8837 Stockholm 600 300 50

Specification of shares and participations in associated companies, SEK 000s

Company No. of shares and % of Par Book
Parent Company reg.no. Domicile participations capital value value

AB Hälsingborgsbostäder 556105-9196 Helsingborg 500 50 50 50

HB Terminalgruppen T* 916762-0443 Helsingborg 30 33 0

AB Ramlösa Brunnsanläggning 556031-6274 Helsingborg 625 50 63 75

Glasberga Fastighets AB 556361-0707 Södertälje 1,000 25 100 100

Högmora Exploaterings AB 556395-0707 Stockholm 1,000 25 100 100

Masmobergets Exploaterings AB 556395-0442 Stockholm 1,000 25 100 100

SMÅA AB 556497-1322 Stockholm 3,500 33 3,500 3,500

Fastighetsbolaget Glasberga KB 916643-1842 Stockholm 1 25 101 101

Olunda Terminal HB* 916629-6948 Järfälla 1 50 500 800

Exploateringsbolaget Högmora KB 916643-6258 Stockholm 1 25 1 1

Exploateringsbolaget Masmoberget KB 916643-6213 Stockholm 1 25 1 1

Adolfsbergs Brunns AB 556303-8685 Örebro 340 33 34 34

HB Jordbrokrossen* 969611-4868 Danderyd 100 50 100 100

AB Västerås Studentbostäder 556597-0596 Västerås 500 50 500 500

HB Markbyggarna Silverdal* 969680-8659 Sollentuna 1 50 2 1

Dockan Exploatering AB 556594-2645 Malmö 333 33 100 5,003

Book value, 31 December 10,466

* Unlimited liability.

Note 14 continued on page 72
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Note 14 continued

Specification of other securities held as fixed assets, SEK 000s

Number of shares % of Par Book 
Parent Company and participations capital value value

Svenskt Fastighetsindex SFI ek. för. 1 8 50 50

CGC Centralgalaxen Bygg AB 150 20 30 20

Haninge Turism AB 100 1 10 10

Parkerings AB Dukaten 1,245 4 1,245 1,245

Garbo AB 2 70

Sverigehuset i Göteborg AB 250 100

Momentum Software AB 31,686 6 1 3,472

Other shares 47

Sub-total 5,014

Added for the Group

Trygg Eiendomsmegling 548

SE-Banken 1,618 33

Rörekonomi i Örebro AB 272 264 143

Others 2

Sub-total 726

Book value, 31 December 5,740

BUILDINGS AND LAND (MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES)

Fully developed Properties under Properties for
Group 2001* properties construction further development Total

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 4,737 1,552 646 6,935

New acquisitions 336 787 4 1,127

Reclassifications 2,183 –1,870 5 318

Transferred to production – –44 – –44

Translation difference 4 – – 4

Sales –3,390 – – –3,390

Closing balance, 31 December 3,870 425 655 4,950

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January 359 30 9 398

Reclassifications 29 –25 – 4

Sales –208 – – –208

Closing balance, 31 December 180 5 9 194

Accumulated write-downs

Opening balance, 1 January 92 – – 92

Write-downs for the year 24 15 – 39

Sales –92 – – –92

Closing balance, 31 December 24 15 – 39

Planned residual value, 31 December 3,666 405 646 4,717

Tax assessment value 2,956 127 419 3,502

* Interest expenses added to the acquisition value of management properties amounted to SEK 113m (147).
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Note 15 continued

Fully developed Properties under Properties for
Parent Company 2001 properties construction further development Total

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 3,129 308 560 3,997

New acquisitions 74 524 4 602

Reclassifications 739 –541 4 202

Transferred to production – –44 – –44

Sales –2,002 – – –2,002

Closing balance, 31 December 1,940 247 568 2,755

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January 234 5 8 247

Sales –110 – – –110

Closing balance, 31 December 124 5 8 137

Accumulated write-downs

Opening value, 1 January 67 – – 67

Write-downs for the year 24 15 – 39

Sales –67 – – –67

Closing balance, 31 December 24 15 – 39

Planned residual value, 31 December 1,792 227 560 2,579

Tax assessment value 1,463 103 419 1,985

PARTICIPATIONS IN TENANT-OWNER 
CO-OPERATIVES, ETC .

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 53 36

Purchases 94 93

Sales –53 –46

Closing balance, 31 December 94 83

Accumulated write-downs

Opening balance, 1 January 2 – 

Closing balance, 31 December 2 – 

Book value, 31 December 92 83

RECOGNISED INCOME LESS PROGRESS BILLINGS

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Accumulated on account billing 
for work in progress –3,710 –3,140

Recognised income in work in progress 4,676 3,895

Recognised but not invoiced income 966 755

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Accumulated acquisition values

Opening balance, 1 January 3,115 2,013

New acquisitions 1,823 1,213

Reclassifications –237 –184

Sales –56 –17

Translation difference 26 –

Transferred to production –612 –298

Closing balance, 31 December 4,059 2,727

Accumulated write-downs

Opening balance, 1 January 10 1

Write-downs for the year 1 –

Closing balance, 31 December 11 1

Book value, 31 December 4,048 2,726

Tax assessment value 1,880 1,521

16note 17note
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INTEREST-BEARING AND NON-INTEREST BEARING ASSETS

Group 2001 Parent Company 2001
Interest-bearing Non-interest bearing Interest-bearing Non-interest bearing

Intangible fixed assets – 81 – –

Tangible fixed assets – 49 – 33

Financial fixed assets 58 22 708 1,990

Management properties – 4,717 – 2,579

Development properties, etc. – 4,140 – 2,809

Current receivables – 3,169 – 3,587

Liquid assets 652 – 528 –

Total 710 12,178 1,236 10,998

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity
Share Restricted Unrestricted Net profit Total share-

Group capital reserves reserves for the year holders’ equity

Opening balance, 1 January 133 1,628 1,164 845 3,770

Transfer of profit for 2000 – – 845 –845 –

Share repurchases – – –841 – –841

Cancellation of repurchased shares –13 – 13 – –

Redemption of convertible loan 1 56 – – 57

Stock options – – 8 – 8

Translation difference – 17 – – 17

Transfer between restricted and unrestricted equity – 0 0 – –

Dividends – – –332 – –332

Net profit for 2001 – – – 1,144 1,144

Closing balance, 31 December 121 1,701 857 1,144 3,823

The number of shares (1 vote/share) at 31 December 2001 amounts to 29,989,363. 300,000 repurchased shares are not included.

The par value of each share is SEK 4. Upon full conversion of the subscribed convertibles, the number of shares will increase by 171,125.

In 2001 all employees in Sweden were invited to acquire stock options in the company.The stock option programme comprises a total of 600,000 options. Present employ-
ees subscribed for 374,900 options during the year.The price per option was determined based on the Black & Scholes method.The price on the first subscription date
was SEK 20. Each option carries entitlement to subscribe for one share in the period 3 May 2004 to 30 June 2004 for SEK 271.50.

The total number of shares after full conversion of outstanding convertibles and options amounts to 30,535,388.

The average number of shares before dilution for 2001 amounts to 31,544,401 (33,241,000).The average number of shares after dilution for 2001 amounts to 31,715,526
(33,773,988). Calculation of earnings per share before dilution is based on net profit for the year, SEK 1,144m (845). In the calculation of earnings per share after dilution, net
profit for the year was adjusted by interest expenses for convertible debentures of SEK 680,000 (2,656,000).

OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Promissory notes receivable, etc. – 14 – –

Receivables, property sales 1,133 32 997 32

Other 198 230 225 150

Total 1,331 276 1,222 182

19note
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PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Other prepaid expenses 6 21 0 18

Prepaid interest 1 1 1 1

Other accrued income 8 15 2 –

Total 15 37 3 19

20note
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Note 22 continued

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity
Share Statutory Premium Profit brought Net profit Total share-

Parent Company capital reserve reserve forward for the year holders’ equity

Operating balance, 1 January 133 687 – 988 667 2,475

Adjustment of changed accounting principle* – – – 14 17 31

Opening balance, 1 January (adjusted) 133 687 – 1,002 684 2,506

Transfer of profit for 2000 – – – 684 –684 –

Group contribution provided – – – –16 – –16

Tax effect of Group contribution – – – 5 – 5

Share repurchases – – – –841 – –841

Cancellation of repurchased shares –13 – – 13 – –

Redemption of convertible loan 1 – 56 – – 57

Stock options – – – 12 – 12

Dividends – – – –332 – –332

Net profit for 2001 – – – – 715 715

Closing balance, 31 December 121 687 56 527 715 2,106

*Changed accounting principle relates to transfer to reporting deferred tax according to the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’s recommendation no. 9.

PROVISIONS FOR TAXES/DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Deferred tax liability on 
untaxed reserves 304 267 – – 

Other deferred tax liability 162 133 – – 

Other provisions for tax 20 42 12 34

Sub-total 486 442 12 34

Deferred tax assets* 14 17 14 31

Net provisions for tax 472 425 – –

Deferred tax liability on untaxed reserves**

Tax allocation reserves 245 177

Excess depreciation, equipment 53 80

Excess depreciation, machinery 6 10

Total 304 267

Other deferred tax liability is allocated on:

Buildings and land *** 90 72

Development properties *** 13 10

Other, net 59 51

Total 162 133

* Mainly pertains to non-deductible reserves for guarantee work and prop-
erty sales.

** Tax rules in Sweden allow companies to postpone taxation through
provisions to untaxed reserves in the balance sheet via appropriations in
the income statement. In the consolidated financial statements, however,
untaxed reserves and appropriations are not stated.The untaxed reserves
are divided between deferred tax liability and restricted reserves respec-
tively in shareholders’ equity.

*** Fiscal difference and book value.

UNTAXED RESERVES IN THE PARENT COMPANY

Parent Company

2001 2000

Accumulated excess depreciation:

Buildings and land 136 204

Machinery and equipment 21 35

Tax allocation reserves:

Provision for tax assessment in 1996 – 78

Provision for tax assessment in 1997 6 6

Provision for tax assessment in 1998 94 94

Provision for tax assessment in 1999 19 19

Provision for tax assessment in 2000 64 64

Provision for tax assessment in 2001 330 330

Provision for tax assessment in 2002 267 –

Total 937 830

Net provisions for the year to appropriations amounted to SEK 107m (see
Note 9).

PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS 
AND SIMILAR COMMITMENTS

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

PRI 409 374 409 374

Other 2 1 0 1

Total 411 375 409 375
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OTHER PROVISIONS 

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Provisions for guarantees 82 90 66 80

Other provisions 50 46 – – 

Total 132 136 66 80

LIABILITIES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Due within 1 year 
from closing day 1,203 85 940 67

Due within 1–5 years 
from closing day 138 250 – 67

Due later than 5 years  
from closing day 4,109 4,758 4,045 4,294

Total 5,450 5,093 4,985 4,428

28note
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INTEREST-BEARING AND NON-INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

Group 2001 Parent Company 2001
Interest-bearing Non-interest bearing Interest-bearing Non-interest bearing

Liabilities to credit institutions 5,450 – 4,985 –

Tax liabilities – 358 – 198

Accounts payable, trade – 575 – 409

Liabilities to group companies – – 1,518 –

Accrued expenses and deferred income – 466 – 388

Progress billings in excess of recognised income – 1,073 – 1,095

Other liabilities 71 57 88 23

Total 5,521 2,529 6,591 2,113
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LIABILITIES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS,
CONFIRMED CREDITS

Group Parent Company

Overdraft facilities 2001 2000 2001 2000

Granted credit ceiling 446 433 415 415

Unutilised portion –442 –425 –415 –415

Utilised credit 4 8 – –

Credit agreement

Granted credit agreement 4,800 3,732 4,800 3,475

Unutilised portion –501 –1,293 –501 –1,093

Utilised credit 4,299 2,439 4,299 2,382

Building loans

Granted loans 790 233 490 233

Unutilised portion –159 –18 –10 –18

Utilised credit 631 215 480 215

29note
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PROGRESS BILLINGS IN EXCESS 
OF RECOGNISED INCOME

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Accumulated billing on account
for work in progress 6,712 6,716

Recognised income in work in progress –5,639 –5,621

Progress billings in excess of 
recognised income 1,073 1,095

OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Due within 1 year from closing day 68 145 35 99

Due within 1–5 years 
from closing day 19 131 19 125

Convertible debenture loan 26 83 42 100

Due later than 5 years  
from closing day 15 44 15 44

Total 128 403 111 368

Convertible debenture loan
The employees were offered a convertible debenture loan in 1999 and have
subscribed for SEK 84m to date.The term of the convertible debenture is
15 June 1999 – 15 June 2003, i.e. four years.The loan carries interest equiv-
alent to STIBOR minus 0.8 percentage points. Conversion to shares may
take place during the period 1 June 2001 – 1 June 2003, with the exception
of the period from 1 January to the record date for payment of the respec-
tive year’s dividend.The exercise price is SEK 155.

The number of shares prior to conversion amounts to 29,989,363. Upon
full conversion of the subscribed debentures, the number of shares will
increase by 171,125. Upon full conversion of the subscribed convertibles
the share capital would increase by SEK 684,000, corresponding to 0.6%
of the share capital and 0.6% of the votes in the company.

The total number of shares after full conversion of outstanding convertibles
will be 30,160,488.
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ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Vacation reserve, etc. 125 94 120 92

Social security contributions, etc. 142 126 117 101

Accrued rents 3 3 – – 

Accrued interest 48 38 46 36

Deferred rents 59 98 49 62

Accrued expenses/
deferred income 89 71 56 31

Total 466 430 388 322

ASSETS PLEDGED AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Assets pledged to secure own 
provisions and liabilities

Pertaining to provisions for pensions 
and similar commitments:

Corporate mortgages 100 109 100 100

Property mortgages 622 3,862 260 2,624

Total assets pledged 722 3,971 360 2,724

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees on behalf 
of group companies – – 1,695 599

Guarantee commitments, others 2,802 2,064 2,539 1,542

Guarantees in connection 
with assignments 401 214 217 155

Other contingent liabilities 106 89 9 8

Total contingent liabilities 3,309 2,367 4,460 2,304

The Group also has obligations to acquire unsold participations in tenant-
owner co-operatives formed by JM.

In addition, the Parent Company has guarantee commitments to AB
Bostadsgaranti pertaining to housing projects completed earlier.

The Parent Company and the Group have guarantee commitments per-
taining to long-term management contracts.

FEES AND REMUNERATION

Group Parent Company

2001 2001

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers

Auditing assignments 2.7 1.8

Other assignments 3.6 3.5

Total 6.3 5.3

32note
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EMPLOYEES AND PAYROLL EXPENSES

Average number Of whom, Of whom,

of employees 2001 men 2000 men

Parent Company

Sweden 2,064 87% 1,780 88%

Subsidiaries

Sweden 185 97% 166 99%

Belgium 10 70% 7 57%

Denmark 16 50% 7 57%

Norway 227 86% 203 87%

Total in subsidiaries 438 89% 383 91%

Total Group 2,502 87% 2,163 88%

Salaries/wages, other remuneration and social security expenses

2001 2000
Salaries/ Social Salaries/ Social

wages and security wages and security
remuneration expenses remuneration costs

Parent Company 641 318 523 257

(of which, pension costs) – 58 * – 50

Subsidiaries 149 44 115 33

(of which, pension costs) – 3 – 2

Total Group 790 362 638 290

(of which, pension costs) – 61 ** – 52

* Of the Parent Company’s pension costs, SEK 2.1m (2.2) pertains to the
President and Vice President.The company’s outstanding pension commit-
ments to these individuals amounts to SEK 18.9m (16.4).The company has
no pension costs or pension commitments to the rest of the Board.

** Of the Group’s pension costs, SEK 2.7m (2.7) pertains to the Group
President and Vice President. The Group’s outstanding pension commit-
ments to these individuals amounts to SEK 28.8m (25.6).

Note 35 continued on page 78

35note
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Note 35 continued

Salaries and other remuneration by country and distribution 
between the Board and President and other employees

2001 2000
Board and Other Board and Other
President employees President employees

Parent Company

Sweden 7 634 7 516

(of which, bonuses, etc.) 2 30 2 20

Subsidiaries

Sweden 1 49 1 41

(of which, bonuses, etc.) – – – – 

Belgium 3 3 2 2

(of which, bonuses, etc.) 1 – 1 0

Denmark 2 4 1 1

Norway 3 84 2 63

(of which, bonuses, etc.) 1 4 0 2

Portugal – – – 2

Total subsidiaries 9 140 6 109

(of which, bonuses, etc.) 2 4 1 2

Total Group 16 774 13 625

(of which, bonuses, etc.) 4 34 3 22

Salaries and benefits of senior executives are reported according
to the recommendation of the Industry and Commerce Stock
Exchange Committee, NBK.

Chairman of the Board:
The Chairman of the Board received board fees amounting to a total of
SEK 200,000 (200,000). Other external Board members received total fees
of SEK 400,000 (400,000).

President & CEO:
In 2001, salary and other benefits were paid in a total amount of SEK
4,682,000 (4,055,000), including bonuses of SEK 1,400,000 (960,000).The
President is entitled to retire at the age of 60 with pension in an amount
corresponding to 70% of salary until the age of 65.The period of notice is
12 months in the event of termination by the company and 6 months in
the event of termination by the President. If no other employment has
been secured by the end of the notice period, severance pay shall be
awarded in an amount corresponding to one year’s salary.After age of 65
pension benefits will be paid to an annual total cost for JM corresponding
to normal ITP insurance. In addition, through waiver of salary, JM has taken
out an endowment insurance on behalf of the President of SEK 350,000
per year.

Other senior executives:
A few of the senior executives are entitled to retire at the age of 60 with
pension in an amount corresponding to 70% of salary until the age of 65.
The period of notice is 24 months in the event of termination by the com-
pany and 12 months in the event of termination by the employee.

OTHER ITEMS WITH NO EFFECT ON CASH FLOW

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Gains on the sale of properties –928 –535 –475 –579

Gains on other sales – –44 – –30

Change in pension liability 35 22 20 22

Other provisions, etc. 13 –16 –14 –72

Total –880 –573 –469 –659

INVESTMENTS IN DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES, ETC .

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Investments in development 
properties –1,823 –1,469 –1,213 –590

Acquisition of participations in 
tenant-owner co-operatives –94 –66 –93 –56

Financing via short-term 
promissory notes –139 – –125 –

Effect on liquid assets –2,056 –1,535 –1,431 –646

TRANSFER (SALE) OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES, ETC .

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Transfer of development 
properties to production 612 690 298 558

Sold development properties 114 200 21 33

Sold participations in 
tenant-owner co-operatives 53 61 46 61

Effect on liquid assets 779 951 365 652

INVESTMENTS IN MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, ETC .

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Investments in management 
properties –1,127 –1,038 –602 –557

Investments in operating 
properties – –5 – –

Adjustment for capitalised interest 11 41 – –

Effect on liquid assets –1,116 –1,002 –602 –557

SALE OF MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, ETC .

Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Sale of properties 3,960 2,010 2,296 1,826

Transfer of properties 
to production 44 – 44 –

Receivables –1,101 –32 –965 –32

Effect on liquid assets 2,903 1,978 1,375 1,794
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The Group’s unrestricted equity amounts to SEK 2,001m. No transfer to restricted equity is required.

The Board of Directors and the President propose that the Parent Company’s reported profit for the year of SEK
714,824,548 and profit carried forward of SEK 526,466,661, a total of SEK 1,241,291,209, be distributed to the share-
holders as a dividend of SEK 14 per share SEK 424,325,048
carried forward to new account SEK 816,966,161

SEK 1,241,291,209

stockholm, 26 february 2002

Per Westlund
Chairman

Björn Björnsson Berthold Lindqvist

Monica Lindstedt Per Olofsson

Lennart Sundén Leif Lundell Lennart Nordlinder

Carl Eric Stålberg
President & CEO

Proposed disposition of earnings

PROPOSED DISPOSITION OF EARNINGS – 79
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TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF JM AB (PUBL) COMPANY

REG. NO. 556045-2103

We have examined the annual report, the consolidated
financial statements, the accounting records and the
administration by the Board of Directors and the President
of JM AB (publ) for the year 2001. These accounts and the
administration of the Company are the responsibility of
the Board of Directors and the President. Our responsibil-
ity is to express an opinion on the annual report, the con-
solidated financial statements and the administration
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally
accepted accounting standards in Sweden. These stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance that the annual report and the con-
solidated financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and their application by the
Board of Directors and the President, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of information in the annual

report and consolidated financial statements. We have
examined significant decisions, actions taken and circum-
stances of the Company in order to determine the possible
liability, if any, to the Company of any Board member or
the President or whether they have in some other way
acted in contravention of the Swedish Companies Act, the
Swedish Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Associa-
tion. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion set out below.

In our opinion, the annual report and the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and thereby pro-
vide an accurate picture of the profit and position of the
Company and the Group in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden.

We recommend to the Annual General Meeting that the
income statement and the balance sheet of the Parent
Company and the Group be adopted, that the unappropri-
ated earnings of the Parent Company be dealt with in
accordance with the proposal in the Board of Directors’
Report and that the members of the Board of Directors
and the President be discharged from liability for the
financial year.

Auditors’ report

stockholm, 28 february 2002

öhrlings pricewaterhousecoopers ab

Bertil Johanson Ulf Westerberg
Authorised Public Accountant Authorised Public Accountant

80 – AUDITORS’ REPORT
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JM Group – quarterly overview
Amounts in SEKm unless otherwise stated.

2001 2000

INCOME STATEMENT Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Net sales 2,552 2,062 2,122 1,906 2,094 1,611 1,620 1,524

Costs for production 
and management –2,087 –1,688 –1,692 –1,555 –1,699 –1,278 –1,289 –1,253

Gross profit 465 374 430 351 395 333 331 271

Selling and administrative 
expenses –169 –98 –157 –121 –124 –91 –123 –117

Gains on the sale of operations – – – – – – – 30

Gains on the sale of properties 139 87 398 304 25 252 92 166

Write-downs of properties –39 – – – – – – –

Items affecting comparability – – – – – – 78 –

Operating profit 396 363 671 534 296 494 378 350

Net financial items –64 –100 –91 –80 –60 –79 –81 –89

Result from financial items 332 263 580 454 236 415 297 261

Tax on profit for the year –117 –76 –162 –130 –89 –117 –84 –74

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 215 187 418 324 147 298 213 187

Project development margin (%) 14.3 12.9 9.9 9.1 11.2 14.7 9.3 5.3

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash flow from operating activities 708 122 996 –715 407 476 293 –524

Cash flow from investing activities 1 –16 –9 –12 –1 –10 –1 52

Cash flow from financing activities –407 –248 –642 428 –240 –522 –271 397

Total cash flow for the period 302 –142 345 –299 166 –56 21 –75

Cash flow at the end 
of the period 652 350 492 147 446 280 336 315

Change in interest-bearing net debt –637 70 –79 749 –426 –468 –56 479

QUARTERLY OVERVIEW – 81

JM’s net sales were higher than in 2000 in all four quarters of
2001. The highest net sales tend to occur in the fourth quar-
ter due to seasonal fluctuations in project development.

Selling and administrative expenses are lower in the
third quarter since the holiday period occurs in that
quarter.

The high project development margin in the fourth quar-
ter of 2001 is explained by the high gains from property
sales attributable to project development in the same
period.

Cash flow fluctuations in 2001 are mainly due to prop-
erty sales and repurchase of shares (see page 63).

Comments on the quarterly overview
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JM Group – six-year summary
Amounts in SEKm unless otherwise stated.

INCOME STATEMENT 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Net sales 8,642 6,849 5,825 4,776 3,989 4,557

Costs for production and management –7,022 –5,519 –4,770 –3,857 –3,142 –3,672

Gross profit 1,620 1,330 1,055 919 847 885

Selling and administrative expenses –545 –455 –395 –368 –298 –283

Gains on the sale of operations – 30 – – – 35

Gains on the sale of properties 928 535 330 135 380 36

Write-downs of properties –39 – – – – – 

Surplus funds from SPP – 78 – – – – 

Operating profit 1,964 1,518 990 686 929 673

Net financial items –335 –309 –356 –351 –399 –475

Profit after net financial items 1,629 1,209 634 335 530 198

Tax on profit for the year –485 –364 –193 –94 –172 –42

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,144 845 441 241 358 156

INCOME STATEMENT BY FUNCTION 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Production

Recognised income 7,867 5,990 4,946 3,890 3,110 3,644

Production costs –6,763 –5,146 –4,402 –3,488 –2,809 –3,333

Profit from production operations 1,104 844 544 402 301 311

Development properties

Rental revenue 133 189 137 75 4 5

Operating expenses –75 –127 –80 –41 –8 –5

Profit from development properties 58 62 57 34 –4 0

Management properties

Rental revenue 640 660 711 769 811 813

Interest subsidies 2 10 31 42 64 95

Operating expenses –145 –144 –163 –187 –184 –202

Property tax –39 –43 –37 –43 –36 –29

Depreciation – –59 –88 –98 –105 –103

Profit from management properties 458 424 454 483 550 574

Selling and administrative expenses –481 –399 –318 –294 –247 –241

Property sales

Sales values 4,074 2,213 1,710 653 1,733 281

Book values –3,146 –1,678 –1,380 –518 –1,353 –245

Gains on the sale of properties 928 535 330 135 380 36

Write-downs of properties –39 – – – – –

Group-wide costs –64 –56 –77 –74 –51 –42

Gains on the sale of operations – 30 – – – 35

Surplus funds from SPP – 78 – – – –

OPERATING PROFIT 1,964 1,518 990 686 929 673

82 – SIX-YEAR SUMMARY
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BALANCE SHEET 31 Dec 2001 31 Dec 2000 31 Dec 1999 31 Dec 1998 31 Dec 1997 31 Dec 1996

Assets

Management properties (fixed assets) – – 6,855 7,117 6,660 7,326

Other fixed assets 210 254 300 248 152 192

Management properties (current assets) 4,717 6,445 – – – – 

Development properties 4,048 3,105 2,611 2,020 813 480

Other current assets 2,295 930 894 691 622 812

Recognised income less progress billings 966 917 – – – – 

Liquid assets 652 446 390 396 359 505

TOTAL ASSETS 12,888 12,097 11,050 10,472 8,606 9,315

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 3,823 3,770 3,144 2,812 2,622 2,331

Provisions 1,015 936 987 917 818 712

Interest-bearing liabilities 5,521 5,236 5,662 5,619 4,284 4,786

Progress billings in excess of 
recognised income 1,073 673 28 85 30 368

Other liabilities 1,456 1,482 1,229 1,039 852 1,118

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12,888 12,097 11,050 10,472 8,606 9,315

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Cash flow 206 56 –6 38 –146 46

OTHER 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Average number of employees 2,502 2,163 2,140 1,993 1,930 2,221

Management properties:

Market values 6,371 9,619 9,202 9,177 8,358 8,834

Book values 4,717 6,445 6,855 7,117 6,660 7,326

Surplus values before deferred tax 1,654 3,174 2,347 2,060 1,698 1,508

Vacancy rate on 31 Dec

Share of total space (%) 6 2 3 6 7 7

Share of possible rental revenue (%) 7 2 2 4 4 3

Order bookings 8,811 8,774 5,780 4,355 3,089 3,442

Order backlog on 31 Dec 7,546 6,603 3,819 2,950 2,467 2,488

KEY RATIOS 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Interest-bearing net debt 5,220 5,117 5,588 5,511 4,194 4,524

Debt/equity ratio 1.4 1.4 1.8 2.0 1.6 1.9

Interest coverage ratio 5.5 4.6 2.7 1.9 2.3 1.4

Equity ratio (visible) (%) 30 31 28 27 30 25

Return on total capital before tax (%) 15.9 13.8 9.3 7.4 10.6 7.7

Return on capital employed before tax (%) 20.8 16.7 11.4 8.8 12.9 9.5

Return on shareholders’ equity after tax (%) 30.1 24.4 14.8 8.9 14.4 6.9

EBIT multiple 6.0 8.0 11.2 14.1 8.7 12.6

Asset turnover rate 0.69 0.61 0.54 0.50 0.45 0.50



DATA PER SHARE, SEK 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Earnings before dilution

Total* 36.30 25.40 13.30 7.25 10.95 4.75

Of which,

Gains on the sale of operations – 0.65 – – – 0.85

Gains on the sale of properties 21.75 11.25 6.90 2.90 7.85 0.85

Management properties

Market value 212 289 277 276 256 270

Book value 157 194 206 214 204 224

Shareholders’ equity (reported) 127.50 113.40 94.60 84.60 80.30 71.40

Dividend (for 2001, Board proposal) 14.00 10.00 6.75 3.25 3.25 ** 2.00

Number of shares, 31 Dec 29,989,363 *** 33,241,000 33,241,000 33,241,000 32,653,000 32,653,000

* Profit after tax upon full conversion. 36.10 25.10 13.20 – – – 

** Of which, SEK 1.00 pertained to an extraordinary dividend.

*** Excluding 300,000 repurchased shares.
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AFTER FINANCIAL ITEMS
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CHANGED OPERATING FOCUS

Over the past six years, the Group has successively shifted
its operating focus from a traditional building and prop-
erty company to a pure-play project development company
of residential units and commercial space. The conse-
quences of this include:
• All management properties were reclassified as current

assets at the end of 2000 since the intention is no longer
to retain the properties for long-term management.

• The book value of management properties decreased
from SEK 7,326m to SEK 4,717m. The reduced portfo-
lio of management properties has led to a decrease in
rental revenue from SEK 813m to SEK 640m and in
operating profit from SEK 574m to SEK 458m. During
the period gains on the sale of management properties
averaged SEK 391m per year.

• The portfolio of development properties, which is pri-
marily intended for residential project development,
increased substantially from SEK 480m to SEK 4,048m,
an increase of SEK 3,568m. In total, development prop-
erties were acquired for SEK 1,823m (1,469) in 2001.
Rental revenue rose during the period from SEK 5m to
SEK 133m and profit from development properties
increased from 0 to SEK 58m.

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT OPERATIONS

During the period, recognised income rose from SEK
3,644m to SEK 7,867m, an increase of SEK 4,223m. This
increase has largely occurred through organic growth and
is mainly attributable to JM’s residential project develop-
ment operations. In 2001, the international companies
contributed SEK 1,485m of the entire JM Group’s net
sales of SEK 8,642m.

Profit from projects (profit from production operations)
rose during the period from SEK 311m to SEK 1,104m, an

increase of SEK 793m. The improved profit from produc-
tion is due to JM prioritising profitability before volume
and thus concentrating its activities to markets with strong
demand for housing.

FINANCE OPERATIONS

The interest-bearing net debt rose from SEK 4,524m to
SEK 5,220m during the period, an increase of SEK 696m.
The change in the amount of the debt can be linked to the
major property and land deals made by JM in recent years.

Net financial items have improved by SEK 140m since
1996. Interest rate levels have fallen successively during
the period which led to a reduction in average interest on
interest-bearing liabilities from 9.0% to 5.6%, or 3.4 per-
centage points, which had a positive effect on net financial
items.

KEY RATIOS

During the period, the visible equity ratio rose from 25%
to 30% while total assets increased from SEK 9,315m to
SEK 12,888m.

Return on equity improved from 6.9% to 30.1%. The
average return over the six-year period was 16.6% which
can be compared with JM’s 15% return target over a busi-
ness cycle.

SHARE DATA

Earnings per share improved from SEK 4.75 to SEK 36.30
and dividend per share increased from SEK 2 to SEK 14
(Board’s proposal). 

Sales of properties and excellent earnings from project
development have given JM opportunities to transfer capi-
tal to its shareholders. In 2001 a total of SEK 1,173m was
transferred to shareholders in the form of share buy-backs
of SEK 841m and dividends of SEK 332m.

Comments on the six-year summary



86 – BOARD OF DIRECTORS

JM ANNUAL REPORT 2001

Back row from left: Lennart Sundén, Lennart Nordlinder, Björn Björnsson, Leif Lundell and Berthold Lindqvist.
Front row from left: Per Olofsson, Monica Lindstedt, Per Westlund, Ingrid Bäck and Carl Eric Stålberg. Not present: Evert Johansson.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Per Westlund, born 1944
M.Sc.Eng. and M.B.A.
Member and Chairman of the Board since 1998.
Chairman of the Swedish Society of Civil Engineers. Member of the Royal
Swedish Academy of Engineering Sciences, IVA.
Shares in JM: 1,400

Björn Björnsson, born 1946
Financial consultant.
Member of the Board since 2001.
Board member of AssiDomän AB, B & N Nordsjöfrakt AB, Billerud AB,
Salus Ansvar AB and E. Öhman J:or Kapitalförvaltning AB among others.
Shares in JM: 2,000

Berthold Lindqvist, born 1938
Honorary Doctor of Medicine. Director.
Member of the Board since 2001.
Chairman of the Board of  Munters AB. Board member of Pharmacia Corp. USA,
Securitas AB,Trelleborg AB, Profdoc ASA, Probi AB, Novotek AB among others 
Shares in JM: 0

Monica Lindstedt, born 1953
M.B.A. Founder and member of the Board of Hemfrid i Sverige AB.
Member of the Board since 1999.
Board member of Systembolaget, Capio AB, Svenska Lantmännen among others
Shares in JM: 200

Per Olofsson, born 1940
B.Sc.
Member of the Board since 1998.
Chairman of the Board of ASKUS AB, Sync BPI AB, MPI Teknik AB, Springboard
Capital AB and GEA. Board member of Kreatel AB,Vitea AB, Printon AB, KTH
Executive School AB and Webanalys.
Shares in JM: 300

Carl Eric Stålberg, born 1951 
M.B.A. President and CEO of JM AB.
Member of the Board since 1996.
First Vice Chairman of FöreningsSparbanken AB.
Shares in JM: 25,000
Number of stock options: 10,000

Lennart Sundén, born 1952
M.Sc.Eng. and M.B.A. President and CEO of Swedish Match AB.
Member of the Board since 2001.
Board member of FöreningsSparbanken AB, Swedish Match AB and Arnold André
GmbH & Co KG.
Shares in JM: 500

Shareholdings pertain to personal holdings and shares owned by immediate family
members at 28 February 2002.

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

Leif Lundell, born 1939
Electrician.
Member of the Board since 1977.
Shares in JM: 1,044
Number of stock options: 0

Lennart Nordlinder, born 1936
Structural engineer.
Member of the Board since 1977.
Shares in JM: 3,225
Number of stock options: 5,000  

Ingrid Bäck, born 1945
Accountant.
Deputy member of the Board since 1990.
Shares in JM: 1,860
Number of stock options: 500 

Evert Johansson, born 1938
Carpenter.
Deputy member of the Board since 1986.
Shares in JM: 327
Number of stock options: 200 

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD

Urban Lilja, born 1952
Senior Legal Adviser at JM AB.
Shares in JM: 25,000
Number of stock options: 10,000

AUDITORS

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB
Bertil Johanson
Senior Auditor,Authorised Public Accountant

Ulf Westerberg,
Authorised Public Accountant

BOARD OF DIRECTORS – 87
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Shareholdings pertain to personal holdings and shares owned by immediate family members at 28 February 2002.
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Carl Eric Stålberg Magnus Key Claes Magnus Åkesson Urban Lilja Caroline Burén

Göran Malmberg Lennart Henriz Johan Skoglund Sten Hamberg Sören Bergström
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Carl Eric Stålberg, born 1951 
President and CEO. JM employee since 1996 
Shares in JM: 25,000 
Number of stock options: 10,000

Magnus Key, born 1944 
Executive Vice President and JM International (until 30 September 2001,
Stockholm Commercial). JM employee since 1973
Shares in JM: 25,000 
Number of stock options: 10,000

Claes Magnus Åkesson, born 1959
Chief Financial Officer. JM employee since 1998
Shares in JM: 18,000 
Number of stock options: 10,000

Urban Lilja, born 1952
Legal Affairs and Land Development. JM employee since 1996
Shares in JM: 25,000 
Number of stock options: 10,000

Caroline Burén, born 1961
Corporate Communications. JM employee since 2001
Shares in JM: 0
Number of stock options: 0

Göran Malmberg, born 1945
Human Resources. JM employee since 1991
Shares in JM: 0 
Number of convertibles: 2,576
Number of stock options: 5,000

Lennart Henriz, born 1953
Business Development (Quality and Environment/IT). JM employee since 1978 
Shares in JM: 7,240
Number of stock options: 10,000

Johan Skoglund, born 1962
JM Residential (until 30 September 2001, Sweden). JM employee since 1986
Shares in JM: 3,220
Number of stock options: 5,000

Sten Hamberg, born 1951
JM Commercial (until 30 September 2001, Business Development/Real Estate).
JM employee since 1980 
Shares in JM: 13,000 
Number of stock options: 7,500

Sören Bergström, born 1956
JM Production. JM employee since 1988
Shares in JM: 0
Number of stock options: 2,000

Lars Fränne, Stockholm Residential until 30 September 2001
Ragnar Hedin, International until 30 September 2001
Peggy Häggqvist, Corporate Communications until 30 September 2001

OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES

JM RESIDENTIAL
Magnus Berg, Greater Stockholm
Sten Lindberg, Central Stockholm
Zdravko Markovski, East
Anders Lundberg,West
Anders Wahrer, South
Birgitta Seman,AB Borätt
Christer Lindmark, Seniorgården AB

JM COMMERCIAL
Eva Eriksson,Transactions and Analysis
Per Johansson, Project Development Real Estate
Lars-Olof Höglund, Property Management
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90 – JM’S PROPERTIES

JM is continuing its housing development in the Långbro old hospital area in Älvsjö south of Stockholm.A total of 700 residential units are under construction.



The following conditions apply to the schedule of proper-
ties: All commercial rents are index-linked and the corre-
lation with CPI is between 75 and 100%. In the column for
“breakdown of rental revenue”, the approximate values are
stated since certain leases include several different types
of space. In the “term of lease” column, residential leases
are included in the percentage for 2002.

The average operating expense is SEK 195/sq.m. for
properties with office space and SEK 250/sq.m. of rentable
space for predominantly residential properties. Operating

expenses do not include costs for central administration
or tenant modifications. Costs for regular maintenance
vary greatly depending on the age and standard of the
property, records show a spread of SEK 20 to SEK
150/sq.m. The discrepancy relative to the income state-
ment is attributable to properties sold and acquired dur-
ing the year.

The selection of development properties has been made
based on the size of the projects and the time aspect – they
have been started or will be started in the next few years.

The JM Group’s management properties and a
selection of development properties at 31 Dec.2001

MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, FULLY DEVELOPED

No. Property Age Tax/ Total rent- Rentable space, Revenue 2001 Rental revenue, Term of Possible rental Major
rent 2001 able space breakdown breakdown lease revenue tenants

Municipality Year built/ Tax ass. value Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2002 Fully rented 2002
Address renovated Ground rent Office Other Retail 2003 Of which leased
Description Retail Garage Residential 2004

Other/Garage >=2005
SEKm/SEK000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm % % SEKm

1 Boken 13 1988 83.3 3,323 0 0 8.9 86 37 10.1 Invest in Sweden

Stockholm 2,538 28 13 12 8.9 MISTRA

Gamla Brog. 36 382 375 0 51 Swe Rail Italia

Office 1 0 TK Development

2 Boken 16 1884 107.1 4,108 1,471 0 11.0 67 17 12.8 Turistdelegationen

Stockholm 1978 1,428 484 31 26 12.2 Lundqvist Inredn.

Vasagatan 42, 44 1999 725 0 0 57 Adlon Hotell

Office, retail 3 0

3 Glaucus 4 and 5 1647 25.9 2,417 0 0 4.2 92 2 4.7 Börsinsikt

Stockholm 2000 1,652 585 5 53 2.7

Skeppsbron 32 180 0 0 38

Office 3 7

4 Läraren 4 1904 56.5 4,240 0 451 5.4 69 18 9.5 FIAB

Stockholm 1975 2,483 37 22 0 2.9 Lagercrantz

Torsgatan 2 1997 1,269 0 8 82

Office 1 0

5 Barnhuset 6 1890 34.7 2,827 0 790 4.8 81 20 7.4 Nordpool

Stockholm 2001 1,877 160 0 7 5.5 Augur

Barnhusg. 4 0 0 18 68 Stroede

Office, retail 1 5

6 Kortbyrån 17 1960 508.1 24,434 6,330 0 68.2 89 5 80.0 Swedish Ind. Dev. Fund

Stockholm 2000 11,580 2,060 6 33 75.1 IBM

Vasag. 11 1,014 3,450 0 48 Metria

Office, hotel 6 13 3rd Nat. Pension Fund

7 Pennfäktaren 10 1976 372.5 14,268 13,089 0 35.8 95 3 42.5 Nordic Hotels

Stockholm 2001 0 4 2 0 42.5

Vasaplan 125 1,050 0 0

Hotel 3 97

8 Paradiset 23 1970 123.8 15,162 0 0 16.7 84 43 17.3 Adena Pickos

Stockholm 8,212 3,480 4 17 14.6 Birka

Nordenflychtsv. 66 620 2,850 0 26 Pharmacia

Office, warehouse 13 13 Electrolux

9 Pilen 30 1988 201.1 6,363 3,003 0 20.9 80 11 22.1 Freys Hotell

Stockholm 3,184 2,683 66 13 13 18.5 C Technologies

Vasagatan 36 361 250 6 75 Eurofutures

Hotel, retail 1 1
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, FULLY DEVELOPED

No. Property Age Tax/ Total rent- Rentable space, Revenue 2001 Rental revenue, Term of Possible rental Major
rent 2001 able space breakdown breakdown lease revenue tenants

Municipality Year built/ Tax ass. value Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2002 Fully rented 2002
Address renovated Ground rent Office Other Retail 2003 Of which leased
Description Retail Garage Residential 2004

Other/Garage >=2005
SEKm/SEK000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm % % SEKm

10 Spelbomskan 14 1950 0.0 2,400 0 0 2.4 100 100 2.4 Stift. Docendo 

Stockholm 2,400 0 0 0 2.4 Discimus

Sandåsgatan 2 0 0 0 0

School 0 0

11 Gjuterihuset 1 2002 – 1,421 0 0 0.7 100 0 3.3 Design AB Propeller

Stockholm 1,421 0 0 0 1.9 Stiftelsen Inuti

Patentgatan 2–12 0 0 0 28

Office 0 72

12 Lux 7 2002 – 2,163 0 0 1.4 67 0 5.5 Sthlm County Council

Stockholm 1,526 637 0 0 3.7 Carrier Refrigeration

Primusg. 112–116 0 0 0 67

Office 33 33

13 Holar 1 1982 66.2 5,626 0 0 8.3 99 0 8.3 ÅF-Industriteknik

Stockholm 190 5,626 0 0 0 8.3

Skalholtsgatan 2 0 0 0 0

Office 1 100

14 Norrmalm 5:1, part of 1992 6.3 2,125 0 0 1.8 0 0 1.8 Italienska Bil

Stockholm 532 0 0 94 100 1.8

Björnäsvägen 2 2,125 0 0 0

Car sales, garage 6 0

15 Sofieberg 6 1991 26.5 3,219 0 3,219 3.2 0 100 3.3 42 residential units

Danderyd 0 0 0 0 3.2

Berga Backe 6–14 0 0 100 0

Residential 0 0

16 Svärdet 8, etc. 1983–89 548.0 53,803 0 0 79.8 89 28 105.0 Acando, Sign On

Danderyd 36,909 3,419 0 26 94.0 Medea, Cornerstone

Svärdvägen 0 13,475 0 17 ISD Datasystem

Office 11 29

17 Svärdet 7 1985 14.8 1,350 1,350 0 1.3 100 0 1.3 Danderyds Gästeri

Danderyd 0 0 0 100 1.3

Svärdvägen 31 0 0 0 0

Restaurant, hotel 0 0

18 Hilton 1 2000 270.0 28,502 0 0 36.2 94 4 47.9 JM AB

Solna 17,587 1,490 0 10 47.9 Sigma

Telegrafgatan 4 0 9,425 0 0 Lafarge Tekkin

Office 6 86

19 Hilton 4 2001 140.0 12,674 0 0 8.0 98 3 25.2 Agresso

Solna 7,924 0 0 0 23.9 Billerud

Telegrafgatan 500 4,250 0 84 Arrowhead

Office 2 13

20 Skogskarlen 1 1971 110.3 12,140 0 0 14.9 100 0 14.8 AssiDomän

Solna 12,140 0 0 0 14.8

Pipers väg 2 0 0 0 0

Office, warehouse 0 100

21 Sigtuna 2:161 1990 0.0 247 0 0 0.7 100 0 0.7 Vacant

Sigtuna 247 0 0 0 0.0

Väringavägen 57 0 0 0 0

Day nursery 0 0

22 Hornlyktan 3 1943 4.4 1,008 0 785 0.9 26 73 0.9 17 residential units

Stockholm 223 0 0 0 0.9 1 commercial unit

Karlsborgsvägen 15–19 0 0 74 0

Residential 0 27

23 Sicklaön 37:9 1670 9.6 2,019 0 1,811 1.3 0 95 1.3 27 residential units

Nacka 1970 0 208 0 0 0.9 2 studios

Finnbodavägen 9A–D 0 0 95 3

Residential, etc. 5 2

24 Kvarngärdet 62:2 1988 0.0 1,482 0 0 1.1 100 12 1.6 Uppsala County 

Uppsala 1,482 0 0 14 1.6 Council

Portalgatan 4 B 0 0 0 0 Uppsala Municipality

Office 0 73 Tidax AB
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, FULLY DEVELOPED

No. Property Age Tax/ Total rent- Rentable space, Revenue 2001 Rental revenue, Term of Possible rental Major
rent 2001 able space breakdown breakdown lease revenue tenants

Municipality Year built/ Tax ass. value Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2002 Fully rented 2002
Address renovated Ground rent Office Other Retail 2003 Of which leased
Description Retail Garage Residential 2004

Other/Garage >=2005
SEKm/SEK000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm % % SEKm

25 Kvarngärdet 33:1 2001 11.1 2,500 0 0 3.1 99 0 4.2 Systeam AB

Uppsala 2,500 0 0 0 4.2

S:t Persgatan 23, etc. 0 0 0 0

Office 1 100

26 Sandbäcken 1:5, part of 1913 3.4 2,085 0 0 2.1 100 0 2.1 Office

Karlstad 2001 1,700 385 0 0 2.1

Infanterigatan 35 0 0 0 0

Office (building 5&6) 0 100

27 Östermalm 6:16 1992 43.6 6,490 0 0 7.0 100 0 7.0 National Road Adm.

Luleå 6,265 0 0 0 7.0

Terminalgatan 2–4 0 225 0 0

Office 0 100

28 Beitostølen 1990 1.9 90 0 90 0.2 0 100 0.2

Beitostølen 0 0 0 0 0.2

Øystre Slidre 0 0 100 0

Cabin 0 0

29 Rud 1976 0.7 1,444 0 1,444 1.2 40 100 1.3

Bærum 1985 0 0 0 0 1.3

Bærumsveien 471 0 0 0 0

Office/warehouse 60 0

30 Rud 1978 1.7 1,855 1,855 0 2.2 100 100 2.3

Bærum 1986 0 0 0 0 2.3

Bærumsveien 473 0 0 0 0

Office 0 0

31 Sandvika 1972 25.0 3,050 3,050 0 3.2 100 100 3.2

Kjørbokollen 2000 0 0 0 0 3.2

Kjørbokollen 30 0 0 0 0

Office 0 0

32 Signalisten 7 1992 3.0 686 0 0 Used internally by JM

Västerås 686 0

Signalistgatan 17 0 0

Office

33 Yxlö 3:51 1984 0.9 427 0 0 Used internally by JM

Nynäshamn 1993 0 427

Ådudden 0 0

Conference complex

Total 2,800.4 225,948 30,148 8,590 357.0 88 17 449.9

3,906 131,089 13,470 4 18 409.7

7,301 35,350 2 27

6 38
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, UNDER CONSTRUCTION

No. Property Scheduled occupancy Total rentable space Rentable space, breakdown Possible rental rev. Major tenants
Municipality Hotel Residential Fully rented 2002
Address Office Other Of which leased
Description Retail Garage

Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm

34 Barnängen 4 Q4 2002 11,200 0 0 25.0 Under renovation

Stockholm 9,300 0 0.0

Barnängsg. 21 0 1,900

Office, printing works

35 Skogskarlen 1, part of Q4 2002 18,550 0 0 32.3 Vacant for renovation

Solna 11,850 400 0.0

Björnstigen 85 0 6,300

Office

36 Jakobsberg 34:6 Q3 2002 7,055 0 6,210 10.9 Järfälla Municipality

Järfälla 0 845 10.9 Tallbohov

Snapphanevägen 22 0 0

Senior housing

37 Svartbäcken 14:1 Q2 2002 6,600 0 6,600 3.5 Uppsala Municipality

Uppsala 0 0 3.5

Swedenbergsgatan 61 0 0

Senior housing

38 Belgium Under construction 5,100 0 0 9.4 CIRB (Brussels municip.)

Brussels 5,100 0 1.5 Portuguese Embassy

Avenue des Arts 21 0 0

Office

39 Företaget 1 Q4 2002 24,000 0 0 40.0 H&M

Lund 0 0 37.0 Lindex

Forum Lund 24,000 0

Shopping centre

Total 72,505 0 12,810 121.0

26,250 1,245 53.0

24,000 8,200
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, FOR FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

No. Property Age Ground Total rent- Rentable space, Rental revenue Rental revenue Planned Planned Planning
rent 2001 able space breakdown 2001 breakdown use use process

Municipality Year built/ HotelResidential Hotel/Office Description Planning phase
Address renovated Office Other Retail Development period
Description Retail Garage Residential

Other/Garage
SEK 000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm % No. of apts/GFA

40 Adam&Eva 16 1963 2,175 23,858 0 0 31.6 15 Extension, approx. Detail plan

Stockholm 1,748 65 49 office 11,000 sq.m. 2002–2005

Drottningg 56–58, etc. 6,175 15,870 0

Office, retail, park 36

41 Beridarebanan 13 1962 1,250 6,654 0 0 15.1 5 Extension, approx. Detail plan

Stockholm 278 287 83 residential 30 apts. 2002–2005

Sergelg. 11–15, etc. 3,660 2,429 0

Office, retail, park 12

42 Viksjö 6:370 approx.1960 850 0 387 0.9 0 Residential approx. 8–10 General plan

Järfälla 0 463 0 construction detached homes 2003–2004

Skulpturv. 1 0 0 100

Senior housing 0

43 Sicklaön 260:1 1959 15,171 0 0 6.6 94 Residential approx. Detail plan

Nacka 1970 15,171 0 0 300 apts. 2002–2005

Sickla Allé 5 0 0 0

Office 6

44 Annedal 4 1970 840 0 0 0.5 0 Office approx. General plan

Lund 740 100 100 3,000 sq.m.

Annedalsvägen 8 0 0 0

Retail 0

45 Töebacken 7 1979 4,294 0 0 4.8 77 Office approx. Detail plan

Lund 1989 2,920 483 23 8,000 sq.m.

Åldermansg. 13, etc. 1999 891 0 0

Office, retail 0

46 Librobäck 12:2 1987 956 0 0 0.4 40 Used intern-

Uppsala 450 506 0 ally by JM

Klockargatan 4 0 0 0

Office, warehouse 60

47 Tågarp 16:15 1974 918 0 0 0.0 0 Used intern-

Burlöv 240 678 0 ally by JM

Testvägen 15A 0 0 0

Warehouse 0

Total 3,425.0 53,541 0 387 59.9 26

21,547 2,582 50

10,726 18,299 2

23
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

No. Country Property/project No. of Office Develop- Present rent- Rental Sales price* Planning
residential space sq.m. ment period able space revenue present phase process

Municipality units GFA 2001 Average (down Planning stage
Location payment SEK/sq.m.)

Spread
Approx. Sq.m. SEKm Tenure Production

50 Sweden Långbro 700 2000–2007 27,000 19.5 17,700 Detail plan – 460 residential units

Stockholm 14,500–21,000

Älvsjö Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2000

51 Sweden Essinge Udde 800 2001–2006 32,000 Detail plan

Stockholm 23,000–40,000

Lilla Essingen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

52 Sweden Bolinders Strand 600 2001–2007 29,000 8.5 17,600 Detail plan

Järfälla

Fabriksvägen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

53 Sweden Liljeholmskajen 2,500 2001–2007 90,000 19.0 Sales not yet started Detail plan – 500 residential units

Stockholm

Årstadal/Liljeholmen Production start 2001

54 Sweden Hägernäs 600 2001–2007 Sales not yet started Detail plan – 400 residential units

Täby

Close to water Production start 2002 

55 Sweden Hammarby Sjöstad 400 2000–2003 26,000–32,000 Detail plan

Stockholm 14,500–53,000

Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2000

56 Sweden Silverdal Bostäder 200 2001–2006 26,000 Detail plan

Sollentuna 20,000–30,000

Sollentunavägen Ownership Production start 2001

57 Sweden Danvik 120 2000–2004 Sales not yet started Detail plan

Danviksstrand

Nacka Production start 2002 

58 Sweden Norra Frösunda 700 2001–2007 Sales not yet started General plan

Solna

Frösundavik Production start 2002 

59 Sweden Hagbyhöjden 250 2000–2005 18,000 Detail plan

Österåker

Åkersberga Ownership Production start 2001

60 Sweden Bällstaberg 500 2001–2008 Sales not yet started Detail plan

Vallentuna

Bällstabergsvägen Production start 2002 

61 Sweden Industristaden 300 2002–2008 Sales not yet started Detail plan 2002 

Uppsala

Kungsängen Production start 2002/2003

62 Sweden Rickomberga 200 2001–2008 13,500 Detail plan

Uppsala 9,000–18,000

Central Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

63 Sweden Kviberg 375 2003–2010 Sales not yet started Detail plan 2003 

Göteborg

By Säveån Production start 2003 

64 Sweden Norra Älvstranden 440 2002–2007 15,000 Detail plan – 122 residential units

Göteborg 8,900–32,000

Norra Älvstranden Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

65 Sweden Masthugget 81 2001–2003 20,000 Detail plan

Göteborg 7,200–41,000

Linnéstaden Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

66 Sweden Kranen 400 2002–2007 Sales not yet started Detail plan 2002 

Malmö

Västra Hamnen Production start 2002 

67 Sweden Lomma 700 2003–2008 33,000 10.0 Sales not yet started Detail plan 2003

Lomma

Lomma Hamn

68 Sweden Vallkärrtorn 350 2002–2007 Sales not yet started Detail plan – 190 residential units 2002

Lund

Stångby Production start 2002 

69 Sweden Kanberget 180 2001–2004 4,700 1.0 22,600 Detail plan

Linköping 16,700–29,000

Central Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

* Sales prices specified for residential units with tenure as tenant-owner co-operative do not include loans raised in the co-operative. JM’s total revenue comprises both down payments
and loans raised in the co-operative.
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

No. Country Property/project No. of Office Develop- Present rent- Rental Sales price* Planning
residential space sq.m. ment period able space revenue present phase process

Municipality units GFA 2001 Average (down Planning stage
Location payment SEK/sq.m.)

Spread
Approx. Sq.m. SEKm Tenure Production

70 Norway Grefsen Stasjon 800 2001–2012 Sales not yet started Control planning work 2001–2003

Oslo

Central/north Oslo Production start 2005

71 Norway Rolvsrud Skog 500 2001–2007 25,000 Control plan

Lørenskog 23,000–30,000

Central Production start 2001

72 Norway Kjørbokollen 320 2001–2005 32,000 Control plan

Baerum 27,000–41,000

Central Sandvika Production start 2001

73 Norway Hovenga 210 2002–2007 Sales not yet started Control plan

Porsgrunn

Central Production start 2003

74 Norway Trulsrudmarka 200 2001–2005 15,000 Control plan

Baerum

Close to nature

75 Norway Øvrevoll 900 2002–2010 Sales not yet started Control plan 2004

Baerum

Central Production start 2005

76 Norway Natlandsterasse 180 2000–2007 Sales not yet started Control plan

Bergen

Central Production start 2003

77 Belgium R.Theodore De Cuyper 195 2001–2004

Woluwe-St Lambert

Central Production start 2002

78 Belgium Fontaines de Woluwe 147 2000–2003

Voluwe St Pierre

Central Under construction

79 Denmark Sophienborg 113 2002–2004 Detail plan

Sales start 2002 

80 Denmark Havnestad 445 2002–2006 Detail plan

Copenhagen

By harbour Sales start 2002 

81 Sweden Lustgården 100 26,500 2003–2005 Detail plan 2003

Stockholm

Lindhagens gata

82 Sweden Karet 12,000 2002–2003 Detail plan

Stockholm

Liljeholmstorget

83 Sweden Norra Frösunda 44,000 2002–2005 Detail plan

Solna

Frösundavik

84 Sweden Signalen 14,300 2003–2004 Detail plan

Solna

Kolonnvägen

85 Sweden Silverdal phase 1 26,000 2002–2006 Detail plan

Sollentuna

Sollentunavägen

86 Sweden Silverdal phase 2 2004–2007 Planning under way

Sollentuna

Sollentunavägen

* Sales prices specified for residential units with tenure as tenant-owner co-operative do not include loans raised in the co-operative. JM’s total revenue comprises both down payments
and loans raised in the co-operative.



GROUP

Asset turnover rate

Net sales for the year divided by average total assets.
Result 2001: 8,642/((12,888+12,097)/2) = 0.69 times

Capital employed

Visible shareholders’ equity plus interest-bearing liabili-
ties and provisions.
Result 2001: 3,823+5,521+409 = SEK 9,753m

Debt/equity ratio

Interest-bearing net debt in relation to shareholders’ equity.
Result 2001: 5,220/3,823 = 1.4 times

Development properties

See section on development properties under accounting
and valuation principles.
Result 2001: SEK 4,048m

Dividend yield

Proposed dividend in relation to market price at 31
December 2001.
Result 2001: SEK 14/SEK 217.50 = 6.4%

Earnings per share after tax

Profit after tax in relation to average number of shares.
Result 2001: 1,144,330,000/31,544,401 = SEK 36.30

EBIT – multiple

Market capitalisation plus interest-bearing net debt in rela-
tion to operating profit (profit before financial items).
Result 2001: (6,523-5,220)/1,964 = 6.0 times

Equity ratio (visible)

Visible shareholders’ equity in relation to total assets.
Result 2001: 3,823/12,888 = 30%

Continued

Interest-bearing net debt

Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions less liquid assets
and interest-bearing receivables.
Result 2001: 5,930-652–58 = SEK 5,220m

Interest coverage ratio

Profit after depreciation and financial income in relation
to financial expenses.
Result 2001: (1,964+26)/361 = 5.5 times

Management properties

See section on management properties under accounting
and valuation principles.
Result 2001: 3,666+405+646 = SEK 4,717m

Net sales

Total recognised income according to the percentage of com-
pletion method, plus rental revenue and interest subsidies.
Result 2001: 7,867+773+2 = SEK 8,642m

Net sales from project development

Net sales for the business units Stockholm Residential,
Stockholm Commercial, Sweden and International. Rental
revenue from management properties is eliminated with-
in Stockholm Commercial.
Result 2001: 8,642–516 = SEK 8,126m

Profit from project development

Profit after selling and administrative expenses, property
sales and write-downs of properties for the business units
Stockholm Residential, Stockholm Commercial, Sweden
and International. Operating nets from management prop-
erties are eliminated within Stockholm Commercial.
Result 2001: 1,139+166–15–333 = SEK 957m

Progress billings in excess of recognised income

Invoicing less recognised income.
Result 2001: 6,712–5,639 = SEK 1,073m

Definitions
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Continued

Project development margin

Profit from project development in relation to net sales
from project development.
Result 2001: 957/8,126 = 11.8%

Recognised income according to the percentage of comple-

tion method

Production costs incurred plus recognised contribution.
Result 2001: 6,763+1,104 = SEK 7,867m

Recognised income less progress billings

Recognised income less invoicing.
Result 2001: 4,676–3,710 = SEK 966m

Return on capital employed before tax

Profit before tax with reversals of financial expenses in
relation to average capital employed.
Result 2001: (1,629+361)/((9,753+9,380)/2) = 20.8%

Return on equity after tax

Profit after tax in relation to average shareholders’ equity.
Result 2001: 1,144/((3,823+3,770)/2) = 30.1%

Return on total capital before tax

Profit before tax with reversal of financial expenses in
relation to average total assets.
Result 2001: (1,629+361)/((12,888+12,097)/2) = 15.9%

Shareholders’ equity

Total restricted and unrestricted equity according to the
balance sheet.
Result 2001: 1,822–2,001 = SEK 3,823m

Surplus values before deferred tax in management properties

Difference between the market values and book values of
management properties.
Result 2001: 6,371–4,717 = SEK 1,654m

BUSINESS UNITS

Operating capital

Book values of management properties, development prop-
erties, goodwill and accounts receivable less accounts pay-
able and plus/minus project balances.

Operating profit

Profit in the business units reported before financial
items. 

Margin per business unit

Profit before property sales and write-downs of properties
in relation to net sales.

Return on operating capital

Profit before financial items in relation to average operat-
ing capital.
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